# BRAINSTEM PAIN-MODULATING NEURONS "SEE THE LIGHT"

Bу

Gwen M. Hryciw

## A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Biomedical Engineering and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

March, 2019

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

## CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the PhD dissertation of Gwen Hryciw has been approved

Mentor: Mary M. Heinricher, PhD

Committee Chair: Owen McCarty, PhD

Member: Agnieszka Balkowiec, MD, PhD

Member: Ying Wu, DDS, PhD

Member: Kim Jones, FNP, PhD

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURESv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS viii
ABSTRACTix
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Overview2
1.2 Modulation of nociception by the rostral ventromedial medulla
1.2.1 Anatomy and connectivity of a pain-modulation system
1.2.2 RVM exerts bidirectional control through ON- and OFF-cells5
1.2.3 Plasticity of RVM in acute and persistent pain7
1.3 Sex differences in pain experience10
1.3.1 Clinical pain11
1.3.2 Acute and experimental pain in humans13
1.3.3 Experimental pain in animals17
1.3.4 Qualitative sex differences in pain circuitry are likely more important than
quantitative differences in behavior19
1.4 Sex differences in pain-modulation circuitry20
1.4.1 Sexual dimorphisms in pain-modulation circuitry20
1.4.2 RVM cell activity in female animals22
1.5 Photophobia23

1.5.1 Clinical presentation of photophobia	23
1.5.2 Ascending neural mechanisms of photophobia	26
1.5.3 Engagement of descending pain-modulation circuitry by light	29
1.6 Summary and Specific Aims	31
1.6.1 Aim 1: Establish stimulus-response curves for RVM cell response to visua	al
light exposure in male and female rats	32
1.6.2 Aim 2: Determine if peripheral inflammation shifts the stimulus-response	
curves for RVM cell response to visual light in male and female rats	33
1.6.3 Significance and Innovation	33
CHAPTER 2 MANUSCRIPT #1 Characterization of RVM cell activity in female ani	nals
	38
2.1 Abstract	39
2.2 Significance Statement	39
2.3 Introduction	40
2.4 Methods	42
2.4.1 Lightly Anesthetized Preparation	42
2.4.2 Electrophysiological Recording	43
2.4.3 Histology	44
2.4.4 Data Processing and Analysis.	44
2.5 Results	46
2.5.1 No differences in RVM cell ongoing firing and noxious stimulus-related	
responses in males and females	46

2.5.2 No differences in proportion of cells responsive to light or light-evoked
response threshold in males and females47
2.5.3 RVM ON- and OFF-cell responses to light are graded with stimulus-intensity in
both males and females48
2.6 Discussion48
CHAPTER 3 MANUSCRIPT #2 Changes in visual light-evoked responses of brainstem
pain-inhibiting neurons in persistent inflammation62
3.1 Abstract63
3.2 Perspective63
3.3 Introduction63
3.4 Methods66
3.4.1 Inflammation66
3.4.2 Lightly Anesthetized Preparation66
3.4.3 Electrophysiological Recording67
3.4.4 Histology
3.4.5 Data Processing and Analysis69
3.5 Results71
3.5.1 Persistent inflammation following CFA injection does not produce thermal
hypersensitivity or change the noxious stimulus-related responses of OFF- or ON-
cells in female animals71
3.5.2 Light-evoked stimulus-response curves of RVM pain-inhibiting OFF-cell are
shifted in animals with persistent inflammation72

3.5.3 RVM pain-facilitating ON-cell response to light is not altered in animals with
persistent inflammation74
3.6 Discussion74
CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION91
4.1 Key findings92
4.2 Overview
4.2.1 The output of the pain modulation system is comparable in males and females
4.2.2 Light as a "top-down" input to RVM96
4.2.3 Persistent inflammation enhances the responsiveness of OFF-cells to light97
4.3 Technical considerations98
4.3.1 Anesthesia98
4.3.2 Consideration of estrous cycle effects99
4.4 Future directions and clinical implications100
4.4.1 Establish light-evoked stimulus-response curves in RVM cells in other pain
models100
4.4.2 Determine the effects of light on nociceptive sensitivity101
4.4.3 Clinical implications101
4.5 Summary of findings102
REFERENCES105
APPENDIX A139

## LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure #</u> <u>Page</u>	
Figure 1	Nociceptive transmission is modulated by RVM35
Figure 2	RVM cells are characterized by their response to noxious stimuli
Figure 3	Light-evoked RVM cell response to light
Figure 4	Recording locations within the RVM53
Figure 5	Representative heat-evoked responses of ON-cell (top), OFF-cell (middle), and NEUTRAL-cell (bottom)
Figure 6	Noxious stimulus-related responses and ongoing activity of ON- and OFF-cells in male and female animals55
Figure 7	Noxious stimulus-related responses and ongoing activity of NEUTRAL- cells in male and female animals56
Figure 8	Representative ON-cell (A) and OFF-cell (B) responses to 330 (left) and 16,000 (right) lux
Figure 9	Proportions of RVM ON- and OFF-cells responsive to light and average response thresholds
Figure 10	Light-evoked RVM ON- and OFF-cell response60
Table 1	Additional ON- and OFF-cell light-evoked response parameters61
Figure 11	Recording locations within the RVM80
Figure 12	Representative heat-evoked responses of OFF-cells (upper) and ON-cells (lower)
Figure 13	Thermal withdrawal latency82

Figure 14	Ongoing activity and heat-evoked responses of RVM OFF-and ON-cells	
		33
Figure 15	Representative RVM OFF-cell (top) and ON-cell (bottom) responses to	
	visual light	35
Figure 16	RVM OFF-cell response to light is enhanced during persistent	
	inflammation	36
Figure 17	RVM ON-cell response to light is not altered in persistent inflammation .8	38
Table 2	Additional ON- and OFF-cell light-evoked response parameters	<del>)</del> 0
Figure 18	Visual light as a "top-down" input to RVM10	)4
Figure 19	ON-cell activity across different phases of the estrous cycle14	10
Figure 20	OFF-cell activity across different phases of the estrous cycle14	11

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMPA α-amino-3-hy	/droxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
CeA	Central nucleus of the amygdala
CFA	Complete Freund's adjuvant
СРМ	Conditioned pain modulation
DMH De	orsal medial nucleus of the hypothalamus
DNIC	Descending noxious inhibitory control
GABA	γ-Aminobutyric acid
н	Heat
ipRGC Intrins	sically photosensitivity retinal ganglion cell
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
OPt	Olivary pretectal nucleus
PAG	Periaqueductal gray
PB	Parabrachial nucleus
PO	Posterior thalamic nucleus
PW	Paw withdrawal
RVM	Rostral ventromedial medulla
TMD	Temporomandibular joint disorder

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work could not have been completed without the assistance from a great many people. First, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Mary Heinricher, who enthusiastically took me on as a student and patiently guided me throughout this process. My time in her lab has been an amazing learning experience, and her knowledge and professionalism are inspiration that I will draw from throughout my career as a physician-scientist.

A special thanks is also owed to my committee members for their important suggestions and insights into various aspects of this project; Drs. Agnieszka Balkowiec, Owen McCarty, Ying Wu, and Kim Jones.

I would also like to thank the OHSU School of Dentistry and Biomedical Engineering Department for making the DMD/PhD program possible.

The members of the Heinricher lab also contributed invaluably to this work by providing tremendous support and feedback. A special thanks to Melissa Martenson, Jennifer Wong, Yangmiao Zhang, and Erica Hansen.

Many thanks to my friends and family, but especially my parents, for their support and patients throughout my many years of schooling. Although they never pressured me, they also always expected I do my best. Finally, thank you to my dog, Henry.

viii

### ABSTRACT

Functional pain disorders are highly prevalent, but difficult to diagnose and treat. There is strong evidence that dysfunction in central pain modulation contributes to pain amplification and hypersensitivity. An important system in normal and pathological pain is a brainstem pain-modulation circuit that regulates nociceptive transmission through direct projections to the dorsal horn and trigeminal nucleus. The rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) is the output of this system and facilitates or inhibits pain through two classes of cells termed "ON-cells" and "OFF-cells", respectively. These cells are defined physiologically based on changes in firing during response to noxious stimulation; ONcells are activated and have a "burst" in activity, while OFF-cells are inhibited and have a "pause" in ongoing activity. While the role of RVM in nociception has been wellcharacterized in male animals, very little is known about RVM activity in females. However, chronic pain disorders are more prevalent in females, and animal research has revealed sexual dimorphisms in other parts of this pain-modulation system. Therefore, it is important to characterize RVM activity in females, as sex differences could have clinically relevant implications. Thus, the first aim of this thesis was to compare the basic firing properties and light-evoked stimulus-response curves of RVM cells in female versus male rats.

RVM response to light is of interest because a subset of RVM neurons in males respond to visual light, and while many chronic pain patients report abnormal sensitivity to light, the neural pathways contributing to light-evoked discomfort are unknown. Lightevoked activation of pro-nociceptive ON-cells and suppression of anti-nociceptive OFFcells could provide a means for ambient light to modulate pain transmission. Additionally, RVM is plastic and develops enhanced responses to somatic stimuli following injury. If RVM response to light is similarly enhanced during injury, RVM could contribute to light-

ix

evoked discomfort. Therefore, the second aim of this thesis was to determine if RVM cell light-evoked stimulus-response curves are altered during persistent inflammation.

I found that under basal conditions and in persistent inflammation, the responses of RVM cells to noxious heat and visual light are similar in the two sexes, showing that the overall output of the descending pain-modulation system is comparable. Further, RVM cells respond to very low levels of light and the response to light is graded with stimulus intensity, which is in contrast to somatic stimuli-evoked all-or-nothing responses. These data argue for differences in how light and somatic stimuli engage RVM, and suggest that light-related information represents a "top-down" input to RVM. In addition, inflammation shifted the stimulus-response curve of pain-inhibiting OFF-cells, such that they are inactivated at a lower threshold and to a greater degree by dim levels of light. Therefore, in pain states, decreased descending inhibition of pain during exposure to light could contribute to photophobia.

In summary, these findings demonstrate that despite sexual dimorphisms in painmodulation circuitry at the molecular level, the output of the system is comparable. This work also provides a greater understanding of the interaction between pain-modulation systems and visual light, and contributes to our understanding of photophobia.

Х

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Overview

Pain is an important and protective sensory experience that alerts us to actual or potential tissue injury. Noxious or potentially harmful stimuli activate nociceptors in the periphery that transmit this information to the central nervous system where it is perceived as pain. The transmission of nociceptive information is highly regulated, and can be enhanced or dampened depending on biological needs and behavioral priorities. Nociception is inhibited during times of extreme emotional stress, allowing an organism to prioritize survival over minor injuries. For example, during escape from a predator, "stress-induced analgesia" leads to less pain being perceived from a given injury. On the other hand, nociception can be enhanced, acting in a protective manner to prevent further tissue damage, as with illness or while healing from a physical injury. However, this state of enhanced pain, or hyperalgesia, can become pathological, with increased pain perception occurring even in the absence of injury or after injury has resolved, as in chronic pain disorders. This bidirectional control over pain transmission is largely influenced by descending pain-modulation circuitry in the brainstem, and it is likely that there is maladaptive-plasticity in this circuitry that contributes to persistent pain.

Along with hypersensitivity to somatic stimulation, many patients with functional pain disorders experience multi-sensory hypersensitivity, including increased sensitivity to light, a symptom termed photophobia. These patients report that normal levels of light are uncomfortable, and that light can exacerbate or induce pain. While we know somatosensory hypersensitivity is the result of dysfunction in multiple levels of the complex neural network that regulates pain, there is much less known about the interactions of light with pain-modulation circuitry.

One way in which light could induce pain is through the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM), the output node of a major pain-modulation system. The RVM is a brainstem

structure that exerts bidirectional control over nociception through direct, descending projections to the dorsal horn and trigeminal nucleus. It receives input from higher structures that are responsible for emotion and cognition, and thus is an important site of integration. RVM is also a significant contributor to both normal and pathological pain. Importantly, RVM is plastic and develops enhanced responses to somatic stimuli during injury, mediating hypersensitivity. There is evidence that light interacts with pain-modulating neurons in RVM. Thus if RVM response to light is similarly altered during injury, RVM could contribute to photophobia in chronic pain conditions.

The goal of this thesis was to characterize RVM cell responses to visual light by establishing stimulus-response curves, and to determine if responses to light are altered during persistent inflammation. A major gap in our understanding of pain-modulation systems was also addressed by performing the experiments in both male and female animals to determine if there are sex-related differences in RVM activity. This latter point is important because chronic pain disorders disproportionately impact females, and we know there are other sexual dimorphisms in pain-modulation circuitry, but the vast majority of work characterizing RVM has been done in male animals. Here, I use *in vivo* electrophysiology to establish stimulus-response curves for RVM cell response to light, and validate the use of female animals in RVM recording studies. In summary, I showed that RVM responds to light in a graded manner, and that the responses are similar in males and females. Further, I showed that in animals with persistent inflammation, compared to in control animals, activity of RVM pain-inhibiting neurons is significantly more depressed by dim light.

#### 1.2 Modulation of nociception by the rostral ventromedial medulla

1.2.1 Anatomy and connectivity of a pain-modulation system

Functionally, the RVM is defined as the midline pontomedullary area in which electrical stimulation or opioid microinjection produces behavioral antinociception (Zorman et al., 1981). However, experimental activation in the absence of noxious stimuli does not produce changes in behavior or sensation showing the RVM is specific to pain (Mayer et al., 1971, Waters et al., 1997). Structurally, it includes the raphe magnus and adjacent reticular formation ventral to the gigantocellular reticular nucleus and medial to the facial nucleus (Fields et al., 1999). RVM exerts descending control through direct projections to both deep and superficial dorsal horn and to areas of the trigeminal nucleus that are important to nociception (Basbaum et al., 1978, Fritschy et al., 1987, Ruda et al., 1981, Fields et al., 1995, Sugiyo et al., 2005). An individual RVM neuron can have diffuse projections, terminating in multiple levels of the dorsal horn, as well as the trigeminal nucleus (Lovick et al., 1983, Huisman et al., 1981, Basbaum et al., 1976). Thus, the RVM is the final output of a complex, interconnected network for pain modulation, that can both inhibit pain, such as during opioid or stress-induced analgesia, and facilitate pain, such as while healing from an injury.

Most ascending information about noxious stimuli is transmitted to RVM indirectly, but there are also a few direct projections from the dorsal horn and trigeminal nucleus (Sugiyo et al., 2005, Wang et al., 1999). Nociceptive signals are first transmitted to the central nervous system by peripheral C- and A $\delta$ -fibers that synapse in either the spinal or trigeminal dorsal horn. Dorsal horn neurons then project to higher structures in the brain including parabrachial nucleus (PB) and periaqueductal gray (PAG), that are critical relays to RVM (Abols et al., 1981, Beitz et al., 1983, Beitz, 1982a, Roeder et al., 2016, Keay et al., 1997).

The RVM is also the final convergence site for many "top-down" influences (Calejesan et al., 2000, McGaraughty et al., 2002, Wagner et al., 2013, Sandkühler et

al., 1984, Basbaum et al., 1984). Projections from higher structures are relayed to RVM through the PAG, which integrates inputs from the amygdala, medial prefrontal cortical areas (e.g. anterior cingulate), hypothalamus, and preoptic areas (Figure 1) (Mantyh, 1982b, Aggleton, 1993, Beitz, 1982b, Floyd et al., 2000, Rizvi et al., 1991). These brain regions play important roles in emotion and cognition. Functionally, stimulation of PAG inhibits nociceptive transmission, but PAG itself has very few projections to the dorsal horn, and antinociception is dependent on its connection to RVM (Basbaum et al., 1979, Basbaum et al., 1976). However, RVM is not a simple relay as it is reciprocally connected to PAG (Mantyh, 1982a, Fields et al., 1985). Therefore, RVM is the final output of converging descending and ascending pathways, forming a feedback loop that allows emotional and cognitive factors to influence nociceptive transmission. This circuit is an important contributor to both normal and pathological pain (Heinricher et al., 2009, Heinricher et al., 2013, Porreca et al., 2001, Ren et al., 2002).

#### 1.2.2 RVM exerts bidirectional control through ON- and OFF-cells

The RVM exerts bidirectional control over nociception through two classes of cells, termed ON- and OFF-cells, that project directly to the spinal and trigeminal dorsal horns. These cells were named based on physiological responses; activity of ON-cells increases (or "bursts"), whereas activity of OFF-cells ceases (or "pauses") just prior to behavioral responses to noxious stimuli (Figure 2) (Fields et al., 1983a). These two cell classes, respectively amplify and suppress nociceptive transmission, producing a net hyperalgesia or hypoalgesia (Fields, 1992, Porreca et al., 2002, Heinricher et al., 2009, Zhuo et al., 1992). Other neurons in RVM are referred to as "NEUTRAL-cells," and whether they have a role in pain modulation is unknown but seems unlikely (Fields et al., 1985). Extensive work has gone into characterizing the physiology and function of these

cells in male animals, but only a few studies have been performed in female animals (see section 1.4.2).

ON-cells have a "burst" in activity in response to noxious stimuli that can be quantified by the total number of action potentials, duration of burst, or peak firing rate. ON-cells exert a pronociceptive effect (Barbaro et al., 1986, Fields et al., 1988), and manipulations that selectively and directly increase ON-cell firing cause hyperalgesia (Neubert et al., 2004). Additionally, ON-cells express  $\mu$ -opioid receptors and thus respond to opioids administered directly in the RVM (Heinricher et al., 1992, Heinricher et al., 1994). While morphine acts directly on ON-cells to suppress activity, contributing to analgesia, ON-cell suppression alone is not sufficient to produce analgesia, but may be important to the actions of opioids during inflammation (Heinricher et al., 1999, Heinricher et al., 2009, Porreca et al., 2002, Heinricher et al., 1994).

In contrast, OFF-cell ongoing firing ceases, or "pauses" during reflexive-withdrawal from noxious stimuli, and responses can be quantified by the duration of time that the cell is quiet or as percent suppression during the nociceptive reflex. This "pause" is required for behavioral response to noxious stimuli (Fields et al., 1983a, Heinricher et al., 2010a). OFF-cells exert an antinociceptive effect through descending inhibition at the dorsal horn, and manipulations that eliminate the OFF-cell pause produce analgesia (Fields et al., 1985, Heinricher et al., 2010b, Heinricher et al., 2010a). For example, opioids and non-opioid analgesics, such as morphine or improgan, indirectly act on OFF-cells to increase firing rates and abolish the reflex-related pause, resulting in analgesia (Heinricher et al., 1994, Fields et al., 1983b, Heinricher et al., 2010b, Heinricher et al., 2010a). Further, the pause in OFF-cell activity is necessary to the actions of analgesics.

Another characteristic of RVM cells is that reflex-related firing changes occur just prior to nociceptive withdrawal and are also observed in paralyzed animals (Fields et al.,

1985). Thus the reflex-related responses are not secondary to motor responses. Additionally, within each class of cells, firing is generally in phase, meaning that during times of high activity within one class most cells of that given class exhibit high activity, and vice versa (Barbaro et al., 1989, Heinricher et al., 1989). Between the two cell classes, ON- and OFF-cell ongoing and reflex-related activity is out of phase, meaning that during an OFF-cell active phase, ON-cells are generally inactive, and vice versa. These similarities and differences reflect that while ON- and OFF-cells act in concert to modulate nociception, they are distinct groups of cells, and allow RVM to exert net inhibitory and facilitatory effects on nociception.

Finally, the third class of RVM cells, termed NEUTRAL-cells, does not have an apparent or yet identified role in pain modulation, and is physiologically and pharmacologically distinct from ON- and OFF-cells. NEUTRAL-cell firing does not change during withdrawal to nociceptive stimulation nor during administration of opioids or other manipulations that affect ON- and OFF-cell firing (Heinricher et al., 1992, Harasawa et al., 2000, Winkler et al., 2006, Xu et al., 2007). Alternatively it has been suggested that NEUTRAL-cells may develop ON- and OFF-cell properties during inflammation (Miki et al., 2002), but baseline activity prior to inflammation was not recorded in that study, so it is possible cells were mischaracterized. Moreover, others report no change in NEUTRAL-cells during inflammation (Cleary et al., 2013, Kincaid et al., 2006). However, a subset of NEUTRAL-cells are serotonergic, and serotonin likely contributes to nociceptive modulation, so there could be some unidentified role of NEUTRAL-cells in pain modulation (Mason, 1997, Potrebic et al., 1994).

#### 1.2.3 Plasticity of RVM in acute and persistent pain

There are distinct physiological and biochemical changes in brainstem painmodulation circuitry during acute and persistent pain. While RVM is plastic and cell

activity is altered during inflammation and injury, the changes depend on the duration of injury and vary as injury moves from an acute state to a persistent state. During acute injury, there are changes in the ongoing activity of RVM cells that have a net pain facilitatory effect and contribute to hypersensitivity. Meanwhile, in persistent injury, ongoing activity returns to baseline, and RVM has a net pain inhibitory effect, although cells develop more robust responses to noxious stimuli. There are also distinct molecular changes that take place as pain persists (Pinto et al., 2007). For example, as inflammation progresses, the efficacy of opioids injected into the RVM increases (Hurley et al., 2000, Schepers et al., 2008). There are also changes in excitatory amino acid neurotransmission. For example, NMDA administered in the RVM has faciliatory effects on hyperalgesia during the first few hours, but inhibitory effects at later timepoints (Terayama et al., 2000, Guan et al., 2002, Xu et al., 2007). While, AMPA administration inhibits nociception at early and later timepoints, inhibition is greater at later timepoints (Guan et al., 2002, Guan et al., 2003). Thus while acute and chronic injuries may present with similar symptoms, the role and behavior of pain-modulation circuitry under each condition is distinct.

The ongoing activity at the onset of stimulation sets the nociceptive withdrawal threshold, and a shift in the balance between pain facilitation and pain inhibition mediates hyperalgesia (Heinricher et al., 1989, Heinricher et al., 1991, Heinricher et al., 1999). During early phases of injury, the ongoing activity of RVM cells is shifted to a pronociceptive state, meaning there is an increase in ON-cell and decrease in OFF-cell activity, leading to increased responsiveness of dorsal horn nociceptive neurons (Cleary et al., 2013, Carlson et al., 2007). Changes in ongoing firing are associated with hyperalgesia during acute injection of Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA), topical application of mustard oil, dural inflammation, or opioid withdrawal. Moreover, in these

models of acute pain, silencing or blocking RVM attenuates hyperalgesia and allodynia (Cleary et al., 2013, Kincaid et al., 2006, Edelmayer et al., 2009, Bederson et al., 1990, Kaplan et al., 1991). Additionally, blocking NMDA receptors in RVM attenuates mustard oil-induced hyperalgesia (Xu et al., 2007). This is most likely mediated by ON-cells, because the increased ON-cell activity associated with mustard oil application is reversed by NMDA antagonist, but there is no effect on OFF-cells. These findings show clear effects of acute inflammation or injury on the nociceptive "tone" of RVM, reflecting the importance of ON-cell drive and the influence of descending facilitation in acute hypersensitivity.

By contrast, during prolonged inflammation or injury, ongoing activity returns to baseline, but reflex-evoked responses of RVM cells are enhanced, and prolonged OFFcell pause and ON-cell burst are observed (Cleary et al., 2013, Carlson et al., 2007). The duration of pause or burst likely corresponds to a state of increased vigilance, because during this time ON- and OFF-cells are in a net pro-nociceptive state (Heinricher et al., 1989), so a subsequent stimulus can evoke a response at a lower threshold (Ramirez et al., 1989). Furthermore, ON- and OFF-cells are "sensitized" to stimulation and respond to mechanical stimuli normally considered innocuous (Cleary et al., 2013, Carlson et al., 2007, Gonçalves et al., 2007). While, lowered cell response thresholds may help maintain behavioral hypersensitivity, the influence of RVM on pain is complex, and in contrast to acute injury, net descending inhibitory output from RVM prevails during prolonged inflammation. Blocking RVM in animals with persistent inflammation enhances behavioral hypersensitivity (Cleary et al., 2013, Gonçalves et al., 2007, Wei et al., 1999) and increases the sensitivity and receptive fields of dorsal horn neurons (Ren et al., 1996). This demonstrates that RVM develops a compensatory response to persistent inflammation and net descending inhibitory output predominates.

Taken as a whole, these findings demonstrate that the net RVM output is plastic, and that the balance between pain facilitation and inhibition fluctuates with time as pain persists.

#### **1.3 Sex differences in pain experience**

Prior to the 1990's sex as a biological variable was largely ignored, and almost half of published articles in basic neuroscience research did not even report the sex of the animal model employed (Berkley, 1992). However, simply extending findings from males to females, or ignoring sex entirely, can result in missing important biological underpinnings that may lead to sex-related differences. An extreme example is that in the 1990's the FDA had to withdraw multiple prescription drugs, primarily because there were unexpected side effects in women that were missed due to a lack of female subjects in preclinical studies (Lee, 2018). While interest in sex differences increased during the 1990's and 2000's, there remain many unknowns, and most biomedical studies are still performed exclusively in males (Beery et al., 2011). Thus, in the mid 2010's, the NIH, along with other funding agencies, developed policies regarding integration of sex as a biological variable in biomedical research (Clayton et al., 2014). This initiative has not been without criticism based on concerns that adding female animals will lead to more costly experiments and slow the pace of biomedical research, due to the need for increased sample size or potentially increased variability and decreased power (Fields, 2014, Eliot et al., 2016). However, if implemented properly, consideration of sex as a biological variable will better inform our understanding of disease mechanisms.

Within the pain field, the problem of not considering sex was made clear in the late 1990's when several reviews pointed out that clinical pain disorders disproportionately impact females, and that there may be sex differences in pain sensitivity in healthy

individuals (Fillingim et al., 1995, Unruh, 1996, Riley et al., 1998). While failure to report sex of subjects in neuroscience articles has decreased, a lack of consideration for sex as a variable is still highly prevalent. For example, approximately 80% of studies published in *Pain* between 1996 and 2005 were conducted in males only (Mogil et al., 2005, Will et al., 2017). Much of the pain-related research into sex differences during the past 20 years has focused on identifying if there are differences in pain sensitivity between males and females, because higher pain sensitivity in females could contribute to the sex-related disparities in chronic pain. On the whole, results are highly variable and often conflicting. While many reviews or meta-analyses have attempted to reconcile and explain the conflicting results, and overall it is generally acknowledged that at least some sex-related differences in pain exist, there is not a lot of agreement on exactly what differences exist or to what degree (Fillingim et al., 2009, Racine et al., 2012a, Aloisi, 2003, Craft et al., 2004a, Traub et al., 2013, Mogil, 2018, Greenspan et al., 2007, Greenspan et al., 2013).

In the following subsections, clinical and experimental human data, as well as animal research pertaining to differences in pain sensitivity and experience will be summarized. While, chronic pain disorders have a greater prevalence in females, sex-related differences in reported pain severity from clinical patients and findings on experimentally-induced pain response in both humans and animals are of lesser magnitude. Potential differences are often complicated and variable, if present at all.

#### 1.3.1 Clinical pain

Based on data from clinical populations, most pain disorders disproportionately impact females (Greenspan et al., 2013). However, these findings are potentially skewed by biopsychosocial factors as women are more willing to report pain (Isacson et al., 2002) and more likely to utilize healthcare systems (Fillingim et al., 2009, Mogil, 2012).

The framework through which diagnoses are made also impacts the chances of diagnosing chronic pain in males compared to females (Jones et al., 2015). Therefore, the fact that more patients in pain clinics are female, is not necessarily representative of the population as a whole and is likely a biased sample. Population-based studies generally affirm the greater prevalence of chronic pain in females, although these studies often find that the disparity is less than what would be predicted by clinical populations (Greenspan et al., 2013, Fillingim et al., 2009, Bartley et al., 2013, Sarlani et al., 2005, Slade et al., 2011).

For example, the female-to-male prevalence of temporomandibular joint disorder (TMD) within clinical populations is approximately 9:1 but within the general public it is approximately 2:1 (LeResche, 2000). The Orofacial Pain Prospective Evaluation and Risk Assessment Study (OPPERA Study), one of the largest population-based casecontrol studies to date, examined biological, psychosocial, and genetic risk factors that are associated with the onset of TMD in healthy controls and with cases of chronic TMD. Interestingly, within the healthy control groups, there was a trend towards a higher prevalence of first onset TMD and development of preclinical signs in females, but no significant sex differences (Slade et al., 2013b, Slade et al., 2013a, Ohrbach et al., 2013, Bair et al., 2013). However, there was a significant sex difference in the prevalence of TMD within the chronic TMD case-control group (Slade et al., 2011). This finding in agreement with a large-scale US National Health Interview Survey that found the prevalence of chronic TMD within the general population is higher in females than males (Isong et al., 2008). The findings from the OPPERA Study reflect that sex may not be a predictor of the prevalence of preclinical signs and acute symptoms, but that sex may have an association with the likelihood of acute pain becoming persistent. However, more work and long-term studies will be needed in TMD cases and other chronic pain

disorders to determine if acute pain is more likely to become chronic in females than males.

While pain disorders impact a greater percent of females, sex differences in the severity of reported symptoms associated with a given disorder are less clear (Fillingim et al., 2009, Racine et al., 2012a). Females present with more severe pain complaints in many disorders (Unruh, 1996, Lipton et al., 2001b, Mayer et al., 2004). However, differences are likely dependent on the pain condition and influenced by test procedures and symptoms examined, as males and females often present differently and describe pain differently (Greenspan et al., 2013, Jones et al., 2015). Additionally, sociocultural sex differences and gender roles also influence reported pain severity. For example, while women are more likely to seek out social support as a positive coping mechanism, they are also more likely to catastrophize and overestimate the negative consequences of pain, leading to more psychological distress (Keefe et al., 2000, Sullivan et al., 2000, Bedard et al., 1997, Jensen et al., 1994). Catastrophizing has a strong correlation in multiple musculoskeletal conditions with reported pain severity, muscle tenderness, pain-related disability, poorer treatment outcomes, and an overall decrease in quality of life (Edwards et al., 2006, Holroyd et al., 2007, Severeijns et al., 2001). Therefore, it is likely that sex differences in catastrophizing mediate some of the observed sex differences in the presentation of chronic pain disorders. In fact, it has been reported that once catastrophizing is entered into the analysis, there is no longer a significant effect of sex on pain behavior and physical disability in osteoarthritis patients (Keefe et al., 2000). Thus while chronic pain disorders are more prevalent in females, there are psychological factors that influence the clinical presentation.

1.3.2 Acute and experimental pain in humans

As mentioned previously, sex differences in acute pain sensitivity are of interest because greater sensitivity in females is a possible explanation for sex differences in chronic pain prevalence. The hypothesis is that if females are more sensitive to pain than males under baseline conditions, they will be more greatly affected by painful events, and consequently predisposed to develop chronic pain. One method to study acute pain is through comparisons of postoperative pain severity, which is also a positive risk factor for future chronic pain. However, no differences or differences in either direction have been reported, and studies are confounded by many factors including postoperative pain management, anxiety levels, and surgery type (Fillingim et al., 2009, lp et al., 2009).

Tests using experimentally induced pain in a laboratory or clinical setting are a more controlled method to examine baseline differences in nociceptive sensitivity. Approximately half of experiments find sex differences, and when differences are observed, females are always more sensitive than males (Greenspan et al., 2013, Mogil et al., 2010). Results vary between different stimulus modalities (thermal, pressure, electrical, ischemic) or dependent variables measured (threshold, tolerance, pain rating), but even within a given nociceptive assay there are a lot of conflicting results (Lautenbacher et al., 1993, Fillingim et al., 2009, Riley et al., 1998, Racine et al., 2012a, Ohrbach et al., 2011). Moreover, when differences are found they are fairly minor, and there is a large amount of overlap in the range of pain sensitivity between males and females in the population as a whole (Ostrom et al., 2017, Greenspan et al., 2011, Berkley et al., 2006, Racine et al., 2012a, Berkley, 1995). Although it is possible that studies observing a trend towards females being more sensitive do not reach statistical significance because they are underpowered, this likely also reflects the minimal sex-

related differences in acute pain sensitivity (Mogil, 2018, Fillingim et al., 2009, Riley et al., 1998).

Along with methodological variations, gender roles, expectations, and sociocultural factors influence the results of experimental pain testing (Sullivan et al., 2000, Defrin et al., 2009, Wise et al., 2002, Alabas et al., 2012, Mattos Feijó et al., 2018). For example, both men and women believe women have lower pain thresholds than men and manipulating gender role expectations reduces sex differences observed in experimental pain tests (Robinson et al., 2003, Robinson et al., 2001). Additionally, even the gender and appearance of the person administering the test can influence sex differences in pain tolerance (Kallai et al., 2004, Levine et al., 1991). Anxiety, fear, and catastrophizing about painful events also increase sensitivity, and is greater in females, thus more greatly skewing pain perception in females (Ohrbach et al., 2011, Meulders et al., 2012, Meints et al., 2017, Nahman-Averbuch et al., 2016).

In addition to testing responses to acute noxious stimuli, dynamic pain tests that may more closely mimic aspects of clinical pain are used to test for sex differences. Results from tests using chemical irritants that produce pain or irritation lasting several minutes to hours are generally inconclusive, and overall do not show any sex differences (Fillingim et al., 2009, Racine et al., 2012a, Baad-Hansen et al., 2005). However, tests utilizing temporal summation, where repetitive noxious stimuli are delivered, show that females may be more sensitive to mechanical summation, although results from thermal summation are less clear (Sarlani et al., 2004, Greenspan et al., 2011, Ostrom et al., 2017, Fillingim et al., 1998, Robinson et al., 2004, Staud et al., 2003, Nie et al., 2005, Sarlani et al., 2002, Lautenbacher et al., 2008). Temporal summation is enhanced in clinical pain patients, and thus thought to suggest generalized hyperexcitability of central pain processing (Sarlani et al., 2005), so differences in temporal summation might reflect

that nociceptive input is more likely to be amplified in females due to differences in central processing (Price et al., 1977). However, as with acute pain tests, anxiety about pain during temporal summation tests is greater in women, and along with gender role stereotypes, may mediate observed sex differences in temporal summation (Robinson et al., 2004).

Conditioned pain modulation (CPM) aims to test the efficacy of endogenous paininhibitory systems by looking at the pain-inhibitory effects of one noxious stimulus on another noxious stimulus. In chronic pain conditions CPM is reduced demonstrating that there is dysfunction in central pain-modulation circuitry (Potvin et al., 2016, Gerhardt et al., 2017, Lewis et al., 2012). Studies on sex-related differences in the efficacy of CPM in healthy controls have conflicting results, but show that females may experience less CPM, and thus might have less endogenous pain inhibition, making them more vulnerable to developing widespread pain following injury (Fillingim et al., 2009, Popescu et al., 2010, Racine et al., 2012b, Granot et al., 2008, Baad-Hansen et al., 2005, Lautenbacher et al., 2008). However, as with the pain tests described above, higher catastrophizing by females has been shown to significantly mediate the relationship between sex and CPM (Weissman-Fogel et al., 2008).

Physiological reactions to pain, including pupil dilation, muscle reflexes, and cerebral activation have also been measured in an attempt to decrease gender biases, but have equally mixed results (Fillingim et al., 2009, Greenspan et al., 2013). Further, these measures do not directly test sensitivity *per se*, and there could be sexual dimorphisms in these physiological systems. Interestingly, brain imaging studies, in which males and females reported similar sensitivity to painful stimuli, found different patterns of activation demonstrating there may be differences in central processing of pain (Linnman et al., 2012, Girard-Tremblay et al., 2014).

With such small and variable results, it is questionable as to how or if sex differences in acute and dynamic pain sensitivity relate to the significant sex disparities in clinical prevalence. However, the fact that differences are modulated by cognitive and emotional factors does point to sex differences in the pain experience when taken as a whole. Therefore, shifting our focus away from attempting to quantify minor differences in behavioral sensitivity to qualitatively examining sexual dimorphisms in pain circuitry is likely to be more beneficial to understanding sex disparities in chronic pain.

#### 1.3.3 Experimental pain in animals

Although there are sex-related differences in prevalence of chronic pain disorders and likely differences in the pain experience in humans, most animal research on pain has been conducted in males (Mogil et al., 2005). Over the past decade there has been a push to study female animals in parallel to males, but we are still far from understanding nuanced differences in pain experience and circuitry. Acute and persistent pain testing in animals is important because it removes subject-experimenter interactions and gender-associated biases. It also allows for manipulations and controls that could not be carried out in human subjects. Surprisingly, despite the idea that animal models present a method to study "purely" biological sex differences in nociceptive mechanisms, results from animal studies are even more variable than those of human studies. The following section focuses on findings from studies in rats, but results in mouse models are similar and very little work has been done in other animals.

Similar to experimental studies in humans, stimuli used to test for acute nociceptive sensitivity in animals include electric shock, noxious heat, mechanical pressure, and ischemia. Early studies employed electric shock and generally showed that females are more sensitive than males (Mogil et al., 2000). However, response to electric shock is affected by body size and other factors, so the accuracy and meaningfulness of

differences is debatable. Tests employing hot plate, noxious heat-evoked withdrawal, mechanical stimuli, or ischemia have found no difference between males and females, or differences in either direction that are not consistently related to the nociceptive assay (Loyd et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2006, Boyer et al., 1998, Bradshaw et al., 2000, Terner et al., 2005, Bobeck et al., 2009, Tershner et al., 2000, Doyle et al., 2018, Doyle et al., 2018, Cook et al., 2006, Mogil et al., 2000, Greenspan et al., 2013).

Results regarding sex differences in responses to injury and persistent pain in animal models are also conflicting. Neuropathic pain models show there are likely no differences in hypersensitivity at the onset of injury but that there are differences in duration or at later timepoints, with females generally experiencing greater hyperalgesia (Tall et al., 2001, Coyle et al., 1995, Lacroix-Fralish et al., 2006, Joseph et al., 2003a, Joseph et al., 2003b). Testing with chemical irritants has mixed results. Irritants such as capsaicin or formalin generally show females have a greater pain response, but carrageenan has been found to induce greater hyperalgesia in males (Gaumond et al., 2002, Aloisi et al., 1994, Barrett et al., 2003, Joseph et al., 2003c, Tall et al., 2004). Additionally, sex differences in the formalin test are only observed at higher concentrations, are dependent upon the dependent variable measured, and, in some studies, observed at early phases but not late phases (Gaumond et al., 2002, Pajot et al., 2003, Aloisi et al., 1995, Aloisi et al., 1994, You et al., 2006). CFA induced inflammation is longer lasting and likely a better model of chronic pain disorders but also has variable results that do not seem to be explained by test duration or stimulus (Wang et al., 2006, Cook et al., 2005, Loyd et al., 2008, Cook et al., 2006, Craft et al., 2013). Moreover, a study on streptococcal cell wall-induced polyarthritis, an alternative method to induce persistent long-lasting inflammation, showed that there is a significant

interaction between sex and strain such that the presence and direction of sex differences in hyperalgesia was dependent upon strain (Wilder et al., 1982)

One of the simplest explanations for the inconsistencies in sex differences in nociceptive sensitivity is that hormonal fluctuations result in increased variability within female responses, so combining females from all phases of the estrous cycle obscures potential sex differences. Thus, differences in nociception may only be observed during specific phases of the estrous cycle. However, evidence to support this hypothesis is lacking. First, there is no more variability in females than in males (Mogil et al., 2005, Becker et al., 2016, Prendergast et al., 2014). Additionally, of the small number of studies to test the effects of estrous status on nociceptive sensitivity, results are unclear. Many studies find no differences in pain sensitivity across the cycle, and of studies finding differences across the cycle, there is inconsistency as to which phase of the cycle corresponds to a more "pain sensitive" state (Mogil et al., 2000). Further complicating the issue is that there are multiple ways to classify and compare estrous cycle and hormonal fluctuations may actually be the mediating factor (Mogil et al., 2000, Berglund et al., 1988). Additionally, other factors such as laboratory environment, social interaction between animals, and genetics all have been shown to affect the existence and direction of sex differences in both acute and persistent nociceptive sensitivity (Mogil, 2017, Chesler et al., 2002, Kest et al., 1999, Mogil et al., 2000, Wilder et al., 1982, Lacroix-Fralish et al., 2006). Therefore, while hormones may play some role, there are many other influencing factors that likely interact to influence pain responses.

1.3.4 Qualitative sex differences in pain circuitry are likely more important than quantitative differences in behavior

In summary, while clinical pain disorders are more prevalent in females, and experimental data from human subjects indicate that females may experience pain

differently from males, data from animals is less conclusive. Small sex differences in nociceptive sensitivity may not be what is of importance considering that there are different mechanisms at play during acute compared to persistent pain, and there are likely other factors that are more important in the development of chronic pain such as genetics, hormones, anatomy, and psychosocial factors. What is likely more important than small potential differences in nociceptive sensitivity is that both human and animal data indicate that there are sexual dimorphisms in pain circuitry and processing. Even if sexual dimorphisms have similar behavioral endpoints, a better understanding of qualitative differences in pain could have implications for future treatments and greatly aid in our understanding of chronic pain. Furthermore, sexual dimorphisms in pain circuitry mean it is critical to include female animals in studies on pain even if behavioral differences are not found.

#### 1.4 Sex differences in pain-modulation circuitry

#### 1.4.1 Sexual dimorphisms in pain-modulation circuitry

One line of evidence for sexual dimorphisms in pain circuitry comes from human and animal studies showing that there are sex differences in the effectiveness of opioids, which act through pain modulation systems. In humans, most studies show opioids are more effective in females than males, but, as with pain testing, there are likely psychological other factors contributing to these findings (Miller et al., 2004, Cepeda et al., 2002, Cepeda et al., 2003, Craft, 2003). Work in rats generally shows that males are more responsive to opioids than females in both acute pain tests and during persistent pain, but results vary somewhat depending on rat strain and other methodological factors such as dosing, opioid type, and pain testing assay (Doyle et al., 2018, Loyd et al., 2008, Lomas et al., 2007, Wang et al., 2006, Ji et al., 2006, Boyer et al., 1998, Cook et al., 2005, Bobeck et al., 2009, Tershner et al., 2000, Craft, 2003, Ji et al., 2006).

Although sex hormones may influence opioid-sensitivity, effects of hormone manipulations are not always observed and, when present, inconsistent (Loyd et al., 2008, Terner et al., 2005, Bernal et al., 2007, Stoffel et al., 2003, Ji et al., 2007, Mogil et al., 2000). Thus it is unlikely that hormones fully explain sex differences in opioid effectiveness. Additionally, it is unlikely that sex differences in opioid-analgesia are due to basal differences in nociceptive sensitivity, as the majority of these studies found no differences in baseline nociception. It is likely that there are sex differences in the circuitry that mediates analgesia, including PAG-RVM output, which is critical to opioid-analgesia (Loyd et al., 2009).

Both human and animal literature show that there is a similar organization in PAG-RVM connectivity in males and females (Linnman et al., 2012, Loyd et al., 2007, Loyd et al., 2006, Kong et al., 2010). However, animal work shows there are functional and molecular sexual dimorphisms in PAG-RVM circuitry. There is a greater number of PAG-RVM output neurons in female than male rats, but there is greater activation of PAG-RVM output neurons during inflammation or systemic morphine administration in males (Loyd et al., 2006, Loyd et al., 2007). Additionally, morphine significantly reduces the number of PAG-RVM neurons activated by inflammation in males but not females (Loyd et al., 2006), reflecting sex-related differences in opioid receptor expression and signaling in pain-modulation circuitry (Bernal et al., 2007, Tonsfeldt et al., 2016, Boyer et al., 1998, Tershner et al., 2000, Doyle et al., 2017, Doyle et al., 2018, Loyd et al., 2008). Functional differences in pain-modulation circuitry likely underlie differences in opioid analgesia but, it is unknown how differences in PAG-RVM manifest in terms of RVM physiology. Considering RVM is the final output of this system and RVM cell activity sets the nociceptive "tone", it is important to determine if there are differences in RVM activity.

#### 1.4.2 RVM cell activity in female animals

Importantly, the information presented in section 1.2, characterizing RVM physiology in baseline and during pain states, is from studies in male animals. While there has been increased interest in sexual dimorphisms in PAG projections to RVM, there has been very little work in the RVM itself. Understanding if there are differences in RVM cell activity, the physiological output of the system, is important to fully characterizing sexual dimorphisms in pain-modulation systems.

As far as I am aware, only two prior studies have performed in vivo single-cell recording in RVM cells in female animals. In the first study (Rojas-Piloni et al., 1998), after identifying RVM cells in female animals based on response to noxious heat, the effect of vaginal stimulation was tested. Pronociceptive ON-cell ongoing activity was decreased and antinociceptive OFF-cell ongoing activity was increased, while NEUTRAL-cells did not respond. Importantly, this study also showed that vaginal stimulation increases thermal withdrawal latency, as would be expected based on changes in ON- and OFF-cell ongoing activity. In the second study (Craft et al., 2004b), the effects of oestradiol supplementation on RVM cell response to noxious heat in ovariectomized female rats was tested. ON- and OFF-cell noxious heat-evoked changes in firing were decreased in oestradiol-supplemented females compared to ovariectomized females with no supplementation. However, there was no significant difference in ongoing firing rates. As would be expected, based on similar ongoing firing rates, there was no significant difference in tail withdrawal latency. The dampened ONcell burst and OFF-cell pause could decrease sensitivity to subsequent stimuli but more work is needed to know the implications of this finding.

While these studies show there are ON-, OFF-, and NEUTRAL-cells in RVM of female animals, how the responses compare to RVM cells in males was not examined,

nor was the effect of injury. RVM cell activity sets the tone for nociceptive transmission and a shift in the balance between ON- and OFF-cell activity can lead to enhanced or diminished pain perception (Heinricher et al., 2009). Differences in RVM cell activity between males and females could, therefore, lead to subtle differences in sensitivity or predispose females to chronic pain conditions.

#### 1.5 Photophobia

Many chronic pain patients report multisensory hypersensitivity including sensitivity to somatic and non-somatic stimuli (Martenson et al., 2016, Wilbarger et al., 2011, Okeson et al., 2011, Freeman et al., 2009, Gutrecht et al., 1994, Lovati et al., 2015, Zanchin et al., 2007). One manifestation of this generalized hypersensitivity is sensitivity to visual light, termed photophobia. While photophobia is sometimes referred to as "photosensitivity", because photosensitivity is a term that is commonly used in dermatology, in this thesis, aversion to visual light will be referred to as photophobia. Originally photophobia was defined as normal levels of light causing pain in the eye (Lebensohn 1934), while dazzle was the term applied to an uncomfortable, but not painful, sense of excessive brightness. More recently these terms have been combined and photophobia is more broadly defined to include any of three primary symptoms; (1) an avoidance of light due to pain in the eye, (2) exacerbation of headache or other pain by light, and (3) a generalized sense of discomfort resulting in avoidance of light with or without overt pain (Noseda et al., 2011, Noseda et al., 2018, Digre et al., 2012). In the following sections, disorders commonly associated with photophobia are discussed, and then possible neural mechanisms are addressed.

#### 1.5.1 Clinical presentation of photophobia

Photophobia symptoms are present in many diseases including eye disorders, neurological disorders, chronic pain conditions, and psychiatric disorders (Digre et al.,

2012, Katz et al., 2016, Main et al., 1997, Freeman et al., 2009, Martenson et al., 2016, Seidel et al., 2017, Bossini et al., 2009, Gutrecht et al., 1994, Jerath et al., 2011). Symptoms manifest differently between disorders, but even within one disorder patients have different reports of what symptoms are occurring (Wu et al., 2017), making photophobia difficult to diagnose and treat.

Eye disorders that cause dysfunction of orbital and visual pathways are divided into two classes, based on anatomy of the eye. Anterior segment diseases affect the anterior third of the eyeball and include damage or disease of structures such as the cornea or iris and dry eye. In these disorders, normal levels of light often cause eye pain, which is thought to be due to primary afferent sensitization (Digre et al., 2012). Posterior segment diseases affect the posterior third of the eye including structures that lack nociceptive sensory afferents, such as the retina. In these disorders photophobia frequently presents as either "day-blindness" or perceived flashes of light, as well as abnormal sensitivity to light (Zervas et al., 1987, Simunovic et al., 1998, Prokofyeva et al., 2011). As with the rest of the diseases presented below, since primary afferents are unaffected in posterior disorders, there must be dysfunction independent of the ocular nociceptors.

Neurological conditions including blepharospasm, chiasmal compression, trigeminal neuralgia, and primary and secondary headache disorders commonly present with photophobia (Judd et al., 2007, Nath et al., 2003, Cooper et al., 2009, Digre et al., 2012, Logan et al., 2008, Kupila et al., 2006, Gutrecht et al., 1994, Kawasaki, 2012). In blepharospasm, patients experience muscle spasms and involuntary closure of the eye, accompanied by sensitivity to light during and outside of spasm. Additionally, in some patients, light can induce spasms (Judd et al., 2007, Adams et al., 2006). Sensitivity to light also occurs outside of and during attack in chronic headache patients, where light can trigger or exacerbate headache, or is generally perceived as "too" bright (Vincent et
al., 1989, Main et al., 1997, Vanagaite et al., 1997, Drummond et al., 1993, Vingen et al., 1998, Wu et al., 2017, Digre et al., 2012). Photophobia has been documented in primary headaches such as migraine and cluster headaches, as well as secondary headaches such as in meningitis, subarachnoid hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury (TBI).

Many migraine patients experience unilateral head pain but have sensitivity to light impinging on either eye and light can cause headache to spread (Vanagaite et al., 1997, Noseda et al., 2016). Additionally, pressure pain thresholds in patients with migraine decrease during light exposure and migraineurs experience increased tenderness in neck muscles (Kowacs et al., 2001, Noseda et al., 2016). Interestingly, in patients with TBI, photophobia remains even after initial injury has healed (Bohnen et al., 1991, Truong et al., 2014, Magone et al., 2014), indicating ongoing peripheral input is not necessary for the maintenance of photophobia. These findings indicate that photophobia may be a marker of central sensitization, or changes in pain circuits in the central nervous system that lead to hypersensitivity and widespread pain and discomfort in chronic pain disorders. Photophobia symptoms are also present in other pain conditions associated with central sensitization that may have similar underlying mechanisms to migraine. However, photophobia is a defining symptom of migraine, with 80-90% of migraineurs afflicted (Wu et al., 2017), and thus photophobia has been best studied and characterized in migraine patients and largely understudied in other conditions (Noseda et al., 2018).

Multisensory hypersensitivity is well-documented in fibromyalgia and these patients have a lower discomfort threshold to visual light than healthy controls (Wilbarger et al., 2011, Martenson et al., 2016). Additionally, light can trigger or worsen periocular pain or headache in whiplash patients (Freeman et al., 2009). There are also reports of abnormal sensitivity to light in psychiatric disorders such as panic disorder or

agoraphobia (Bossini et al., 2009, Kellner et al., 1997). Thus, trigeminal input may not be necessary for the development of photophobia, providing additional support that some forms of photophobia may reflect central sensitization. Therefore, while photophobia is best documented in disorders affecting the craniofacial tissues, and especially migraine, it is likely that there are central mechanisms beyond the trigeminal system that mediate photophobia.

## 1.5.2 Ascending neural mechanisms of photophobia

Historically, many physicians and scientists believed that aversion to light in the absence of an eye disorder was an inorganic, psychological symptom. It is now recognized that photophobia has a neurological basis, but the exact mechanisms are largely unknown. The neural pathways through which light produces aversion and pain likely involve plasticity in central pain-transmission circuitry (Digre et al., 2012, Noseda et al., 2018, Woodhouse et al., 1993, Lovati et al., 2013, Noseda et al., 2017). It is also likely that different presentations of photophobia are due to different neural mechanisms (Noseda et al., 2011). Current proposed mechanisms of how light accesses pain-transmission pathways to cause photophobia are outlined below. These mechanisms focus on sensitization in ascending pathways at the level of primary nociceptors, second-order trigeminal nucleus neurons, or third-order thalamic neurons. Most mechanisms are researched and framed in the context of migraine, but as mentioned above, there is likely cross over into other chronic pain conditions and neurological disorder.

Firstly, it is important to note that nociceptors do not directly respond to light energy, so light must be able to access pain-transmission pathways either by indirectly activating nociceptors or through a convergence between the visual pathways and somatosensory pathways. Early explanations of photophobia focused on the former. It was postulated

that photophobia was caused by activation and irritation of primary afferent nociceptors within the eye (Lebensohn, 1951). This theory posits that, since light causes vasodilation of orbital vessels and iris constriction, and these structures are closely associated with nociceptors, nerve endings sensitized during disease could be activated by normally innocuous reflexes to light. While this is a potential explanation for exacerbation of eye pain by light in diseases afflicting the anterior segment of the eye, primary afferent sensitization would not explain photophobia in other diseases where primary ocular nociceptors are unaffected.

In headache and other craniofacial disorders, ongoing primary afferent input from the inflamed or injured tissues could lead to sensitization of second order neurons in the trigeminal nucleus (Burstein et al., 1998). Interaction of light-input and somatosensoryinput at the level of the trigeminal nucleus could amplify pain transmission. Evidence for this hypothesis is that the trigeminal nucleus contains neurons that are activated by acute exposure to bright light. Activation is dependent on orbital sensory neurons being activated by increased parasympathetic outflow and vasodilation, as well as input from accessory visual pathways mediated by the olivary pretectal nucleus (Okamoto et al., 2009, Okamoto et al., 2010). Importantly, light responsive trigeminal nucleus neurons also receive input from mechanosensitive primary afferents (Okamoto et al., 2010). Therefore, if second-order neurons in the trigeminal nucleus are sensitized by craniofacial pain and have increased excitability, then convergence of light and somatosensory information could result in discomfort or exacerbation of existing pain. Sensitization and interaction in the trigeminal nucleus could contribute to photophobia experienced during cranial inflammation but would not explain photophobia in extracranial pain disorders or in conditions where craniofacial pain has resolved.

An additional hypothesis is that light could access pain circuitry through direct input from the visual pathway to higher-order pain-transmission structures such as the thalamus. Light input most likely reaches higher structures via the non-image forming visual pathway. In this pathway, photoreception occurs via intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells (ipRGC's), a subset of retinal ganglion cells that contain melanopsin and thus are photoreceptive independently of rods and cones. ipRGCs transmit information about illuminance directly to higher brain structures, including the lateral geniculate nucleus, the suprachiasmatic nucleus, and olivary pretectal nucleus, that are important in light-dependent biological functions such as circadian rhythms and pupillary light reflex (Hattar et al., 2002, Brown et al., 2010).

One line of evidence that the non-image forming pathway is critical to photophobia is that blind migraineurs with significant deficits in image-forming perception due to rod and cone photoreceptor degradation, still experience photophobia as long as the optic nerve is intact (Noseda et al., 2010). These patients have normal sleep patterns and pupillary light reflexes, showing that illuminance detection occurs, which is likely mediated by ipRGC's. However, if the non-image forming pathway is lost, patients lose the pupillary light reflex and experience irregular sleep patterns, but also do not experience photophobia. Behavioral studies in rodents also show ipRGC's are critical to light aversion (Johnson et al., 2010, Semo et al., 2010). Although the photopigment in ipRGC's is primarily responsive to blue light, it has been found that light with wavelengths outside of the blue spectrum can also cause discomfort in patients with normal vision (Main et al., 2000, Noseda et al., 2016, Matynia et al., 2016). Thus rods and cones likely contribute to photophobia as well.

ipRGC's also project directly to the posterior thalamus, lateral thalamus, intergeniculate nucleus of the thalamus, hypothalamus, amygdala, and PAG, all of which

are areas associated with somatosensation, pain, and emotion (Noseda et al., 2010, Hattar et al., 2006, Noseda et al., 2016). These pathways may provide a means for visual light to directly engage pain networks. In regard to pain-transmission pathways, the posterior thalamus is the location where second- and third-order nociceptive neurons synapse, and thalamic neurons are sensitized by dural inflammation (Burstein et al., 2010). Using single-unit recording, it was shown that a subset of trigeminovascular neurons in the thalamus that relay nociceptive signals from the dura to higher brain structures are also responsive to light (Noseda et al., 2010). Mapping also showed that dura/light-sensitive thalamic neurons project to the primary somatosensory cortex and areas of the visual cortex (Noseda et al., 2010). Thus, convergence and amplification of photic and nociceptive information on sensitized thalamic projection neurons could cause light to be perceived as too bright through connections with the visual cortex or exacerbate existing pain through connections with the somatosensory cortex (Noseda et al., 2011).

The mechanisms outlined above are "bottom-up" explanations for photophobia, whereby light is acting to amplify pain-transmission through ascending pathways. However, there is dysfunction in pain-modulation circuitry in conditions associated with photophobia (Vincent et al., 1989, Kowacs et al., 2001), and pain-modulation systems are responsive to light (Martenson et al., 2016). Therefore, while ascending mechanisms offer explanations of how light reaches pain-transmission pathways, it is likely that plasticity in descending pathways also contributes to photophobia.

# 1.5.3 Engagement of descending pain-modulation circuitry by light

Similar to pain research in general, proposed mechanisms of photophobia have focused on sensitization of ascending pathways, and very little research has been performed to elucidate the contribution of descending pain-modulation systems. We

know there is plasticity in descending modulatory circuitry that has an important contribution during migraine and other chronic pain conditions associated with photophobia (Edelmayer et al., 2009, Heinricher et al., 2009). Importantly, RVM cell activity, the output of the pain-modulation system, is altered by light, providing a functional means for light to modulate pain (Martenson et al., 2016). Therefore, it is possible that increased descending facilitation or decreased descending inhibition during light exposure contributes to hypersensitivity.

In naïve, male rats, ambient visual light evokes changes in firing in a subset of RVM ON- and OFF-cells, such that ON-cell activity increases and OFF-cell activity decreases or ceases (Figure 3) (Martenson et al., 2016). Since ongoing activity of ON- and OFF-cell sets the nociceptive threshold and there is increased vigilance during OFF-cell pause and ON-cell burst (Ramirez et al., 1989, Heinricher et al., 1989), activation of pro-nociceptive ON-cells and suppression of anti-nociceptive OFF-cells by light could provide a means for ambient light to modulate pain transmission. In fact, in naïve animals, light exposure produces small but measurable thermal hyperalgesia (Martenson et al., 2016).

While Martenson et al., 2016 showed that RVM pain-modulating neurons in rats respond to light, all work was conducted in naïve males utilizing one, relatively high, light intensity. Therefore, one goal of this thesis was to establish stimulus-response curves in male and female animals and to determine if the response is altered in a state of peripheral inflammation. Testing the effects of light in male and female animals is important because clinical findings show that chronic pain disorders are more prevalent in females and differences in RVM output could predispose females to chronic pain disorders. RVM cell responses to light during injury is of interest because RVM response to somatic stimulation is enhanced during persistent peripheral pain (Cleary et al., 2013,

Carlson et al., 2007) and RVM activity is also critical to the development of cutaneous allodynia in migraine (Edelmayer et al., 2009). Thus, it is reasonable to suspect that RVM contributes to photophobia. This could be through recruitment of additional RVM cells to the photoresponsive population or by enhanced photoresponsiveness of individual RVM cells, but could have widespread effects on pain threshold.

As noted in section 1.5.2, nociceptors do not respond directly to light energy, and Martenson et al., 2016 showed that RVM response to light is independent of the trigeminal ganglion. Therefore, the effects of light on RVM cell activity may be through a "top-down" mechanism, by engagement of higher relays that ultimately affect RVM output. One possible pathway is through the olivary pretectal nucleus (OPt). RVM response to light is attenuated if OPt is blocked (Martenson et al., 2016). Further, OPt receives projections from ipRGC's (Hattar et al., 2006, Morin et al., 2003, Langel et al., 2015), thus providing a means for visual light to reach RVM.

Light-evoked changes in RVM activity could exacerbate headache due to increased facilitatory and decreased inhibitory output to the trigeminal dorsal horn. Further, during ocular disorders, similar changes in RVM activity could lower the thresholds of nociceptors innervating the orbit, resulting in ocular pain during exposure to innocuous levels of light. Additionally, because individual RVM neurons project diffusely to the trigeminal dorsal horn and multiple spinal levels, the effects of light on RVM cell activity could produce widespread changes in nociceptive sensitivity leading to generalized somatic discomfort as in fibromyalgia or whiplash injury (Huisman et al., 1981, Skagerberg et al., 1985, Heinricher et al., 1989). Thus, enhanced RVM cell responses to light during persistent pain could cause visual sensitivity to light, as well as widespread somatic hypersensitivity.

## 1.6 Summary and Specific Aims

Many chronic pain patients report abnormal sensitivity to multiple sensory modalities, including light. There is dysfunction in central pain circuitry in these disorders that likely leads to photophobia. It has been shown that brain regions normally implicated in nociceptive transmission and modulation respond to visual light. Specifically, a subset of neurons in RVM, the output node of the most well-known pain-modulating circuit, respond to bright, visual light in a pro-nociceptive manner in naïve, male animals. RVM cell activity can directly modulate behavioral sensitivity and individual RVM neurons project diffusely to multiple spinal levels, (Huisman et al., 1981, Skagerberg et al., 1985) which means that recruitment of these cell populations can produce widespread changes in nociceptive sensitivity. Given ON-cells exert a net pro-nociceptive effect and OFF-cells exert a net anti-nociceptive effect, activation of ON-cells and suppression of OFF-cell firing by light could provide a means for a visual stimulus to access painmodulation pathways. Further, RVM is plastic and responses to somatic stimulation are enhanced during persistent inflammation, so plasticity in RVM could contribute to photophobia in persistent pain states. Therefore, the overall goal of this thesis was to establish stimulus-response curves for RVM cell responses to light, and to determine if response to light is altered during peripheral inflammation.

# 1.6.1 Aim 1: Establish stimulus-response curves for RVM cell response to visual light exposure in male and female rats

The focus of the first aim of my thesis was to characterize RVM cell activity in female animals, because a major gap in our knowledge of RVM physiology is that the activity of these pain-modulating neurons has not been well-characterized in female animals. There is a substantial but contradictory literature in humans and animals on pain sensitivity. Nevertheless, it seems that chronic pain disorders are more prevalent in females, and it has been established that there are molecular and structural sexual

dimorphisms in pain modulation-circuitry. However, physiology and function of RVM activity has yet to be compared in the sexes. In fact, only a few studies have performed *in vivo* single-cell recording in RVM in female animals, and these studies did not make direct comparisons to males. It is important to quantify RVM output, as differences in pain modulation could predispose females to develop chronic pain conditions. In aim 1, I established stimulus-response curves for RVM response to light in naïve male and female animals.

# 1.6.2 Aim 2: Determine if peripheral inflammation shifts the stimulus-response curves for RVM cell response to visual light in male and female rats

The focus of the second aim of my thesis is to determine if inflammation enhances photoresponsiveness of RVM cells. RVM is an important contributor to both normal and clinically significant pain. In models of hindpaw inflammation or nerve injury, ON- and OFF-cells in RVM are "sensitized," and demonstrate lowered thresholds for responses to cutaneous stimulation. Thus it is reasonable to suspect that RVM cells may also be sensitized to light during persistent inflammation. Recruitment of additional cells to the photoresponsive population or more robust response of individual cells to light during persistent inflammation. In aim 2, I established stimulus-response curves for RVM cell response to light in male and female animals with peripheral inflammation. My hypothesis is that RVM neurons will have an enhanced response to light but that the response will be more greatly enhanced in females than males.

## 1.6.3 Significance and Innovation

Sex differences in pain sensitivity have been the focus of many recent reviews but remain a debated and controversial topic. However, it seems clear that functional pain disorders are more prevalent in females, but potential, slight differences in pain

sensitivity are likely not robust enough to increase the likelihood of females developing chronic pain conditions. Moreover, studies showing no differences in nociceptive sensitivity in the sexes have found sexual dimorphisms in pain-circuitry. It is possible that under basal conditions these qualitative differences have similar behavioral endpoints but differ in response to injury. Therefore, increased knowledge of sexual dimorphisms in molecular, cellular, and circuitry aspects of pain is essential if we are to fully understand chronic pain and develop better treatments. The following studies examined RVM physiology during baseline and in persistent peripheral inflammation in males and females to understand how modulation of descending control could contribute to sex differences in pain experience and prevalence of chronic pain.

Further, dysfunction of descending pain-modulating systems is difficult to verify in individual patients, where invasive recording studies are not possible. If my findings reveal that pain-modulating neurons become sensitized to light during peripheral inflammation, photophobia in patients could be used as a clinical indicator of central sensitization.



Figure 1 Nociceptive transmission is modulated by RVM

The rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) is the final output of a pain-modulation circuit and exerts pain facilitatory or inhibitory effects via ON- and OFF-cells, respectively. This bidirectional system is also influenced by cognitive and emotional factors by "top-down" inputs from higher structures.



Figure 2 RVM cells are characterized by their response to noxious stimuli

Top panels show individual action potentials and bottom graphs show ratemeter records (1-sec bin) from an ON-cell (left), OFF-cell (middle), and NEUTRAL-cell (right) during noxious heat-evoked paw withdrawal. ON-cells are activated by noxious heat and have a "burst" in activity, while OFF-cells show a "pause" in any ongoing activity just prior to paw withdrawal. NEUTRAL cells do not exhibit a change in firing associated with noxious stimulus-evoked paw withdrawal.



Figure 3 Light-evoked RVM cell response

Ratemeter traces show representative ON-cell (left) and OFF-cell (right) response to bright light with 30-s light stimulation noted below. A subset of RVM ON-cells (left) and OFF-cells (right) are activated and suppressed, respectively, by bright light shined in the eye.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# MANUSCRIPT #1

# Characterization of RVM cell activity in female animals

Gwen M. Hryciw and Mary M. Heinricher

#### 2.1 Abstract

Although functional pain disorders disproportionately impact females and there are sex-related differences in severity of symptoms, most pain research in animals has been conducted in males. Recent evidence shows there are molecular sexual dimorphisms in pain-modulation circuitry, but very little work has been done to characterize the physiology of the output of the system, the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM). Sexrelated differences in RVM output could predispose females to pathological pain. The goal of this study was to determine ongoing cell activity, noxious stimulus-evoked responses, and light-evoked stimulus-response curves in female compared to male rats. Light is of particular interest because, in males, a subset of RVM cells is responsive to visual light. While many chronic pain patients report abnormal sensitivity to light ("photophobia"), how light-related input engages pain processing is unknown. Convergence of light-related input with pain modulation in RVM could contribute to photophobia. We found that RVM neuronal responses to noxious heat and visual light are similar in the sexes. Additionally we found that RVM cells respond to very low levels of light, and that the responses to light are graded with stimulus intensity. These data show that, while there are potential sex differences in pain-modulation circuitry upstream of RVM, the overall tone and output of the descending pain-modulation system is comparable. Our findings also argue for differences in how light and somatic stimuli engage RVM, and suggest that light-related information represents a "top-down" input to RVM.

# 2.2 Significance Statement

Photophobia is a common complaint in functional pain disorders, but the underlying mechanisms are largely unknown. In this paper we further characterize a potential mechanism through which light could engage pain-modulation circuitry. Additionally, we

demonstrate that activity of identified pain-modulating neurons in RVM is similar in male and female animals.

#### 2.3 Introduction

Chronic pain disorders disproportionately impact females, but studies in healthy humans indicate that while there are likely few sex differences in pain sensitivity, males and females may experience pain differently (Fillingim et al., 2009, Mogil et al., 2000, Racine et al., 2012a). This indicates that there are likely sex differences in pain processing which could be due to sexual dimorphisms in pain circuitry. However, most pain circuitry research in animals is conducted in males (Mogil et al., 2005), but recent evidence shows there are structural and molecular sexual dimorphisms in painmodulation circuitry (Boyer et al., 1998, Loyd et al., 2006). The rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) is the functional output of this pain-modulating circuit, and has been wellcharacterized in male animals. It is possible that there are sex differences in RVM activity, but only a few studies have performed in vivo single-cell recording in RVM in females (Craft et al., 2004b, Rojas-Piloni et al., 1998). Moreover, these studies did not make direct comparisons to males. If we are to fully understand pain in females, we cannot assume that the physiology of the RVM is the same in both sexes. The purpose of this study was to characterize the physiology of RVM cells in female compared to male animals.

The RVM modulates nociceptive transmission through its projections to the spinal and trigeminal dorsal horns. Two classes of RVM neurons, termed "ON-cells" and "OFFcells", have been identified physiologically: activity of ON-cells increases (or "bursts"), whereas activity of OFF-cells ceases (or "pauses") prior to behavioral responses to noxious stimuli (Fields et al., 1983a). These two cell classes, respectively amplify and suppress nociceptive transmission, producing hyperalgesia or hypoalgesia (Heinricher et al., 2009, Heinricher et al., 2013). Other neurons in RVM are referred to as "NEUTRAL-

cells," and whether they have a role in pain modulation is unknown. RVM also receives information from higher structures, providing a circuit through which cognitive and emotional factors can influence pain (Heinricher et al., 2013). This pain-modulation circuitry is an important contributor to both normal and pathological pain, and while wellcharacterized in males, little is known about its activity in females (Heinricher et al., 2009, Heinricher et al., 2013, Porreca et al., 2001, Ren et al., 2002).

It is important to compare RVM output between the sexes because a shift in the balance between ON- and OFF-cell activity can lead to enhanced or diminished pain perception (Heinricher et al., 2009). We first compared noxious heat-evoked responses, because noxious heat is the most reliable way to classify RVM cells, and the duration of response to noxious stimuli corresponds to a time of increased sensitivity where subsequent stimuli can evoke a response at a lower threshold (Fields et al., 1983a, Ramirez et al., 1989). Next we compared RVM cell ongoing activity, because ongoing activity sets the "tone" for nociceptive transmission at stimulus onset, modulating the behavioral withdrawal threshold (Heinricher et al., 1989).

Additionally, since a subset of RVM cells in males respond to visual light (Martenson et al., 2016), we established and compared stimulus-response curves for RVM cell lightevoked activity. Many chronic pain patients, such as those with migraine or fibromyalgia, report abnormal sensitivity to light, but the neural pathways through which light evokes discomfort are unknown (Main et al., 1997, Woodhouse et al., 1993, Zanchin et al., 2007, Martenson et al., 2016, Gutrecht et al., 1994, Wilbarger et al., 2011, Katz et al., 2016). Additionally, sex-related differences in severity of symptoms such as photophobia have been reported in migraine (Buse et al., 2013, Lipton et al., 2001a, Bolay et al., 2015, Zanchin et al., 2007). RVM response to light is independent of primary sensory transmission and likely represents a "top-down" input that modulates RVM cell activity (Martenson et al., 2016). Given ON-cells exert a net pro-nociceptive effect and OFF-cells

exert a net anti-nociceptive effect, activation of ON-cells and suppression of OFF-cell firing by light could provide a means for ambient light to modulate pain transmission. Differences in RVM response to light could lead to differences in the pain experience between males and females.

In summary, the focus of this study was to characterize the physiological output of the descending pain-modulation system in females by examining RVM cell activity and responses to noxious somatic input, as well as visual light. We found the basic characteristics of RVM cell activity are similar between the sexes. We also established stimulus-response curves to light that demonstrate RVM cell response is similar between the sexes. Additionally, dim levels of light can evoke a response from some RVM cells, and response to light is graded with stimulus intensity.

## 2.4 Methods

All experiments followed the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health and the Committee for Research and Ethical Issues of the International Association for the Study of Pain, and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the Oregon Health & Science University.

# 2.4.1 Lightly Anesthetized Preparation

Age-matched male and female rats (weight, 230-370 g and 170-300 g, respectively) from Charles River were used in all experiments. Animals were housed in 12 hr dark/12 hr light cycle and all experiments were performed during the light phase. Following previously described methods (Cleary et al., 2013, Martenson et al., 2016), animals were anesthetized using 4% isoflurane and a catheter placed in the external jugular vein for subsequent infusion of methohexital. Animals were then transferred to a stereotaxic apparatus and kept deeply anesthetized while a small craniotomy posterior to the lambda suture was drilled to gain access to RVM. After surgery, anesthesia was adjusted so that the animal withdrew its hindpaw to noxious heat exposure but did not

display spontaneous movement. Animals were maintained at this stable anesthetic plane for the duration of the experiment by infusion of methohexital at a constant rate. Heart rate and body temperature were monitored, and experimental protocol was initiated once these were stable and the methohexital flow rate had not been adjusted for a minimum of 45 min. Anesthetic rate was not adjusted for the rest of the protocol. Males required a higher anesthetic rate than females (t(100)=18.74, p<0.0001, n=102; M: 88.77 +/- 7.85 mg/kg/hr, F: 61.09 +/- 7.07 mg/kg/hr) to achieve a similar anesthetic depth based on nociceptive withdrawal (Merkel et al., 1963). All testing was performed in low ambient light conditions (<5 lux) and the pupils were dilated to eliminate differences in amount of light reaching the retina due to pupillary light-reflexes.

# 2.4.2 Electrophysiological Recording

A gold- and platinum-plated stainless-steel microelectrode was placed in the RVM to record cell activity. Signals were amplified and band-pass filtered (Neurolog, Digitimer) then transmitted to a computer for real-time spike detection and monitoring using Spike2 software (Cambridge, UK). Identified neurons were classified as ON-, OFF-, or NEUTRAL-cells, as originally defined (Fields et al., 1983a, Cleary et al., 2013, Martenson et al., 2016) based on changes in firing rate associated with noxious-heat evoked withdrawal. ON-cells are defined by a burst of activity beginning just prior to withdrawal from a noxious stimulus or, if active, and increase in activity. OFF-cells stop firing just prior to withdrawal. NEUTRAL-cell firing does not change in response to noxious stimuli. After isolating and identifying a cell, two heat trials were performed at 2.5-min intervals to determine magnitude of response to noxious heat. Next, cell response to light was tested by placing a fiber-optic light source (Dolan-Jenner Fiber-Lite; Dolan-Jenner Industries, Buxborough, MA) 5 cm from the left eye to deliver diffused light at a range of intensities in ascending order (330, 575, 900, 6,000, 10,500, and 16,000 lux). Each intensity was applied for 30-sec at 2.5-min intervals, with each

intensity repeated two times. A final heat trial was then performed to confirm anesthetic stability.

#### 2.4.3 Histology

At the end of each experiment, the recording site was marked with an electrolytic lesion. Animals were euthanized by methohexital overdose and perfused transcardially with saline and 10% formalin. Brains were removed, and brainstems were sectioned on a Leica CM3050 S cryostat (60 µm sections). RVM lesion was photographed with an Optronics Microfire camera attached to an Olympus BX51 microscope. RVM was defined as the nucleus raphe magnus and adjacent reticular formation medial to the lateral boundary of the pyramids at the level of the facial nucleus (Paxinos et al., 2009).

# 2.4.4 Data Processing and Analysis

At the conclusion of each experiment, action potential waveforms were individually examined to verify correct cell identity.

Ongoing activity was defined as the average firing rate over the 30-sec periods prior to initiation of the three heat trials. Heat-evoked reflex-related neuronal activity for ON-cells was defined as the total number of spikes in the burst and the duration of the burst, where a "burst" is defined as the first action potential after heat onset until the last action potential that precedes a 2-s quiet period. If a cell was active prior to heat onset, then the number of action potentials in the 3-s period around the paw withdrawal was used to define the number of spikes in the burst and burst duration was not defined for these cells. Heat-evoked reflex-related neuronal activity for OFF-cells was defined as the percent suppression quantified by the firing rate in the 3-s period around the paw withdrawal relative to the firing rate 30 s prior to heat onset and as the duration of the pause. A "pause" was considered to begin at the last spike after heat onset that was not followed within 2 s by another action potential and lasted until there were two action potentials within 2 s of each other. Pause duration was not defined for trials were the cell

was quiet preceding heat onset. Percent pre-stimulus firing was also determined for NEUTRAL-cells based on the firing rate in the 3-s period around the paw withdrawal compared to the 30-s period preceding heat onset.

Overall a cell was considered to be "light-responsive" if it had a positive response at 16,000 lux. A positive response was one in which cell activity changed by at least 50% during light exposure relative to the 30-s period preceding light onset. In addition, for a response to be consider positive, a minimum of 10 action potentials during the stimulus was required of ON-cells, and a minimum of 10 action potentials prior to light simulation was required of OFF-cells. The percentage of cells that responded within each light intensity was also determined following the same criteria to define a response as positive. For light-responsive cells, stimulus-response curves for light-related firing activity were generated based on the average of the two trials. For ON-cells, the total number of action potentials in the burst and the duration of the burst were defined following similar criteria to define a "burst" as in heat trials. If an ON-cell was active prior to a light trial, then the total number of spikes during the light trial was used to define the number of spikes in the burst and burst duration was not quantified for the trial. For OFFcells, the percent suppression was defined as the firing rate during light exposure relative to the firing rate in the 30-s period preceding the light trial. The longest OFF-cell pause initiated during light exposure was also defined following similar criteria to define a "pause" as in heat trials. Latency to response was also determined as defined by the time from initiation of the trial to the start of an ON-cell "burst" or OFF-cell "pause". Latency was not determined for trials were an OFF-cell was inactive or ON-cell active prior to light. For ON-cells, the average firing rate and peak firing rate during light exposure were also determined.

Some cell parameters had a highly skewed distribution, so these parameters were either log transformed to normalize data or nonparametric tests were applied.

Comparisons between the sexes of ongoing activity and magnitude of heat response were made with Mann-Whitney test. Proportion of light responsive cells was compared between the sexes with Fischer's exact test and stimulus-response effect for proportion of light-responsive cells was determined using Chi-squared test for trend. Light-evoked response threshold was determined as the average lowest intensity required to evoke a response from light responsive cells and compared between the sexes with Mann-Whitney test. Area under the curve was determined for the magnitude of light-related cell activity responses and compared between the sexes with *t*-test. If no difference was found between the groups, groups were collapsed to determine stimulus-response relationships. A one sample *t*-test was used to determine if the average slopes of the stimulus-response curves were significantly different from zero. For all tests, p<0.05 was considered significant.

### 2.5 Results

Neurons were recorded in the RVM of lightly anesthetized male and female rats using extracellular single-cell recording methods. ON-, OFF-, and NEUTRAL-cells were sampled at random and defined based on responses to noxious heat, and then tested for responses to a range of light intensities. A total of 64 cells were recorded from 49 males, and 64 cells from 53 females (1-3 cells per animal). Cells were distributed throughout RVM in both males and females (Fig 4).

2.5.1 No differences in RVM cell ongoing firing and noxious stimulus-related responses in males and females

The first goal of this project was to validate the basic firing characteristics of RVM cells in female animals by drawing comparison to RVM cell activity in male animals. RVM ON- and OFF-cells are characterized by noxious stimulus-evoked activation and inhibition, respectively, while NEUTRAL-cells do not have a change in activity. Examples of ON-, OFF-, and NEUTRAL-cell responses to noxious heat in males and females are

shown in figure 5. Heat-evoked ON-cell burst, as defined by the total number of action potential (Fig 6a), and OFF-cell suppression, as defined by the percent firing during paw withdrawal relative to the firing rate prior to heat (Fig 6b), were not significantly different between the sexes. The duration of ON-cell burst and OFF-cell pause were also not significantly different between the sexes (ON-cell: t(46)=1.82, p=0.075; OFF-cells: t(49)=0.77, p=0.45). Additionally, comparisons of firing rates during unstimulated periods revealed no significant differences in the ongoing activity of ON-cells (Fig 6c) or OFF-cells (Fig 6d) in males and females. These findings suggest there is similar "tone" in pain-modulation systems in males and females. NEUTRAL-cells, which do not have a change in firing rate during noxious stimulus withdrawal, were observed in both males and females, and there was no significant difference in NEUTRAL-cell activity between the sexes (Fig 7).

# 2.5.2 No differences in proportion of cells responsive to light or light-evoked response threshold in males and females

The second goal of this project was to establish light-evoked stimulus-response curves for RVM cells in males and females. Examples of ON- and OFF-cell responses to low (330 lux) and high (16,000 lux) light intensities are shown in figure 8. Light-responsive ON-cells have a burst of activity, while light-responsive OFF-cells have suppressed ongoing activity during exposure to visual light. A change in activity of at least 50% during light exposure compared to the 30-s period prior to light onset was used to consider a cell to have a positive response during a light trial. The percentages of cells responsive at each intensity were determined. Stimulus-response curves showed that the percent of ON-cells (Fig 9a) and OFF-cells (Fig 9b) that responded to light were not significantly different between the sexes and that the proportion of cells responding at each intensity was stimulus-dependent. The light-evoked response threshold was also not significantly different between the sexes (Fig 9c, d). There were no NEUTRAL-cells

in either sex that responded to light, as with prior work in male animals (Martenson et al., 2016).

2.5.3 RVM ON- and OFF-cell responses to light are graded with stimulus-intensity in both males and females

The magnitude of light-evoked changes in cell firing were determined and compared in males and females among the light-responsive subset of cells. For this analysis, a given cell was defined as being photoresponsive if it had a positive response to 16,000 lux, the highest light intensity tested. There was a significant stimulus-response relationship for ON-cell burst, as defined by the total number of spikes evoked by light (Fig 10a), and for OFF-cell suppression, as defined by the percent firing during light exposure relative to the 30-s prior to light (Fig 10b). There was also no significant difference in ON-cell burst or OFF-cell pause between males and females (Fig 10).

We compared additional light-evoked response parameters including the ON-cell burst duration, peak firing rate, and latency to a response, and OFF-cell pause duration and latency to pause. There was a significant stimulus-response relationship between all parameters and light intensity, except for latency to response, further supporting that light-evoked responses are graded. There were no significant differences between males and females in any of these parameters (Table 1).

In sum, these results show RVM cells in males and females respond similarly to noxious heat stimulation and during exposure to visual light. RVM cell response to light was also found to be stimulus-dependent.

### 2.6 Discussion

The major goal of this study was to directly compare RVM cell activity, the physiological output of a major pain-modulation system, in males and females. We first considered ongoing activity and noxious heat-related responses of RVM cells, and found that RVM cells in males and females have similar firing properties. Since RVM is the

output of a major pain-modulation circuit and can amplify or suppress pain-transmission (Heinricher et al., 2009, Heinricher et al., 2013), sex-related differences in the tone and activity of this system could conceivably predispose females to develop pain conditions. However, our data show that despite structural and molecular differences in pain-modulation circuitry upstream of RVM (Boyer et al., 1998, Loyd et al., 2006, Loyd et al., 2007, Loyd et al., 2008), overall descending output from the pain-modulation system is comparable in males and females under basal conditions.

Despite sex differences in the prevalence of chronic pain disorders and potential sex differences in pain experience in humans, studies on sex differences in nociceptive sensitivity in rodents have conflicting results (Mogil et al., 2000). Sex differences are found in either direction, or not at all, and results are highly variable both between different nociceptive assays, and within a given nociceptive assay (Loyd et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2006, Boyer et al., 1998, Bradshaw et al., 2000, Terner et al., 2005, Bobeck et al., 2009, Tershner et al., 2000, Doyle et al., 2018, Doyle et al., 2018, Cook et al., 2006, Mogil et al., 2000, Greenspan et al., 2013). Results are also dependent on other methodological details such as animal strain, laboratory environment, and experimenter (Mogil, 2017, Chesler et al., 2006). On the whole, it is unlikely that there are sex differences in nociceptive sensitivity, but rather other more important factors at play. Our data provide physiological evidence to support this assertion by demonstrating that the nociceptive tone of the pain-modulation system is not different between males and females.

We also sought to characterize RVM cell response to a non-noxious stimulus, visual light. Light is of interest because it has been shown that ambient visual light evokes a response in a subset of RVM cells in male animals (Martenson et al., 2016). However, RVM cells in female animals were not previously examined. Modulation of RVM cell

activity by light could provide a means for light to engage pain-processing systems. Consequently, basal differences in light response could lead to females being more susceptible to photophobia in chronic pain conditions (Buse et al., 2013). Additionally, because light can lower the threshold to heat-evoked withdrawal (Martenson et al., 2016), sex differences in RVM response to light could have behavioral implications. Thus, stimulus-response curves for RVM cell response to visual light were compared in males and females. We found responses between the sexes were comparable in terms of proportion of cells responding to light, light-evoked response threshold, and magnitude of response to light. Therefore, as with thermal stimulus, RVM photoresponsiveness supports that descending pain-modulation output is similar in the two sexes. This suggests that baseline differences in pain-modulation circuitry likely do not predispose females to photophobia.

RVM cells responded even to dim levels of light as reflected by at least 50% of cells responding to 330 lux, the lowest light intensity tested. These low intensities are well below the threshold shown to activate a nociceptive pathway in rats (5,000 lux) (Okamoto et al., 2010) and much lower than intensities tolerated by human subjects (Kowacs et al., 2001, Woodhouse et al., 1993). Moreover, previous findings show that RVM cell response to light is independent of the trigeminal ganglion (Martenson et al., 2016). Although the simplest mechanism to explain the RVM cell response to light would be that light is acting as a noxious stimulus and evoking a response in RVM cells via the trigeminal sensory system, this seems unlikely. Rather, these findings reflect that light and somatic stimulation likely access RVM via different pathways.

Additional support for the hypothesis that somatic stimuli and light engage RVM through different pathways is that the responses are qualitatively different. In both sexes, we found that RVM ON- and OFF-cell response to light is graded with stimulus intensity. The graded response to light and response to dim levels of light is in contrast to the

effects of somatic stimulation, in which RVM cells respond in an all-or-nothing manner and only respond to suprathreshold stimuli (Cleary et al., 2013). Nociceptive input forms a bi-directional feedback loop with RVM where somatic stimuli act as a bottom-up input to RVM, causing a change in RVM cell activity. Meanwhile RVM has descending projections that modulate sensory transmission neurons, ultimately having an effect on the behavioral response threshold (Fields et al., 1985). This positive feedback loop means that the magnitude of RVM cell response to somatic stimuli is likely to be restricted to a given quantity of action potentials. This is because cell response to noxious stimuli is bound on the lower end since only suprathreshold stimuli evoke a response, and also bound on the upper end since the animal withdraws from the stimulus. Light, on the other hand, may act as a top-down input that can influence the excitability of the pain-modulation system through graded changes in RVM cell activity.

One implication of the characteristics of the RVM response to light is that even dim light could have behavioral effects. Prior work showed that exposure to 18,000 lux, a level representative of full daylight, lowered the thermal withdrawal threshold in male rodents (Martenson et al., 2016). Other light intensities were not tested but since much lower intensities also evoke a pronociceptive response in RVM, dim light or light that is not perceived to be uncomfortable may also increase sensitivity to noxious stimuli. Furthermore, since RVM response to somatic stimuli is enhanced in persistent pain states, interaction of light-related inputs with the somatosensory system could cause allodynia and widespread discomfort. This might be the case in some chronic pain disorders where pain pressure thresholds are lowered during exposure to light (Kowacs et al., 2001).

As with prior work, we saw no effect of noxious heat or visual light on activity of NEUTRAL-cells in either sex, further supporting that NEUTRAL-cells do not have an apparent role in pain-processing (Fields et al., 1985).

In summary, we demonstrated that RVM responses to noxious heat and visual light are similar between the sexes. Additionally we showed that RVM response to light is graded with stimulus intensity. The overall tone and output of the descending painmodulation system is thus comparable in males and females under basal conditions. RVM neurons in males develop enhanced responses to somatic stimuli in models of persistent pain (Carlson et al., 2007, Cleary et al., 2013), whether this is also seen in females has yet to be explored. However, there are sex-related differences in effects of inflammation on other parts of the pain-modulation system (Loyd et al., 2008, Loyd et al., 2006), so RVM response during injury may also differ. Overall, this work provides a foundation for the use of female animals in RVM recording work, but future work will be needed to determine if RVM cells response in females is altered during inflammation and in other pain models. Additional work will also be needed in both sexes to determine if, similar to response to somatic stimuli, RVM cell response to light is enhanced during persistent inflammation.



Figure 4 Recording locations within the RVM

ON-, OFF-, and NEUTRAL-cells were distributed between -1.32 mm and -2.90 mm relative to the interaural line, with the majority of the cells recorded between -1.80 mm and -2.5 mm. Cells in males and females were evenly distributed across sections. There were 29 ON-, 25 OFF-, and 10 NEUTRAL- cells recorded from 49 male animals and 28 ON-, 26 OFF-, and 10 NEUTRAL-cells recorded from 53 female animals.



Figure 5 Representative heat-evoked responses of ON-cell (top), OFF-cell (middle), and NEUTRAL-cell (bottom)

Ratemeter records (1-s bins) show heat-evoked cell responses recorded from RVM in male (left) and female (right) rats with heat onset (H) and paw withdrawal (PW) noted below. ON-cells have a burst of activity while OFF-cells have a pause or suppression of ongoing activity just after heat onset and prior to paw withdrawal. NEUTRAL-cell firing rate does not change in response to noxious stimulation.



Figure 6 Noxious stimulus-related responses and ongoing activity of ON- and OFF-cells in male and female animals

Heat-evoked ON-cell burst (A), as defined by the total number of spikes in the burst, and OFF-cell suppression (B), as defined by the percent firing during paw withdrawal relative to firing prior to heat onset, was not significantly different between males and females. Average ongoing firing rates of ON-cells (C) and OFF-cells (D) during unstimulated periods were also not significantly different between males and females.

Statistical analysis: A. Mann-Whitney test, U=395, p=0.86. B. Mann-Whitney test, U=296, p=0.59. C. Mann-Whitney test, U=324.5, p=0.19. D. Mann-Whitney test, U=311, p=0.80. Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=25-29 cells/group.



Figure 7 Noxious stimulus-related responses and ongoing activity of NEUTRALcells in male and female animals.

A. NEUTRAL-cell activity does not change significantly in response to noxious stimulus, as determined by the percent firing during paw withdrawal relative to firing in the 10-s period prior to heat onset. The percent pre-stimulus firing was not significantly different between males and females (Mann-Whitney test, U=45, p=0.74). B. Average ongoing firing rate of NEUTRAL-cells was not significantly different between males and females (Mann-Whitney different between males and females (Mann-Whitney test, U=45, p=0.74). B. Average ongoing firing rate of NEUTRAL-cells was not significantly different between males and females (Mann-Whitney test, U=45, p=0.74). B. Average Orgona firing rate of NEUTRAL-cells was not significantly different between males and females (Mann-Whitney test, U=32.5, p=0.20). Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=10 cells/sex.



Figure 8 Representative ON-cell (A) and OFF-cell (B) responses to 330 (left) and 16,000 (right) lux

Ratemeter records (1-s bins), with the duration of light stimulus (30 s) below each trace, show examples of light-evoked responses recorded from RVM in male and in female animals during exposure to 330 and 16,000 lux. There is a clear burst in ON-cell activity and suppression of OFF-cell activity during light exposure.



Figure 9 Proportions of RVM ON- and OFF-cells responsive to light and average response thresholds.

There is no significant difference between males and females in the overall proportion of light responsive ON-cells (A) or OFF-cells (B), as defined by the percent of cells that had a positive response at 16,000 lux. There is a significant stimulus-response effect within both cell classes. There is also no significant difference between males and females in the ON-cell (C) or OFF-cell (D) response threshold, based on the average of the lowest intensity required to evoke a positive response from the light-responsive subset of cells. Statistical analysis proportion responsive: A. ON-cells: proportion: Fisher's exact, p=0.76, n= 29M, 28F; stimulus-response effect: Chi-squared test for trend,  $X^2(1)=10.83$ ,

p=0.0010, n= 57. B. OFF-cells: proportion: Fisher's exact, p=0.38, n= 25 M, 26 F;

stimulus-response effect: chi-square test for trend,  $X^2(1) = 8.76$ , p=0.0031, n=51.

Proportion data is displayed as the percent cells with a "positive response" at each

intensity, as defined by a change in at least 50% firing during light exposure relative to the 30-s period prior to light, n=25-29 cells/group.

Statistical analysis thresholds: C. ON-cells: Mann-Whitney test, U=167.5, p=0.19, n=21 *M*, 20 *F*. D. OFF-cells: Mann-Whitney test, U=127.5, p=0.56, n=15M, 19*F*. Thresholds are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=15-21 cells/group.



Figure 10 Light-evoked RVM ON- and OFF-cell response

There is no significant difference in ON-cell burst (A), as defined by total number of spikes, or OFF-cell suppression (B), as defined as percent pre-stimulus firing during light, between male and female animals. There was a significant effect of light intensity on cell response based on the average slope of the stimulus-response curves being significantly different from 0.

Statistical analysis: A. ON-cell burst (sex: t(41)=0.2902, p=0.77; stimulus response: t(42)=4.40, p<0.0001), data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=20-21cells/sex. B. OFF-cell suppression (sex: t(32)=1.992, p=0.055; stimulus-response: t(33)=3.40, p=0.0018), data are displayed as mean +/- 95% CI, n=15-19 cells/sex.
Cell Type	Parameter	Sex Difference?	Stimulus Response?
ON	Firing rate during light	No (t(41)=1.25, p=0.22)	Yes (t(42)=0.467, p<0.0001)
ON	Peak firing rate during light	No (t(41)=1.33, p=0.19)	Yes (t(42)=3.78, p=0.0005)
ON	Light evoked burst duration	No (t(36)=1.42, p=0.16)	Yes (t(37)=2.69, p=0.011)
ON	Latency to burst	No (t(35)=0.68, p=0.50)	No (t(36)=0.77, p=0.45)
OFF	Longest pause duration	No (t(32)=1.10, p=0.28)	Yes (t(33)=2.06, p=0.047)
OFF	Latency to pause	No (t(32)=1.60, p=0.12)	No (t(33)=0.72, p=0.48)

 Table 1
 Additional ON- and OFF-cell light-evoked response parameters

Other parameters that can be used to quantify ON-cell response to light include the firing rate during light exposure, peak firing rate during light, duration of burst (from time of first light-evoked spike to the first 2-s quiet period), and latency to burst (time from light onset to initiation of the burst). Other parameters that can be used to quantify OFF-cell response to light include the longest pause duration and latency to pause (time from light onset to longest pause). These parameters demonstrate that there are no significant differences between the sexes. They also further support that there is a stimulus-dependent effect of light intensity on changes in cell firing.

Note: "Light evoked burst duration" and "Latency to burst" were not calculated for cells that were active at the initiation of a light trial, so some values are missing for these parameters.

### **CHAPTER 3**

MANUSCRIPT #2

# Changes in visual light-evoked responses of brainstem pain-inhibiting neurons in persistent inflammation

Gwen M. Hryciw, Jennifer Wong, and Mary M. Heinricher

#### 3.1 Abstract

Photophobia, a symptom common to multiple chronic pain disorders, may reflect dysfunction in pain-processing circuitry. One mechanism through which light could influence pain is through the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM), the output node of a major pain modulation circuit. RVM is important to both normal and clinical pain, and RVM is plastic, developing enhanced responses to somatic stimuli during injury. In naïve rats, a subset of RVM cells respond to visual light. RVM cell responses to light could be altered in persistent pain and thus contribute to photophobia. Additionally, while it has been shown that there are molecular differences in pain-modulation circuitry between the sexes, few studies have compared the physiological and functional output, i.e. RVM cell activity. In this project, we compared the effects of persistent inflammation on RVM cell light-evoked stimulus-response curves in male and female animals. We found that inflammation shifted the stimulus-response curve of pain-inhibiting OFF-cells such that they are inactivated at a lower threshold and to a greater degree by dim levels of light. There was no effect on pain-facilitating ON-cells. Therefore, in pain states, decreased descending inhibition during light exposure could contribute to photophobia. Additionally, the effects of inflammation are no different in the two sexes, reflecting that despite molecular differences, there are similar endpoints in the pain-modulation system.

#### 3.2 Perspective

Light-induced discomfort is a common complaint among patients with functional pain disorders, but the underlying mechanisms are largely unknown. In this paper we determined that persistent inflammation decreases the threshold at which pain-inhibiting output neurons in RVM are inactivated by light. This could contribute to photophobia in chronic conditions.

#### **3.3 Introduction**

Many chronic pain patients report abnormal sensitivity to multiple sensory modalities, including light. This multisensory hypersensitivity is best documented in migraine, but has also been quantified in patients with fibromyalgia (Main et al., 1997, Woodhouse et al., 1993, Zanchin et al., 2007, Martenson et al., 2016, Gutrecht et al., 1994, Wilbarger et al., 2011, Katz et al., 2016). Dysfunction of central pain-transmission and -modulation circuitry likely accounts for some of the observed photophobia (Digre et al., 2012, Woodhouse et al., 1993, Lovati et al., 2013, Noseda et al., 2017, Martenson et al., 2016). The output node of an important pain-modulating circuit is the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) (Heinricher et al., 2013), which contains a subset of neurons that, in naïve animals, respond to both noxious stimuli and visual light (Martenson et al., 2016, chapter 2). Thus, light could engage pain-processing systems via RVM, and plasticity in RVM could contribute to photophobia in pain states. The purpose of this study was to determine if RVM response to light is enhanced in persistent inflammation.

RVM amplifies or suppresses nociceptive transmission through two classes of neurons, termed "ON-cells" and "OFF-cells", respectively. Activation of pain-facilitating ON-cells and suppression of pain-inhibiting OFF-cells acts as a positive feedback loop (Hernandez et al., 2001, Jinks et al., 2007), facilitating responses to subsequent inputs, and contributing to pathological pain (Heinricher et al., 2009,Ramirez et al., 1989, Heinricher et al., 2013). In models of hindpaw inflammation or nerve injury, ON- and OFF-cells are "sensitized," and demonstrate lowered thresholds for responses to cutaneous stimulation (Cleary et al., 2013, Carlson et al., 2007). Thus it is reasonable to suspect that RVM cell responses may also be sensitized to light during persistent inflammation.

Photophobia is a broadly defined term, but can manifest as discomfort due to light being perceived as excessively bright, as a more generalized sense of discomfort, or exacerbation of existing pain (Digre et al., 2012). Engagement of RVM pain-modulating cells by light could produce widespread changes in nociceptive sensitivity, because individual RVM neurons project diffusely to multiple spinal levels to modulate nociceptive transmission and behavioral sensitivity (Huisman et al., 1981, Skagerberg et al., 1985). In naïve animals, light exposure produces small but measurable thermal hyperalgesia (Martenson et al., 2016). If additional cells are recruited to the photoresponsive population or photoresponsiveness of individual cells is enhanced during persistent inflammation, light could further lower nociceptive thresholds, contributing to widespread hypersensitivity observed in chronic pain conditions.

Despite sex differences in the prevalence and presentation of many functional pain disorders (Fillingim et al., 2009, Buse et al., 2013, Lipton et al., 2001a, Bolay et al., 2015), most pain research in animals has been conducted in males (Mogil et al., 2005). Although we have shown previously (chapter 2) that RVM cell responses to light are similar in males and females, very few *in vivo* recording studies have been performed in RVM of female animals (Craft et al., 2004b, Rojas-Piloni et al., 1998), and the effects of somatic inflammation on activity of RVM cells in females is unknown. However, we know RVM is plastic in males, and that there are molecular and structural differences in painmodulation circuitry between the sexes (Boyer et al., 1998, Loyd et al., 2006). Thus there could also be sexual dimorphisms in RVM plasticity that could predispose females to chronic pain conditions. Therefore, in addition to determining the effects of persistent inflammation on RVM cell responses to light in both sexes, the effects of inflammation on basic firing properties of RVM cells in females were also investigated in order to compare with known effects in males (Cleary et al., 2013).

#### 3.4 Methods

All experiments followed the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health and the Committee for Research and Ethical Issues of the International Association for the Study of Pain, and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the Oregon Health & Science University. Male and female rats from Charles River were used in all experiments.

#### 3.4.1 Inflammation

Age-matched male and female rats weighing less than 315 and 200 g, respectively, were briefly anesthetized with Isoflurane (4%, 4-5 min) and saline (0.1 ml) or CFA (0.1 ml) was injected subcutaneously into the plantar surface of the left hindpaw. Rats were returned to their home cage for 5 to 6 days to model persistent inflammation, since inflammation peaks at this time (Ren, 1999, Ren et al., 1999). Rats were housed in 12 hr light/12 hr dark cycles, and experiments were performed during the light phase. A total of 147 ON- and OFF-cells were recorded from 115 animals (1-3 cells per animal). Twenty-three, 17, 20, and 18 ON-cells were recorded from CFA-treated males, saline-treated males, CFA-treated females, and saline-treated females, respectively. Seventeen, 19, 14, and 20 OFF-cells were recorded from CFA-treated males, saline-treated males, CFA-treated females, and saline-treated females, respectively.

#### 3.4.2 Lightly Anesthetized Preparation

CFA injection did not have a significant effect on weight gain in males or females (Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons, M: t(50)=2.02, p=0.095, n=52; F: t(48)=0.24, p=0.81, n=50, pre-CFA weight not obtained for some animals). Following previously described methods (Martenson et al., 2016, Cleary et al., 2013) animals were anesthetized (4% isoflurane) and a catheter placed in the external jugular vein for

subsequent infusion of methohexital. Animals were then transferred to a stereotaxic apparatus and kept deeply anesthetized while a small craniotomy posterior to the lambda suture was drilled to gain access to RVM. After surgery, anesthesia was adjusted so that the animal withdrew its hindpaw to noxious heat exposure but did not display spontaneous movement. Animals were maintained at this stable anesthetic plane for the duration of the experiment by infusion of methohexital at a constant rate. Heart rate and body temperature were also monitored. Experimental protocol was initiated once the methohexital flow rate was not adjusted for a minimum of 45 min. CFA injection did not have an effect on anesthetic requirement compared to saline injection (F(1, 111)=0.21, p=0.65, n=115). However, as in chapter 2, males required a higher anesthetic rate (F(1,111)=217.6, p<0.0001, n=115, males: 76.91 +/- 8.04 mg/kg/hr, females: 58.51 +/- 4.93 mg/kg/hr) to achieve a similar anesthetic depth (Merkel et al., 1963).

#### 3.4.3 Electrophysiological Recording

All testing was performed in low ambient light conditions (<5 lux) and the pupils were dilated to eliminate differences in amount of light reaching the retina due to pupillary light reflexes. A gold- and platinum-plated stainless-steel microelectrode was placed in the RVM to record cell activity. Signals were amplified and band-pass filtered (Neurolog, Digitimer) then transmitted to a computer for real-time spike detection and monitoring using Spike2 software (Cambridge, UK). EMG activity, heart rate, and paw heat-stimulus temperature were also recorded using Spike2. Identified neurons were classified as ON-, OFF-, or NEUTRAL-cells, as originally defined (Fields et al., 1983a, Martenson et al., 2016, Cleary et al., 2013) based on changes in firing rate in response to noxious heat stimulation. ON-cells are defined by a burst in activity beginning just prior to withdrawal from a noxious stimulus. OFF-cells stop firing just prior to withdrawal.

After isolating and identifying a cell, ongoing activity was recorded for 10 min during which time animals were not stimulated. Stimuli were delivered at approximately 2.5-min intervals, but some trials were delayed in order to capture an ON-cell in a quiet state or an OFF-cell in an active state. Two thermal trials were performed to determine magnitude of cell response to noxious heat and latency to paw withdrawal. Noxious heat was applied by lightly resting a Peltier device (Yale Instruments, New Haven, CT) on the plantar surface of the injected paw, heated at a constant rate of 1.5 °C/s from 35 °C to a maximum of 53 °C. To avoid damage to the paw, the Peltier device was removed when the animal withdrew. Paw withdrawal was determined based on EMG activity.

Next cell responses to light were tested by placing a fiber-optic light source (Dolan-Jenner Fiber-Lite; Dolan-Jenner Industries, Buxborough, MA) 5 cm from the left eye to deliver diffused light at a range of intensities in ascending order (30, 140, 330, 900, and 6,000 lux). Each light trial lasted 30 s with each intensity repeated three times. Heat-evoked withdrawal threshold was determined in two final heat trials to confirm anesthetic stability (Merkel et al., 1963). At the conclusion of each experiment inflammation was confirmed visually and paws were measured with calibrated calipers applied at the widest point across the dorsal-plantar surface.

#### 3.4.4 Histology

At the end of each experiment, the recording site was marked with an electrolytic lesion. Animals were euthanized by methohexital overdose and perfused transcardially with saline and 10% formalin. Brains were removed, and brainstems were sectioned on a Leica CM3050 S cryostat (60 µm sections). RVM lesion was photographed with an Optronics Microfire camera attached to an Olympus BX51 microscope. RVM was defined as the nucleus raphe magnus and adjacent reticular formation medial to the lateral boundary of the pyramids at the level of the facial nucleus (Paxinos et al., 2009).

#### 3.4.5 Data Processing and Analysis

At the conclusion of each experiment, action potential waveforms were individually examined to verify correct waveform sorting. Paw withdrawal latency was defined as the average time from heat onset till paw withdrawal based on EMG activity, and averaged across all trials for each animal.

Ongoing activity was defined as the average firing rate during three 30-s periods, measured every 2.5 min during the 10-min unstimulated, baseline period prior to the first set of heat trials. Heat evoked reflex-related neuronal activity for ON-cells was defined as the total number of spikes in the burst and the duration of the burst, where a "burst" is defined as the first action potential after heat onset until the last action potential that precedes a 2-s quiet period. If a cell was active prior to heat onset, then the number of action potentials in the 3-s period around the paw withdrawal was used to define the number of spikes in the burst and burst duration was not defined for these cells. Heatevoked reflex-related neuronal activity for OFF-cells was defined as the percent suppression quantified by the firing rate in the 3-s period around the paw withdrawal relative to the firing rate 30-s prior to heat onset and as the duration of the pause. A "pause" was considered to begin at the last spike after heat onset that was not followed within 2 s by another action potential and lasted until there were two action potentials within 2 s of each other. Percent pre-stimulus firing was also determined for NEUTRALcells based on the firing rate in the 3-s period around the paw withdrawal compared to the 10-s period preceding heat onset.

Overall a cell was considered to be "light-responsive" if it had a positive response at 6,000 lux. A positive response was one in which cell activity changed by at least 50% during light exposure relative to the 30-s period preceding light onset. In addition, for a response to be considered positive, a minimum of 10 action potentials during the light

stimulus was required of ON-cells, and a minimum of 10 action potentials prior to light stimulus was required of OFF-cells. The percentage of cells that responded within each light intensity was also determined, following the same criteria to define a response as positive. Lower intensities were used in this study as opposed to chapter 2. In chapter 2 it is likely that there was a floor effect of light intensity, because there was nearly maximal activation of ON-cells and suppression of OFF-cells even at the lowest intensity.

For light-responsive cells, stimulus-response curves for light-related firing activity were generated based on the average of three light trials at each intensity. For ON-cells, the total number of action potentials in the burst and duration of the burst were defined following similar criteria to define a "burst" as in heat trials. If an ON-cell was active prior to a light trial, then the total number of spikes during the light trial was used to define the number of spikes in the burst, and burst duration and latency were not quantified for the given trial. For OFF-cells, the percent suppression was defined as the firing rate during light exposure relative to the firing rate in the 30-s period preceding the light trial. The longest OFF-cell pause initiated during light exposure was also defined following similar criteria to define a "pause" as in heat trials. Latency to response was also determined as defined by the time from initiation of the trial to the start of an ON-cell "burst" or OFF-cell active prior to light. For ON-cells, the average firing rate and peak firing rate during light exposure were also determined.

Some cell parameters were highly skewed based on distribution, so these parameters were log transformed to normalize data. Comparisons of ongoing activity and heat-evoked cell activity and paw withdrawal were made using a 2-factor ANOVA with sex and treatment as factors. Proportion of light-responsive cells was compared

between the sexes with Chi-squared test and stimulus-response for proportion of lightresponsive cells was determined using Chi-squared test for trend. Area-under-the-curve was determined for light-evoked response magnitudes and compared using a 2-factor ANOVA with sex and inflammation as factors. If the overall ANOVA revealed significant differences, then Sidak's post-hoc test was used to compare between groups at each intensity. When ANOVA reveal no differences, groups were collapsed to determine stimulus-response relationships. A stimulus-response relationship was considered significant if a one-sample *t*-test determined average slopes were significantly different from zero. For all tests, p<0.05 was considered significant.

#### 3.5 Results

3.5.1 Persistent inflammation following CFA injection does not produce thermal hypersensitivity or change the noxious stimulus-related responses of OFF- or ON-cells in female animals

Animals were treated with an injection of CFA or saline (control) in the hindpaw 5-6 days prior to recording. The injected paw of CFA-treated animals was significantly larger than that of saline-treated animals (F(1,111)=506.9, p<0.0001, n=115; M SAL: 6.71 +/-0.45; M CFA: 8.90+/- 0.48 mm; F SAL: 6.06+/- 0.68; F CFA: 8.78 +/- 0.69 mm) on the day of recording. OFF- and ON-cells were sampled at random and defined based on response to noxious heat stimulation, and then tested for response to a range of light intensities. A total of 76 cells were recorded from 57 males, and 72 cells from 58 females (1-3 cells per animal). In both sexes sampled cells were distributed throughout RVM (Fig 11). Figure 12 shows examples of the noxious heat-related responses that were used to define RVM cells in male and female animals, illustrating that OFF-cells have a "pause" in ongoing activity and ON-cells have a "burst" of activity just prior to nocifensive paw withdrawal. NEUTRAL-cells were not tested in this study because prior work has shown

that none respond to light (Martenson et al., 2016, Chapter 2) and that responses to somatic stimuli are not altered during inflammation (Cleary et al., 2013).

The first goal of this project was to characterize the basic physiology of RVM cells in females with persistent inflammation. This was achieved by defining heat-evoked responses and ongoing cell activity in females, and comparing them to known responses in males. While, it was shown previously that males with persistent inflammation exhibit hyperalgesia to mechanical but not thermal stimuli, and that RVM neurons are sensitized to mechanical, but not thermal stimuli (Cleary et al., 2013, Pinto-Ribeiro et al., 2008, Almarestani et al., 2011), noxious heat is a convenient and reliable way to characterize RVM cells. We found that, as in males, persistent inflammation did not cause thermal hypersensivity in females, and that there was no difference in thermal sensitivity between the sexes, based on a lack of significant differences in noxious heat-evoked paw withdrawal latency (Fig 13). Additionally, there was no effect of inflammation on heat-evoked OFF-cell suppression, as defined by the percent firing during paw withdrawal relative to the period prior to heat onset (Fig 14a), or ON-cell burst, as defined by the total number of action potentials (Fig 14b), in either sex. There was also no effect of inflammation on the ongoing activity of either cell type based on the average firing rate during the baseline periods where no stimulation was applied to the animal (Fig 14c,d). These findings validate the defining features of RVM cells in females and agree with prior work in males (Cleary et al., 2013).

3.5.2 Light-evoked stimulus-response curves of RVM pain-inhibiting OFF-cell are shifted in animals with persistent inflammation

The second goal of this paper was to determine if light-evoked stimulus-response curves for RVM neurons are altered in a CFA model of persistent inflammation. Figure 15 shows example responses recorded simultaneously from a light-responsive OFF-cell

and ON-cell in a male CFA-treated rat during exposure to 30, 140, and 6,000 lux. As illustrated, light-responsive OFF-cells exhibit a characteristic "pause" in ongoing activity, while light-responsive ON-cells exhibit a characteristic "burst" in activity. A change in firing rate of at least 50% during exposure to light relative to the 30-s pre-stimulus activity was used to define a trial as a positive response. There was a significant response from some RVM cells even at 30 lux (Fig 15), the lowest intensity tested, indicating there may have been a floor effect of light intensity.

First, we compared the overall proportion of photoresponsive cells to determine if additional cells are recruited to the light-responsive population during persistent inflammation. There was no significant effect of treatment on overall proportion of photoresponsive OFF-cells (Fig 16a), based on the proportion of cells that were responsive to 6,000 lux, the highest intensity tested. Thus it does not appear that additional OFF-cells are recruited to the light-responsive subset of RVM cells during persistent inflammation. Next, we compared the proportion of cells responsive to lower light intensities to determine if the threshold to evoke a response was altered. We found that stimulus-response curves for the proportion of OFF-cells were left-shifted in animals with inflammation (Fig 16a). Further analysis revealed that in animals with persistent inflammation, there was a significant increase in the proportion of cells that responded to 140 lux, indicating that OFF-cell activity is inhibited by lower light intensities during inflammation.

Next, among light-responsive RVM cells, we established stimulus-response curves for light-evoked changes in cell firing to determine if persistent inflammation alters the magnitude of light-evoked activity. Inflammation had a significant effect on light-evoked OFF-cell suppression such that stimulus-response curves for percent firing during light relative to the 30-s prior to light onset were left-shifted (Fig 16b). Follow up testing

revealed 140 lux induced significantly more OFF-cell suppression in inflamed animals compared to control animals. However, inflammation did not have an effect on the duration of longest pause during light exposure or time from light onset to pause (latency to pause) (Table 2).

3.5.3 RVM pain-facilitating ON-cell response to light is not altered in animals with persistent inflammation

Stimulus-response curves for RVM ON-cells were not altered by persistent inflammation. We found that there was no significant effect of inflammation on the proportion of ON-cells that responded to light at any intensity (Fig 17a). ON-cell burst during light, as defined by the total number of spikes in the burst (Fig 17b), by the duration of burst, by the peak firing rate during light, or by latency to a burst (Table 2) was not significantly different in inflamed compared to control animals.

In summary, these results show that during persistent inflammation the light-evoked response threshold of OFF-cells is decreased in both sexes and dim levels of light evoke greater OFF-cell suppression, but that ON-cell response to light is unaltered. Additionally, we showed previously that RVM cells in naïve male and female animals have similar light-evoked stimulus-response curves (Chapter 2). In CFA-treated animals, sex did not have a significant effect on light-evoked responses of OFF- or ON-cells (Figures 16 and 17, respectively), showing that persistent inflammation does not have different effects in the two sexes. As with prior work in naïve animals (Chapter 2), RVM cell responses to light were also found to be graded in the present study.

#### 3.6 Discussion

The primary goal of this study was to determine the effects of persistent inflammation on RVM cell light-evoked stimulus-response curves in male and female animals.

However, we first looked at ongoing and heat-evoked RVM cell activity to validate that, as in male animals, there is no effect of persistent inflammation on response to noxious heat in females. We found that inflammation did not have an effect on ongoing or heat-evoked responses in female animals. This is consistent with findings in males showing that with persistent inflammation RVM cells do not have altered responses to thermal stimuli, but in contrast develop more robust responses to mechanical stimuli (Cleary et al., 2013, Montagne-Clavel et al., 1994, Pinto-Ribeiro et al., 2008). Since RVM ON- and OFF-cells are defined by their responses to noxious heat, it was important to validate baseline responses of RVM cells in females.

These observations on RVM cell activity are consistent with our finding that CFAtreatment did not have an effect on the thermal withdrawal threshold 5-6 days post-CFA, and are also in agreement with previous findings that, in male animals, thermal hyperalgesia begins to resolve within the first 24 hours (Cleary et al., 2013, Pinto-Ribeiro et al., 2008, Guan et al., 2003, Ren et al., 1996, Wei et al., 1999, Okun et al., 2011, Almarestani et al., 2011). Although thermal hyperalgesia peaks at 24 hours, some, but not all, studies in awake behaving animals find it to be present for longer (Wang et al., 2006, Ren et al., 1992, Wei et al., 1999). However, many studies in awake behaving animals use radiant heat with a logarithmic rise in temperature, whereas we used contact heat with a slow linear ramp. The former has been shown to be more likely to detect thermal hyperalgesia (McMullan et al., 2004, Yeomans et al., 1996, Baba et al., 1999). Therefore, it is possible that we missed thermal hyperalgesia and any sex-related differences in thermal hyperalgesia. However, there are conflicting results regarding sex differences in CFA-induced hyperalgesia (Wang et al., 2006, Loyd et al., 2008, Craft et al., 2013, Cook et al., 2005, Cook et al., 2006, Bradshaw et al., 2000). Results are influenced by factors such as time course, nociceptive testing assay, dependent variable

measured, and animal strain (Cook et al., 2006, Mogil et al., 2000, Cook et al., 2005). Overall, differences in both acute nociceptive sensitivity and in hyperalgesia during persistent inflammation are likely nonexistent or minor (Mogil et al., 2005).

Despite similar behavioral endpoints, there are qualitative differences in painmodulation circuitry between the sexes that could underlie observed discrepancies in prevalence and presentation of chronic pain disorders. For example, periaqueductal gray (PAG) input to RVM is critical to pain-modulation, and during CFA-induced inflammation there is greater PAG-RVM output activated in males than in females (Loyd et al., 2008). Importantly, this study also found that there are no differences in CFA-induced hyperalgesia between the two sexes, making the behavioral relevance of greater PAG-RVM output activation by inflammation unclear. However, our observation that RVM activity is similar in males and females, together with findings that there are no differences in behavioral hyperalgesia following CFA (Wang et al., 2006, Loyd et al., 2008, Cook et al., 2006, Craft et al., 2013), indicates that molecular and anatomical differences do not necessarily lead to differences in output of the pain-modulation system or behavioral endpoint.

After showing that RVM ongoing activity and heat-evoked responses in females with persistent inflammation are similar to those in males, we tested the effects of inflammation on RVM responses to light, a non-noxious stimulus. As with prior work in uninjured animals (chapter 2), we found ON- and OFF-cell responses to light were similar between the sexes. Furthermore, inflammation did not alter the overall proportion of cells responsive to bright light or the light-evoked changes in firing during exposure to bright light. This indicates that inflammation neither recruits additional cells to the photoresponsive population nor changes the maximum light-evoked response.

However, within the light-responsive population, inflammation led to an increase in the proportion of OFF-cells responding to light at 140 lux and OFF-cell firing in inflamed animals was more suppressed by 140 lux. This parallels the effect of persistent inflammation on response to mechanical stimulation (Cleary et al., 2013), in that there are no differences observed at higher intensities or in the maximum evoked-response but the response to lower intensities is left-shifted. Additionally, within the light-responsive population, there were no effects of inflammation on ON-cell response to lower light intensities. This latter finding is in contrast to the effects of persistent inflammation on mechanically-evoked responses, in which the ON-cell response curve is also left-shifted (Cleary et al., 2013, Montagne-Clavel et al., 1994). Therefore, the brightness threshold at which descending inhibition is removed is lowered based on the shift in the OFF-cell stimulus-response curve, while light-evoked descending facilitation may not be altered.

Importantly, prior work showed response to mechanical stimulation was only altered during stimulation of the inflamed paw and not during stimulation of the contralateral paw (Cleary et al., 2013). Therefore, enhanced response to somatosensory input may only be detected when ascending input from the injury is active. Although sensitization to visual light was limited to OFF-cells, enhanced response in the absence of activating ascending input from the injury site, supports our suspicion that light engages RVM through a pathway separate from the somatosensory system (Martenson et al., 2016, chapter 2). We suspect that the effects of light on RVM activity may be through a "top-down" mechanism by engagement of higher relays that ultimately effect RVM output, because RVM response to light appears to be independent of the primary sensory system (Martenson et al., 2016). Rather, prior work showed that RVM response to light

is dependent on the olivary pretectal nucleus (OPt), which mediates the pupillary lightreflex and contains light-responsive neurons (Clarke et al., 1980).

Another important difference between somatic- and light-evoked responses of RVM cells is that in both naïve and inflamed animals, responses to light are graded, whereas response to somatic stimulation is all-or-none in naïve animals and graded in animals with persistent inflammation (Cleary et al., 2013). The changes observed in RVM cell responses to mechanical stimuli are in the non-noxious range where cells in naïve animals do not respond. In contrast, even at the lowest light intensity (30 lux) there was a response from a subset of cells within all groups. Therefore, response to light is qualitatively different from response to somatic stimulation in the naïve state so it is possible that this limits our ability to obverse plasticity in the light response.

Previously it was shown that in naïve animals, exposure to 18,000 lux slightly lowers thermal withdrawal threshold (Martenson et al., 2016). However, the current study and previous findings (chapter 2) show that RVM cells respond to light intensities much lower than 18,000 lux, with over 50% of cells responding to 140 lux. Therefore, effects of other light intensities on behavioral responses will need to be determined in future work. While the effect of inflammation on OFF-cells was small, the amount of light required to observe this effect is equivalent to a very dimly lit room, so, in injury, very low levels of light could diminish descending inhibition and have behavioral consequences. Thus, future behavioral experiments in injured animals will be especially important to determine if light concurrent with nociceptive stimuli can act in an additive or even multiplicative fashion since RVM neurons are also sensitized to mechanical stimuli. Thus, engagement of RVM by light could further tip the balance in an already sensitized pain-modulation system causing normal somatosensory afferent traffic to be perceived as aversive or even painful, resulting in general somatic discomfort and widespread pain.

In this project, we chose the hindpaw model because, while we believe engagement of light is not dependent on the trigeminal sensory system, models in which the head and orofacial tissues are sensitized could confound potential trigeminal engagement. While hindpaw inflammation results in modest plasticity in OFF-cell response to light, future work will be needed to determine if the light-evoked stimulus-response curve is shifted in other pain models, such as migraine or temporomandibular joint disorder. These disorders may be accompanied by a greater degree of central sensitization, as indicated by hypersensitivity at locations remote from the injury Edelmayer et al., 2009, Chai et al., 2012, Ambalavanar et al., 2006), so they may exhibit a more robust effect.

In conclusion, this project shows that the threshold for light-evoked RVM cell response is equivalent to a dimly lit room and that inflammation further decreases the threshold at which light-stimulation reduces descending inhibition.



Figure 11 Recording locations within the RVM

OFF- and ON-cells were distributed between -1.32 mm and -2.90 mm relative to the interaural line, with the majority of the cells recorded between -1.80 mm and -2.5 mm. There were 23 ON- and 17 OFF-cells recorded from 28 CFA-treated males, 17 ON- and 19 OFF-cells recorded from 29 control males, 20 ON- and 14 OFF-cells recorded from 30 CFA-treated females, and 18 ON- and 20 OFF-cells recorded from 28 control females. VII: facial nucleus.



Figure 12 Representative heat-evoked responses of OFF-cells (upper) and ON-cells (lower)

Ratemeter records (1-s bins) show heat-evoked cell responses recorded from RVM in male (left) and female (right) rats, with heat onset (H) and paw withdrawal (PW). OFF-cells have a pause in ongoing activity while ON-cells have a burst of activity just after heat onset and prior to paw withdrawal. OFF-cell response can be quantified based on the percent suppression relative to the ongoing firing rate prior to stimulus onset and ON-cell response can be defined based on the total number of action potentials in the burst. Additionally, the duration of a response and latency to a response can be quantified.



Figure 13 Thermal withdrawal latency

There was no significant effect of treatment (F(1,111)=0.016, p=0.90), sex (F(1,111)=0.60, p=0.44), or sex X treatment interaction (F(1,111)=0.94, p=0.34) on noxious heat-evoked paw withdrawal latency. Data are displayed as mean +/- 95% CI, n=28-30 cells/group.



Figure 14 Ongoing activity and heat-evoked responses of RVM OFF-and ON-cells

A. *OFF-cell suppression.* OFF-cell response, as defined by the percent suppression of firing during paw withdrawal relative to the firing prior to heat onset, revealed that there was no significant effect of treatment (F(1,66)=2.08, p=0.15), sex (F(1,66)=0.41, p=0.53), or sex X treatment interaction (F(1,66)=0.60, p=0.44). Data are displayed as mean +/- 95% Cl, n=14-20 cells/group.

B. *ON-cell burst.* ON-cell response, as defined by the total number of action potentials in the "burst", revealed that there was no significant effect of treatment (F(1,74)=0.59, p=0.45), sex (F(1,74)=1.88, p=0.17), or sex X treatment interaction (F(1,74)=0.085, p=0.77). Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=17-23 cells/group.

C. *OFF-cell ongoing activity*. There was no significant effect of treatment (F(1,66)=2.04, p=0.16), sex (F(1,66)=2.98, p=0.089), or sex X treatment interaction (F(1,66)=0.000094,

p=0.99) on OFF-cell ongoing firing rate based on average firing during the unstimulated, baseline period. Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=14-20 cells/group.

D. ON-cell ongoing activity. There was no significant effect of treatment (F(1, 74)=0.079,

p=0.78), sex (F(1,74)=0.77, p=0.38), or sex X treatment interaction (F(1,74)=0.44,

p=0.51) on ON-cell ongoing firing rate based on average firing during the unstimulated,

baseline period. Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=17-23 cells/group.



Figure 15 Representative RVM OFF-cell (top) and ON-cell (bottom) responses to visual light

Ratemeter records (1-s bins) from an OFF- and ON-cell recorded simultaneously in RVM in a male CFA-treated animal, with 30-s light stimulus denoted below the traces. Examples show clear light-evoked suppression of OFF-cell activity and activation of ON-cell during exposure to light at 30, 140, and 6000 lux.



Figure 16 RVM OFF-cell response to light is enhanced during persistent inflammation

A. Percent light-responsive OFF-cells. There was no significant difference between groups in the overall proportion of light responsive OFF-cells based on the proportion of cells that responded to 6,000 lux ( $X^2(3)=2.60$ , p=0.46). However, there was a significant effect of inflammation on the proportion of OFF-cells that responded to 140 lux (Fisher's exact, p=0.0043). Additionally, there was a significant stimulus-response effect of light intensity on proportion of responsive cells (chi-squared test for trend, SAL: ( $X^2(1)=21.71$ , p<0.0001; CFA: ( $X^2(1)=20.19$ , p<0.0001). Data are displayed as the percent of cells with

a positive response at each light intensity, as defined by a change in firing rate of at least 50% compared to pre-stimulus firing, n=14-20 cells/group.

B. Light-evoked OFF-cell suppression. There was a significant effect of treatment (F(1,49)=6.64, p=0.013), but no significant effect of sex (F(1,49)=0.99, p=0.32), or group X intensity interaction (F(1,49)=0.044, p=0.83) on OFF-cell suppression, as defined by the percent firing during light exposure compared to firing in the 30-s prior to light. Follow-up testing revealed a significant effect of treatment at 140 lux (Sidak's multiple comparisons, p=0.0027). Additionally, there was a significant stimulus-response effect of light intensity on proportion of responsive cells (CFA: t(24)=7.96, p<0.0001; SAL: t(27)=8.70, p<0.0001). Data are displayed as mean +/- SEM, n=12-16 cells/group.



Figure 17 RVM ON-cell response to light is not altered in persistent inflammation A. Percent light-responsive ON-cells. There was no significant difference between groups in the overall proportion of light-responsive ON-cells based on the proportion of cells that responded to 6,000 lux ( $X^2(3)=2.31$ , p=0.51). There was a significant stimulusresponse effect of light intensity on proportion of responsive cells (chi-squared test for trend,  $X^2(1)=21.67$ , p<0.0001). Data are displayed as the percent of cells with a positive response at each light intensity, as defined by a change in firing rate of at least 50% compared to pre-stimulus firing, n=17-23 cells/group.

B. Total spikes in light-evoked ON-cell burst. There was no significant effect of treatment (F(1,45)=0.47, p=0.50), sex (F(1, 45)=2.89, p=0.096), or sex X treatment interaction (F(1,45)=1.28, p=0.26) on total spikes in the ON-cell "burst". Light intensity had a significant stimulus-response effect on ON-cell burst (t(48)=9.18, p<0.0001). Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=12-13 cells/group.

Cell Type	Parameter	Effect of sex?	Effect of treatment?	Stimulus Response Effect?
OFF	Longest pause duration	No (F(1,49)=2.47, p=0.12)	No (F(1,49)=1.54, p=0.22)	Yes (t(52)=10.45, p<0.0001)
OFF	Latency to pause	No (F(1,49)=1.08, p=0.30)	No (F(1,49)=1.83, p=0.18)	Yes (t(52)=6.70, p<0.0001)
ON	Firing rate during light	No (F(1,45)=0.21, p=0.65)	No (F(1,45)=1.19, p=0.28)	Yes (t(48)=8.76, p<0.0001)
ON	Peak firing rate during light	No (F(1,45)=0.048, p=0.83)	No (F(1,45)=0.17, p=0.69)	Yes (t(48)=7.47, p<0.0001)
ON	Light evoked burst duration	No (F(1,44)=0.02, p=0.88)	No (F(1,44)=3.70, p=0.061)	Yes (t(47)=9.37, p<0.0001)
ON	Latency to burst	No (F(1,44)=0.0069, p=0.93)	No (F(1,44)=1.87, p=0.18)	Yes (t(47)=3.69, p=0.0006)

#### Table 2Additional ON- and OFF-cell light-evoked response parameters

Other parameters that can be used to quantify ON-cell response to light include the firing rate during light exposure, peak firing rate during light, duration of burst (from time of first light-evoked spike to the first 2-sec quiet period), and latency to burst (time from light onset to initiation of the burst). Other parameters that can be used to quantify OFF-cell response to light include the longest pause duration and latency to pause (time from light onset to longest pause). These parameters demonstrate that there are no significant differences between the sexes and no significant effect of treatment among the light-responsive subset of cells. They also further support that there is a stimulus-dependent effect of light intensity on cell response.

Note: "Light evoked burst duration" and "Latency to burst" were not calculated for cells that were active at the initiation of a light trial, so some values are missing for these parameters.

## CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

#### 4.1 Key findings

- These studies establish a model for using female rats in electrophysiology studies utilizing a lightly anesthetized preparation.
- RVM cell responses during noxious heat-evoked withdrawal and light exposure are similar in male and female rats, showing that output from the pain-modulating system is similar in the two sexes.
- Persistent inflammation does not produce thermal hyperalgesia or change the heat-evoked responses of RVM cells in females, similar to previous findings in males.
- Very dim levels of visual light can activate ON-cells and suppress OFF-cells.
   Furthermore, light-evoked responses of ON- and OFF-cells are graded with stimulus intensity in both the naïve and inflamed state. This is in contrast to noxious somatic stimulus-evoked responses, which are all-or-nothing.
- In both sexes, persistent inflammation enhances the responsiveness of OFFcells to dim light, but does not change the responsiveness of ON-cells.

#### 4.2 Overview

The RVM is the output node of a major pain-modulation circuit and exerts bidirectional control of nociceptive transmission via projections to the dorsal horn and trigeminal nucleus. There are two classes of cells in RVM that are responsible for this modulation, pain-facilitating ON-cells and pain-inhibiting OFF-cells. These two classes of cells are defined based on their changes in firing during nociceptive withdrawal; ON-cells have a burst in activity while OFF-cells pause any ongoing activity. While the physiology of RVM has been well-characterized in male animals, there is very little known about the behavior of these cells in female animals. There are anatomical and molecular

differences in pain-modulation circuitry between males and females, but it is unknown if these differences result in differential output from RVM. Therefore, one goal of this thesis was to determine whether the physiological responses of RVM neurons are similar in males and females.

Interestingly, these pain-modulating neurons respond to visual light. Therefore, engagement of RVM by light could modulate nociception. A second goal of this thesis was to develop stimulus-response curves to further characterize RVM response to light. Additionally, during persistent inflammation or prolonged injury, RVM neurons are sensitized and develop enhanced responses to somatic stimulation. While the effects of inflammation on the RVM response to light are unknown, a more robust response from photoresponsive cells or recruitment of cells to the photoresponsive population could contribute to photophobia. Thus, a third goal of this thesis was to determine the effects of persistent inflammation on RVM cell light-evoked stimulus-response curves.

4.2.1 The output of the pain modulation system is comparable in males and females

Historically, female animals have been excluded from basic pain research. There are many reasons researchers may have chosen to use males over females, including concerns that female animals would increase variability in data or assumptions that findings from studies in male animals could be extrapolated to females. These ideas are now thought to be unfounded, and females have been shown to be no more variable than males (Mogil et al., 2005, Becker et al., 2016, Beery et al., 2011, Prendergast et al., 2014). However, there are demonstrated sexual dimorphisms in pain circuitry, and thus findings from males should not simply be applied to females. In this thesis, I consider the possibility that sexual dimorphisms exist in RVM cell activity, the physiological output of the pain-modulation system.

In chapter 2, I demonstrated that there are no differences in RVM cell ongoing activity and heat-evoked responses in males and females under basal conditions. The

ongoing activity of RVM cells sets the threshold for behavioral withdrawal to noxious stimuli (Heinricher et al., 1989). Therefore, my finding that the ongoing firing rate is similar between the sexes is consistent with my behavioral findings, and those of others, showing that there are no sex-related differences in nociceptive sensitivity (Loyd et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2006, Boyer et al., 1998, Bradshaw et al., 2000, Terner et al., 2005, Bobeck et al., 2009, Tershner et al., 2000, Doyle et al., 2018, Doyle et al., 2018, Cook et al., 2006). During ON-cell burst and OFF-cell pause, there is a state of hypersensitivity, meaning that subsequent stimuli can evoke a response at a lower threshold (Ramirez et al., 1989). Thus, similar magnitudes of ON-cell burst and OFF-cell pause in males and females, also supports females are no more likely than males to be sensitized by repeated noxious stimulation (Lomas et al., 2005).

Chapter 2 also showed that light-evoked responses are not different in the two sexes. In a subset of RVM cells, light can inhibit pain-inhibiting OFF-cells and activate pain-facilitating ON-cells. Thus light could lower nociceptive thresholds by modulating the ongoing activity of RVM cells. If more cells were responsive to light or if the lightresponsive subset of cells had a more robust response in one sex than the other, there would likely be behavioral implications. For example, one possibility is that light could have different effects on nociceptive sensitivity in the sexes, and light conditions might be another factor contributing to the variability in the results of sex difference studies on nociceptive sensitivity. However, my results show it is unlikely that light is a factor influencing sex differences in nociceptive sensitivity.

Many chronic pain conditions are more prevalent in females (Fillingim et al., 2009, Buse et al., 2013, Lipton et al., 2001a, Bolay et al., 2015, Unruh, 1996) and animal studies show there are differences in PAG output to RVM during persistent inflammation (Loyd et al., 2008, Loyd et al., 2006). Thus, sexual dimorphisms in pain-modulation circuitry during inflammation could explain why chronic pain disorders are more

prevalent in females. Therefore, while there were no differences found in the basal state, it was plausible that the effects of inflammation would be different between the two sexes. However, in chapter 3, I found OFF-cell response to light was enhanced in both sexes, while ongoing activity and heat-evoked responses were not altered during persistent inflammation. In summary, there were no significant differences in the effect of inflammation on ON- and OFF-cell activity in RVM in male and female animals based on ongoing activity, or heat- and light-evoked responses.

These findings indicate that it is unlikely that there are sex differences in RVM output during persistent pain that contribute to sex-related disparities in chronic pain conditions. A caveat to this finding is that the only somatic stimulus utilized was noxious heat. Previous work has shown that in lightly anesthetized male animals, thermal hyperalgesia begins to resolve after the first 24 hours, and heat-evoked responses are not altered during persistent inflammation (Cleary et al., 2013, Guan et al., 2003, Ren et al., 1996, Wei et al., 1999, Okun et al., 2011). Even so, it was important to validate that, during persistent inflammation, females do not display thermal hyperalgesia or altered RVM cell responses to heat, as this would indicate there are likely different pain-transmission or modulation mechanisms at play. Testing for mechanically-evoked RVM cell response, which is known to be enhanced in males during persistent inflammation (Cleary et al., 2013), is needed to be able to draw a full conclusion about the effects of inflammation on RVM cell activity in females.

Interestingly, it was previously reported that there are more PAG-RVM projection neurons activated during CFA-induced inflammation in males than in females (Loyd et al., 2006). Importantly, that study also found that there are no differences in CFAinduced hyperalgesia between the two sexes, making the behavioral relevance of greater PAG-RVM output activation by inflammation unclear. However, my findings imply that this difference in PAG activation does not result in an overall difference in the

physiological output of the system, as measured by RVM cell activity, and behavior. Since RVM activity helps set the nociceptive "tone", these findings explain why there are no sex-related differences in hyperalgesia in this model.

#### 4.2.2 Light as a "top-down" input to RVM

How light reaches the RVM is still being elucidated. However, our lab showed previously that light-evoked responses are independent of primary sensory pathways (Martenson et al., 2016). Thus it is unlikely that light is simply acting as a noxious stimulus, and more probable that light acts as a "top-down" input to RVM (Fig 18). My findings support this by showing that very dim levels of light can evoke a response from RVM. These dim levels of light (140-330 lux) are much lower than the threshold to evoke a response from the trigeminal system (5,000 lux) (Okamoto et al., 2010).

My findings further support that light and somatic stimuli invoke separate pathways based on the qualitatively different RVM cell responses to light in comparison to somatic stimulation, in that response to light, even under basal conditions, is graded with stimulus intensity. While, nociceptive input is the primary drive that evokes the characteristic ON-cell burst and OFF-cell pause, forming a positive feedback loop that promotes responses to subsequent, potentially damaging stimuli (Heinricher et al., 1989, Ramirez et al., 1989), this feedback loop is modulated by input from higher structures. This input can shift the balance between pain-facilitation and pain-inhibition depending on biological needs (Martenson et al., 2009, Foo et al., 2005, Ren et al., 2002, Roeder et al., 2016, Calejesan et al., 2000, McGaraughty et al., 2002, Wagner et al., 2013, Sandkühler et al., 1984, Basbaum et al., 1984). My findings imply that light may act similarly to emotional and cognitive factors to influence the "tone" of the pain-modulation system. Light acting as a "top-down" input is a likely mechanism to explain lowered nociceptive thresholds in rats during light exposure (Martenson et al., 2016).
One structure that might be an important relay for light input to RVM is the olivary pretectal nucleus (OPt). OPt is involved in the pupillary light-reflex and contains a subset of neurons that are light-responsive (Clarke et al., 1980, Hattar et al., 2002) due to afferent projections from intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells (ipRGC's). Importantly, activity of ipRGC's is implicated in photophobia (Noseda et al., 2010, Johnson et al., 2010, Semo et al., 2010). Previously, our lab demonstrated that inactivating OPt blocks light-evoked responses in RVM (Martenson et al., 2016). Furthermore, OPt response to light is graded with light intensity (Clarke et al., 1985, Clarke et al., 1981), and OPt projects to the PAG (Klooster et al., 1995a, Klooster et al., 1995b). One possibility is that OPt is a relay for light-related input to engage RVM in a graded fashion. More work will be needed though to determine exactly how signals from OPt reach RVM.

## 4.2.3 Persistent inflammation enhances the responsiveness of OFF-cells to light

During persistent inflammation, RVM output is shifted to a net inhibitory state, which is likely driven by output from OFF-cells that suppress nociceptive transmission through projections to the dorsal horn (Cleary et al., 2013, De Felice et al., 2011, Gonçalves et al., 2007, Wei et al., 1999). In chapter 3, I showed that persistent hindpaw inflammation lowers the threshold at which RVM OFF-cells respond to light, and that OFF-cells are more greatly suppressed by dim light compared to uninjured controls. This change in threshold and sensitized response of OFF-cells could mediate behavioral hypersensitivity since lowered OFF-cell activity decreases nociceptive thresholds (Heinricher et al., 1989, Ramirez et al., 1989), and an individual RVM neuron can have diffuse projections, terminating in multiple levels of the dorsal horn, as well as the trigeminal nucleus (Lovick et al., 1983, Huisman et al., 1981, Basbaum et al., 1976). Further, plasticity in the pain-modulation system is important in pathological pain (Cleary et al., 2013, Porreca et al., 2001). Thus, light-evoked modulation of RVM descending

control could have widespread effects on pain transmission, and enhanced OFF-cell response to light could contribute to symptoms of photophobia.

#### 4.3 Technical considerations

## 4.3.1 Anesthesia

All experiments were performed in lightly anesthetized animals. While anesthesia is a potential confounding factor, the use of spinal reflex as a measure of nociception has been well established in descending modulation studies. Moreover, RVM neurons with similar physiological characteristics have been studied in barbiturate-, ketamine- and halothane-anesthetized rats as well as decerebrate-unanesthetized and awake rats (McGaraughty et al., 1993b, McGaraughty et al., 1993a, Morgan et al., 1992, Clarke et al., 1994, Foo et al., 2005, Leung et al., 1999, Roeder et al., 2016, Calejesan et al., 2000, McGaraughty et al., 2002, Basbaum et al., 1984). Additionally pharmacological manipulations of RVM in anesthetized animals have outcomes similar to those in unanesthetized animals (Wagner et al., 2013, Sandkühler et al., 1984, Hurley et al., 2000, Smith et al., 1997, Kovelowski et al., 2000, Edelmayer et al., 2009, Porreca et al., 2001). Therefore the relationship between RVM descending modulation and nociceptive transmission is likely preserved in the anesthetized model.

Previously, female rats were not used in electrophysiology studies in our lab, and their use has been very limited in general. Thus anesthesia has an additional potential confound, because maintaining a stable and equivalent anesthetic plane in both sexes is critical to recording studies in RVM. Because male and female rats were age-matched, there was a significant difference in body size between the sexes, and thus different anesthetic rates were needed. Furthermore, male rats have more visceral fat than females, which can affect anesthetic metabolism (Leshner et al., 1973, Morimoto et al., 2003), so anesthetic requirements could not simply be scaled down by body weight. Therefore, anesthetic rates that induced a similar anesthetic depth in males and females

based on muscular tone and reflex withdrawal were established (Merkel et al., 1963). These parameters are highly correlated with physiological parameters that indicate overall anesthetic depth, and are commonly used as indicators of anesthetic depth, so are a valid method to establish an anesthetic plane in females that would be comparable to that established for males (Arras et al., 2001, Gustafsson et al., 1996, von Dincklage et al., 2010, Shafer et al., 2008, Terayama et al., 2000, Guan et al., 2002).

# 4.3.2 Consideration of estrous cycle effects

There has been speculation that the lack of observed sex differences in animal studies of nociceptive sensitivity is due to not controlling for estrous cycle phase, and that grouping females from all phases masks the effect of hormones (Craft, 2003, Greenspan et al., 2007). If this theory is correct, it implies that there are specific stages of the estrous cycle in which females are more sensitive. However acute nociceptive testing shows that there is no more variability within females than males, meaning it is unlikely that there is a "highly sensitive" phase of the cycle that is being hidden by "less sensitive" phases (Mogil et al., 2005, Becker et al., 2016, Beery et al., 2011, Prendergast et al., 2014). Furthermore, data from studies comparing nociceptive sensitivity in different phases of the cycle have inconsistent results, and often show no differences between the phases (Berkley et al., 2006, Mogil et al., 2010, Loyd et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2006, Ji et al., 2006, Bradshaw et al., 2000, Terner et al., 2005). One reason for the variability in results is that there are multiple ways to classify and compare estrous cycle status, and it could also be that changes or fluctuations in hormone levels are the mediating factor (Mogil et al., 2000). In any case, there are major differences in the estrous cycle of a rat and human, so effects of cycle in animal work cannot simply be extrapolated to explain the human condition (Greenspan et al., 2007).

Despite a lack of sex differences in nociceptive sensitivity, anatomical and molecular differences in pain-modulating circuitry have been documented. Therefore, it is possible

that there are circuit-based sexual dimorphisms associated with the estrous cycle. Nevertheless, studies on the effectiveness of morphine, which acts on descending painmodulation circuitry, report differences in multiple directions (Loyd et al., 2008, Terner et al., 2005, Mogil et al., 2000, Stoffel et al., 2003). This again suggests that it is unlikely that there are clear differences in pain-modulation across the different phases.

Based on the lack of consistency in current literature and confounding factors, powering a study to compare between all phases of the estrous cycle is likely unwarranted unless initial results indicate there may be an effect of cycle (Mogil, 2016, Becker et al., 2005, Greenspan et al., 2007). Thus, in this thesis, estrous cycle for each rat was recorded at the end of each experiment by vaginal swab, and classified as either proestrus, estrus, or diestrus (Goldman et al., 2007). My initial results from estrous cycle data indicated that there were no estrous cycle differences in ongoing RVM cell activity or heat- and light-evoked activity (Fig 19 and 20, Appendix A). Ongoing response of RVM neurons sets the nociceptive withdrawal threshold, and the stimulus-evoked activity corresponds to time of increased sensitivity (Ramirez et al., 1989, Heinricher et al., 1989). Thus, these results are consistent with findings described above that there are no differences in nociceptive sensitivity between the different phases of the cycle. The studies in this thesis were therefore not powered to draw comparisons between the cycle phases.

#### 4.4 Future directions and clinical implications

## 4.4.1 Establish light-evoked stimulus-response curves in RVM cells in other pain models

In these studies, hindpaw inflammation served as a model of persistent peripheral pain to determine effects on the photoresponsiveness of RVM cells. CFA was used to induce inflammation because it produces inflammation lasting at least two weeks, and is a standard model of persistent pain (Ren, 1999). Animals develop edema at the injection site and display hypersensitivity to external stimuli and spontaneous pain-related

behaviors (Stein et al., 1988). It would be interesting to determine the effects of CFAinduced orofacial inflammation on RVM cell light-evoked stimulus-response curves. There are important organizational differences between the trigeminal sensory system and the dorsal horn (Bereiter et al., 2000), and, in contrast to hindpaw inflammation, unilateral orofacial inflammation induces contralateral and widespread hypersensitivity that is mediated by RVM (Ambalavanar et al., 2006, Chai et al., 2012, Sugiyo et al., 2005, Shimizu et al., 2009). Additionally, it would be important to investigate the lightevoked stimulus-response curve in a migraine model. These studies would help determine if greater degrees of hypersensitivity or involvement of the trigeminal sensory system result in greater enhancement of the photoresponsiveness of RVM neurons. *4.4.2 Determine the effects of light on nociceptive sensitivity* 

Previous work demonstrated that light moderately lowers the thermal nociceptive withdrawal threshold (Martenson et al., 2016). However, the only light intensity tested in that study was 18,000 lux, and my data demonstrate that much lower light intensities evoke a response from RVM. Therefore stimulus-response curves should be established for exposure to a range of light intensities on noxious-stimulus evoked withdrawal during light. Additionally, studies are needed in which the RVM is blocked to determine if the RVM directly mediates this light-induced hyperalgesia. Behavioral work in models of persistent inflammation will also be important to establish how light interacts with already established hyperalgesia.

## 4.4.3 Clinical implications

Photophobia is a common complaint in functional pain disorders such as fibromyalgia and migraine. However it is a poorly understood condition, with limited treatment options. In this thesis I further characterized a mechanism through which the pain-modulation system could contribute to photophobia. Importantly, my findings show that pain-inhibiting OFF-cells are suppressed at a lower light level, and to a greater

extent during persistent peripheral inflammation. These data suggest that, in pain states, decreased descending inhibition of pain during light exposure could contribute to photophobia. My results suggest that light may act through a "top-down" mechanism to modulate the activity of RVM neurons. Since RVM modulates nociceptive transmission at the dorsal horn and trigeminal nucleus, these changes in RVM cell activity may have direct and widespread consequences for somatic sensitivity. Furthermore, in chronic pain disorders, central sensitization, or changes in the central nervous system that contribute to hypersensitivity, are hard to test for and quantify in clinic. My finding that there is dysfunction in central descending control pathways in persistent pain suggests that sensitivity to light could be a potential index of dysfunction in pain-modulation circuitry.

Additionally, chronic pain disorders are more prevalent in females, despite similar nociceptive sensitivity in the two sexes in healthy individuals. Thus, it is likely that there are differences in pain-processing that make females more vulnerable to developing chronic pain. However, my results show that RVM activity, the output of a major pain-modulation system, is similar in the two sexes under basal conditions and in persistent inflammation. Thus, molecular differences in descending pain-modulation from PAG-RVM circuitry likely do not contribute significantly to observed sex differences in clinical conditions.

### 4.5 Summary of findings

In this thesis, I demonstrated that the physiological output of the descending painmodulation system has similar properties between male and female animals under basal conditions and in persistent inflammation. Additionally, I established light-evoked stimulus-response curves in RVM that show that RVM cell response to light is graded. Furthermore, in animals with persistent inflammation, the stimulus-response curve of OFF-cells is left-shifted, indicating that light dampens descending pain-inhibition at a

lower threshold and to a greater extent at dim levels of light. Continuing to elucidate how the pain-modulation circuitry responds to different stimuli and under different conditions in both males and females will lead to improved understanding of pain conditions.



Figure 18 Visual light as a "top-down" input to RVM

Visual light likely exerts a modulatory influence on RVM cell activity, which in turn controls nociceptive transmission through pain facilitatory ON-cells and pain-inhibitory OFF-cells. This mechanism could provide a means for RVM to contribute to photophobia. Dashed lines represent indirect connections.

# REFERENCES

- Abols, I.A., & Basbaum, A.I. (1981). Afferent connections of the rostral medulla of the cat: a neural substrate for midbrain-medullary interactions in the modulation of pain. *J Comp Neurol*, 201, 285-297.
- Adams, W.H., Digre, K.B., Patel, B.C., Anderson, R.L., Warner, J.E., & Katz, B.J. (2006).
  The evaluation of light sensitivity in benign essential blepharospasm. *Am J Ophthalmol*, 142(1), 82-87.
- Aggleton, J.P. (1993). The contribution of the amygdala to normal and abnormal emotional states. *Trends Neurosci*, 16(8), 328-333.
- Alabas, O., Tashani, O., Tabasam, G., & Johnson, M. (2012). Gender role affects experimental pain responses: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Eur J Pain*, 16(9), 1211-1223.
- Aloisi, A.M. (2003). Gonadal hormones and sex differences in pain reactivity. *Clin J Pain*, 19(3), 168-174.
- Aloisi, A.M., Albonetti, M.E., & Carli, G. (1994). Sex differences in the behavioural response to persistent pain in rats. *Neurosci Lett*, 179(1-2), 79-82.
- Aloisi, A.M., Sacerdote, P., Albonetti, M.E., & Carli, G. (1995). Sex-related effects on behaviour and β-endorphin of different intensities of formalin pain in rats. *Brain Res*, 699(2), 242-249.
- Ambalavanar, R., Moutanni, A., & Dessem, D. (2006). Inflammation of craniofacial muscle induces widespread mechanical allodynia. *Neurosci Lett*, 399(3), 249-254.
- Arras, M., Autenried, P., Rettich, A., Spaeni, D., & Rülicke, T.J. (2001). Optimization of intraperitoneal injection anesthesia in mice: drugs, dosages, adverse effects, and anesthesia depth. *Comp Med*, 51(5), 443-456.

- Baad-Hansen, L., Poulsen, H.F., Jensen, H.M., & Svensson, P. (2005). Lack of sex differences in modulation of experimental intraoral pain by diffuse noxious inhibitory controls (DNIC). *Pain*, 116(3), 359-365.
- Baba, H., Doubell, T.P., & Woolf, C.J. (1999). Peripheral inflammation facilitates Aβ fiber-mediated synaptic input to the substantia gelatinosa of the adult rat spinal cord. *J Neurosci*, 19(2), 859-867.
- Bair, E., Brownstein, N.C., Ohrbach, R., Greenspan, J.D., Dubner, R., Fillingim, R.B.,
  Maixner, W., Smith, S.B., Diatchenko, L., Gonzalez, Y., Gordon, S.M., Lim, P.F.,
  Ribeiro-Dasilva, M., Dampier, D., Knott, C., & Slade, G.D. (2013). Study protocol,
  sample characteristics, and loss to follow-up: the OPPERA prospective cohort
  study. *J Pain*, 14(12 Suppl), T2-19.
- Barbaro, N.M., Heinricher, M.M., & Fields, H.L. (1986). Putative pain modulating neurons in the rostral ventral medulla: reflex-related activity predicts effects of morphine. *Brain Res*, 366, 203-210.
- Barbaro, N.M., Heinricher, M.M., & Fields, H.L. (1989). Putative nociceptive modulatory neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla of the rat display highly correlated firing patterns. *Somatosens Mot Res,* 6, 413-425.
- Barrett, A.C., Smith, E.S., & Picker, M.J. (2003). Capsaicin-induced hyperalgesia and μopioid-induced antihyperalgesia in male and female Fischer 344 rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther,* 307(1), 237-245.
- Bartley, E.J., & Fillingim, R.B. (2013). Sex differences in pain: a brief review of clinical and experimental findings. *Br J Anaesth,* 111(1), 52-58.
- Basbaum, A.I., Clanton, C.H., & Fields, H.L. (1976). Opiate and stimulus-produced analgesia: functional anatomy of a medullospinal pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 73(12), 4685-4688.

- Basbaum, A.I., Clanton, C.H., & Fields, H.L. (1978). Three bulbospinal pathways from the rostral medulla of the cat: an autoradiographic study of pain modulating systems. *J Comp Neurol*, 178, 209-224.
- Basbaum, A.I., & Fields, H.L. (1979). The origin of descending pathways in the dorsolateral funiculus of the spinal cord of the cat and rat: further studies on the anatomy of pain modulation. *J Comp Neurol*, 187, 513-531.
- Basbaum, A.I., & Fields, H.L. (1984). Endogenous pain control systems: brainstem spinal pathways and endorphin circuitry. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 7, 309-338.
- Becker, J.B., Arnold, A.P., Berkley, K.J., Blaustein, J.D., Eckel, L.A., Hampson, E.,
  Herman, J.P., Marts, S., Sadee, W., Steiner, M., Taylor, J., & Young, E. (2005).
  Strategies and methods for research on sex differences in brain and behavior. *Endocrinology*, 146(4), 1650-1673.
- Becker, J.B., Prendergast, B.J., & Liang, J.W. (2016). Female rats are not more variable than male rats: a meta-analysis of neuroscience studies. *Biol Sex Differ*, 7, 34.
- Bedard, G.B.V., Reid, G.J., McGrath, P.J., Chambers, C.T. (1997). *Pain Res Manag,*Coping and self-medication in a community sample of junior high school
  students. 2(3), 151-156.
- Bederson, J.B., Fields, H.L., & Barbaro, N.M. (1990). Hyperalgesia during naloxoneprecipitated withdrawal from morphine is associated with increased on-cell activity in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Somatosens Mot Res*, 7, 185-203.
- Beery, A.K., & Zucker, I. (2011). Sex bias in neuroscience and biomedical research. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev,* 35(3), 565-572.
- Beitz, A.J. (1982a). The nuclei of origin of brainstem serotonergic projections to the rodent spinal trigeminal nucleus. *Neurosci Lett,* 32, 223-228.
- Beitz, A.J. (1982b). The sites of origin of brain stem neurotensin and serotonin projections to the rodent nucleus raphe magnus. *J Neurosci*, 2, 829-842.

- Beitz, A.J., Mullett, M.A., & Weiner, L.L. (1983). The periaqueductal gray projections to the rat spinal trigeminal, raphe magnus, gigantocellular pars alpha and paragigantocellular nuclei arise from separate neurons. *Brain Res*, 288, 307-314.
- Bereiter, D.A., Hirata, H., & Hu, J.W. (2000). Trigeminal subnucleus caudalis: beyond homologies with the spinal dorsal horn. *Pain*, 88(3), 221-224.
- Berglund, L.A., & Simpkins, J.W. (1988). Alterations in brain opiate receptor mechanisms on proestrous afternoon. *Neuroendocrinology*, 48(4), 394-400.
- Berkley, K.J. (1992). Vive la difference! *Trends Neurosci*, 15(9), 331-332.
- Berkley, K.J. (1995). From psychophysics to the clinic?: Take caution. *Pain Forum*, 4(4), 225-227.
- Berkley, K.J., Zalcman, S.S., & Simon, V.R. (2006). Sex and gender differences in pain and inflammation: a rapidly maturing field. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 291(2), R241-244.
- Bernal, S.A., Morgan, M.M., & Craft, R.M. (2007). PAG mu opioid receptor activation underlies sex differences in morphine antinociception. *Behav Brain Res*, 177(1), 126-133.
- Bobeck, E.N., McNeal, A.L., & Morgan, M.M. (2009). Drug dependent sex-differences in periaqueducatal gray mediated antinociception in the rat. *Pain*, 147(1-3), 210-216.
- Bohnen, N., Twijnstra, A., Wijnen, G., & Jolles, J. (1991). Tolerance for light and sound of patients with persistent post-concussional symptoms 6 months after mild head injury. *J Neurol*, 238(8), 443-446.
- Bolay, H., Ozge, A., Saginc, P., Orekici, G., Uluduz, D., Yalin, O., Siva, A., Bicakci, S.,
  Karakurum, B., & Ozturk, M. (2015). Gender influences headache characteristics
  with increasing age in migraine patients. *Cephalalgia*, 35(9), 792-800.

- Bossini, L., Fagiolini, A., Valdagno, M., Padula, L., Hofkens, T., & Castrogiovanni, P. (2009). Photosensitivity in panic disorder. *Depress Anxiety*, 26(1), E34-36.
- Boyer, J.S., Morgan, M.M., & Craft, R.M. (1998). Microinjection of morphine into the rostral ventromedial medulla produces greater antinociception in male compared to female rats. *Brain Res*, 796(1-2), 315-318.
- Bradshaw, H., Miller, J., Ling, Q., Malsnee, K., & Ruda, M.A. (2000). Sex differences and phases of the estrous cycle alter the response of spinal cord dynorphin neurons to peripheral inflammation and hyperalgesia. *Pain*, 85(1-2), 93-99.
- Brown, T.M., Gias, C., Hatori, M., Keding, S.R., Semo, M., Coffey, P.J., Gigg, J.,
  Piggins, H.D., Panda, S., & Lucas, R.J. (2010). Melanopsin contributions to
  irradiance coding in the thalamo-cortical visual system. *PLoS Biol*, 8(12).
- Burstein, R., Jakubowski, M., Garcia-Nicas, E., Kainz, V., Bajwa, Z., Hargreaves, R., Becerra, L., & Borsook, D. (2010). Thalamic sensitization transforms localized pain into widespread allodynia. *Annals of neurology*, 68(1), 81-91.
- Burstein, R., Yamamura, H., Malick, A., & Strassman, A.M. (1998). Chemical stimulation of the intracranial dura induces enhanced responses to facial stimulation in brain stem trigeminal neurons. *J Neurophysiol*, 79(2), 964-982.
- Buse, D.C., Loder, E.W., Gorman, J.A., Stewart, W.F., Reed, M.L., Fanning, K.M.,
  Serrano, D., & Lipton, R.B. (2013). Sex differences in the prevalence, symptoms, and associated features of migraine, probable migraine and other severe headache: results of the American Migraine Prevalence and Prevention (AMPP)
  Study. *Headache*, 53(8), 1278-1299.
- Calejesan, A.A., Kim, S.J., & Zhuo, M. (2000). Descending facilitatory modulation of a behavioral nociceptive response by stimulation in the adult rat anterior cingulate cortex. *Eur J Pain*, 4(1), 83-96.

- Carlson, J.D., Maire, J.J., Martenson, M.E., & Heinricher, M.M. (2007). Sensitization of pain-modulating neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla after peripheral nerve injury. *J Neurosci*, 27(48), 13222-13231.
- Cepeda, M.S., Africano, J.M., Manrique, A.M., Fragoso, W., & Carr, D.B. (2002). The combination of low dose of naloxone and morphine in PCA does not decrease opioid requirements in the postoperative period. *Pain*, 96(1-2), 73-79.
- Cepeda, M.S., & Carr, D.B. (2003). Women experience more pain and require more morphine than men to achieve a similar degree of analgesia. *Anesth Analg*, 97(5), 1464-1468.
- Chai, B., Guo, W., Wei, F., Dubner, R., & Ren, K. (2012). Trigeminal-Rostral
   Ventromedial Medulla circuitry is involved in orofacial hyperalgesia contralateral
   to tissue injury. *Mol Pain*, 8, 78.
- Chesler, E.J., Wilson, S.G., Lariviere, W.R., Rodriguez-Zas, S.L., & Mogil, J.S. (2002). Influences of laboratory environment on behavior. *Nat Neurosci*, 5(11), 1101-1102.
- Clarke, R., & Ikeda, H. (1980). Localization of neurons in the pre-tectum mediating the pupil reflex in the rat. *J Physiol-London*, 301(APR), 22.
- Clarke, R., & Ikeda, H. (1981). Pupillary response and luminance and darkness detector neurones in the pretectum of the rat. *Pathophysiology of the Visual System*.
- Clarke, R.J., & Ikeda, H. (1985). Luminance and darkness detectors in the olivary and posterior pretectal nuclei and their relationship to the pupillary light reflex in the rat. *Exp Brain Res*, 57(2), 224-232.
- Clarke, R.W., Morgan, M.M., & Heinricher, M.M. (1994). Identification of nocifensor reflex-related neurons in the rostroventromedial medulla of decerebrated rats. *Brain Res*, 636, 169-174.

- Clayton, J.A., & Collins, F.S. (2014). Policy: NIH to balance sex in cell and animal studies. *Nature*, 509(7500), 282-283.
- Cleary, D.R., & Heinricher, M.M. (2013). Adaptations in responsiveness of brainstem pain-modulating neurons in acute compared with chronic inflammation. *Pain*, 154(0), 845-855.
- Cook, C.D., & Moore, K.I. (2006). Effects of sex, hindpaw injection site and stimulus modality on nociceptive sensitivity in arthritic rats. *Physiol Behav*, 87(3), 552-562.
- Cook, C.D., & Nickerson, M.D. (2005). Nociceptive sensitivity and opioid antinociception and antihyperalgesia in Freund's adjuvant-induced arthritic male and female rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 313(1), 449-459.
- Cooper, A.D., & Josephs, K.A. (2009). Photophobia, visual hallucinations, and REM sleep behavior disorder in progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration: a prospective study. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 15(1), 59-61.
- Coyle, D.E., Sehlhorst, C.S., & Mascari, C. (1995). Female rats are more susceptible to the development of neuropathic pain using the partial sciatic nerve ligation (PSNL) model. *Neurosci Lett*, 186(2-3), 135-138.
- Craft, R.M. (2003). Sex differences in opioid analgesia: "from mouse to man". *Clin J Pain*, 19(3), 175-186.
- Craft, R.M., Kandasamy, R., & Davis, S.M. (2013). Sex differences in anti-allodynic, antihyperalgesic and anti-edema effects of  $\Delta^9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol in the rat. *Pain*, 154(9), 1709-1717.
- Craft, R.M., Mogil, J.S., & Aloisi, A.M. (2004a). Sex differences in pain and analgesia: the role of gonadal hormones. *Eur J Pain*, 8(5), 397-411.
- Craft, R.M., Morgan, M.M., & Lane, D.A. (2004b). Oestradiol dampens reflex-related activity of on- and off-cells in the rostral ventromedial medulla of female rats. *Neuroscience*, 125(4), 1061-1068.

- De Felice, M., Sanoja, R., Wang, R., Vera-Portocarrero, L., Oyarzo, J., King, T.,
  Ossipov, M.H., Vanderah, T.W., Lai, J., Dussor, G.O., Fields, H.L., Price, T.J., &
  Porreca, F. (2011). Engagement of descending inhibition from the rostral
  ventromedial medulla protects against chronic neuropathic pain. *Pain*, 152(12), 2701-2709.
- Defrin, R., Shramm, L., & Eli, I. (2009). Gender role expectations of pain is associated with pain tolerance limit but not with pain threshold. *Pain*, 145(1-2), 230-236.
- Digre, K.B., & Brennan, K.C. (2012). Shedding light on photophobia. *J Neuroophthalmol*, 32(1), 68-81.
- Doyle, H.H., Eidson, L.N., Sinkiewicz, D.M., & Murphy, A.Z. (2017). Sex Differences in Microglia Activity within the Periaqueductal Gray of the Rat: A Potential Mechanism Driving the Dimorphic Effects of Morphine. *J Neurosci*, 37(12), 3202-3214.
- Doyle, H.H., & Murphy, A.Z. (2018). Sex-dependent influences of morphine and its metabolites on pain sensitivity in the rat. *Physiol Behav*, 187, 32-41.
- Drummond, P.D., & Woodhouse, A. (1993). Painful stimulation of the forehead increases photophobia in migraine sufferers. *Cephalalgia*, 13(5), 321-324.
- Edelmayer, R.M., Vanderah, T.W., Majuta, L., Zhang, E.T., Fioravanti, B., De Felice, M., Chichorro, J.G., Ossipov, M.H., King, T., Lai, J., Kori, S.H., Nelsen, A.C., Cannon, K.E., Heinricher, M.M., & Porreca, F. (2009). Medullary pain facilitating neurons mediate allodynia in headache-related pain. *Annals of neurology*, 65(2), 184-193.
- Edwards, R.R., Bingham, C.O., 3rd, Bathon, J., & Haythornthwaite, J.A. (2006). Catastrophizing and pain in arthritis, fibromyalgia, and other rheumatic diseases. *Arthritis Rheum*, 55(2), 325-332.

- Eliot, L., & Richardson, S.S. (2016). Sex in context: limitations of animal studies for addressing human sex/gender neurobehavioral health disparities. *J Neurosci,* 36(47), 11823-11830.
- Fields, H.L. (1992). Is there a facilitating component to central pain modulation? *APS Journal*, 1, 71-78.
- Fields, H.L., Barbaro, N.M., & Heinricher, M.M. (1988). Brain stem neuronal circuitry underlying the antinociceptive action of opiates. *Prog Brain Res*, 77, 245-257.
- Fields, H.L., & Basbaum, A.I. (1999). Central nervous mechanisms of pain modulation.In Wall, P. D. & Melzack, R. (Eds.), *Textbook of Pain* (4th ed., pp. 309-329).Edinburgh: Churchill Livingston.
- Fields, H.L., Bry, J., Hentall, I., & Zorman, G. (1983a). The activity of neurons in the rostral medulla of the rat during withdrawal from noxious heat. *J Neurosci*, 3, 2545-2552.
- Fields, H.L., & Heinricher, M.M. (1985). Anatomy and physiology of a nociceptive modulatory system. *Philos Trans of the R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 308, 361-374.
- Fields, H.L., Malick, A., & Burstein, R. (1995). Dorsal horn projection targets of ON and OFF cells in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurophysiol*, 74, 1742-1759.
- Fields, H.L., Vanegas, H., Hentall, I.D., & Zorman, G. (1983b). Evidence that disinhibition of brain stem neurones contributes to morphine analgesia. *Nature*, 306, 684-686.

Fields, R.D. (2014). NIH policy: Mandate goes too far. Nature, 510, 340.

- Fillingim, R.B., King, C.D., Ribeiro-Dasilva, M.C., Rahim-Williams, B., & Riley, J.L., 3rd. (2009). Sex, gender, and pain: a review of recent clinical and experimental findings. *J Pain*, 10(5), 447-485.
- Fillingim, R.B., & Maixner, W. (1995). Gender differences in the responses to noxious stimuli. *Pain Forum*, 4(4), 209-221.

- Fillingim, R.B., Maixner, W., Kincaid, S., & Silva, S. (1998). Sex differences in temporal summation but not sensory-discriminative processing of thermal pain. *Pain*, 75(1), 121-127.
- Floyd, N.S., Price, J.L., Ferry, A.T., Keay, K.A., & Bandler, R. (2000). Orbitomedial prefrontal cortical projections to distinct longitudinal columns of the periaqueductal gray in the rat. *J Comp Neurol*, 422(4), 556-578.
- Foo, H., & Mason, P. (2005). Movement-related discharge of ventromedial medullary neurons. *J Neurophysiol*, 93(2), 873-883.
- Freeman, M.D., Nystrom, A., & Centeno, C. (2009). Chronic whiplash and central sensitization; an evaluation of the role of a myofascial trigger points in pain modulation. J Brachial Plex Peripher Nerve Inj, 4, 2.
- Fritschy, J.M., Lyons, W.E., Mullen, C.A., Kosofsky, B.E., Molliver, M.E., & Grzanna, R. (1987). Distribution of locus coeruleus axons in the rat spinal cord: a combined anterograde transport and immunohistochemical study. *Brain Res*, 437(1), 176-180.
- Gaumond, I., Arsenault, P., & Marchand, S. (2002). The role of sex hormones on formalin-induced nociceptive responses. *Brain Res*, 958(1), 139-145.
- Gerhardt, A., Eich, W., Treede, R.D., & Tesarz, J. (2017). Conditioned pain modulation in patients with nonspecific chronic back pain with chronic local pain, chronic widespread pain, and fibromyalgia. *Pain,* 158(3), 430-439.
- Girard-Tremblay, L., Auclair, V., Daigle, K., Léonard, G., Whittingstall, K., & Goffaux, P. (2014). Sex Differences in the Neural Representation of Pain Unpleasantness. *The Journal of Pain*, 15(8), 867-877.
- Goldman, J.M., Murr, A.S., & Cooper, R.L. (2007). The rodent estrous cycle: characterization of vaginal cytology and its utility in toxicological studies. *Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol*, 80(2), 84-97.

- Gonçalves, L., Almeida, A., & Pertovaara, A. (2007). Pronociceptive changes in response properties of rostroventromedial medullary neurons in a rat model of peripheral neuropathy. *Eur J Neurosci,* 26(8), 2188-2195.
- Granot, M., Weissman-Fogel, I., Crispel, Y., Pud, D., Granovsky, Y., Sprecher, E., & Yarnitsky, D. (2008). Determinants of endogenous analgesia magnitude in a diffuse noxious inhibitory control (DNIC) paradigm: do conditioning stimulus painfulness, gender and personality variables matter? *Pain*, 136(1-2), 142-149.
- Greenspan, J., & Traub, R. (2013). Gender differences in pain and its relief. In
  McMahon, S., Koltzenburg, M., Tracey, I., & Turk, D. C. (Eds.), *Melzack's Textbook of Pain,* 6th ed (pp. 221-231). Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders.
- Greenspan, J.D., Craft, R.M., LeResche, L., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Berkley, K.J., Fillingim,
  R.B., Gold, M.S., Holdcroft, A., Lautenbacher, S., Mayer, E.A., Mogil, J.S.,
  Murphy, A.Z., Traub, R.J., Consensus Working Group of the Sex, Gender, & Pain
  SIG of the IASP. (2007). Studying sex and gender differences in pain and
  analgesia: a consensus report. *Pain*, 132 Suppl 1, S26-45.
- Greenspan, J.D., Slade, G.D., Bair, E., Dubner, R., Fillingim, R.B., Ohrbach, R., Knott,
  C., Mulkey, F., Rothwell, R., & Maixner, W. (2011). Pain sensitivity risk factors for
  chronic TMD: descriptive data and empirically identified domains from the
  OPPERA case control study. *J Pain*, 12(11 Suppl), T61-74.
- Guan, Y., Guo, W., Zou, S.-P., Dubner, R., & Ren, K. (2003). Inflammation-induced upregulation of AMPA receptor subunit expression in brain stem pain modulatory circuitry. *Pain*, 104(1-2), 401-413.
- Guan, Y., Terayama, R., Dubner, R., & Ren, K. (2002). Plasticity in excitatory amino acid receptor-mediated descending pain modulation after inflammation. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 300(2), 513-520.

- Gustafsson, L.L., Ebling, W.F., Osaki, E., & Stanski, D.R. (1996). Quantitation of depth of thiopental anesthesia in the rat. *Anesthesiology*, 84(2), 415-427.
- Gutrecht, J.A., & Lessell, I.M. (1994). Photophobia in trigeminal neuralgia. *J Neuroophthalmol,* 14(2), 122-123.
- Harasawa, I., Fields, H.L., & Meng, I.D. (2000). Delta opioid receptor mediated actions in the rostral ventromedial medulla on tail flick latency and nociceptive modulatory neurons. *Pain*, 85, 255-262.
- Hattar, S., Kumar, M., Park, A., Tong, P., Tung, J., Yau, K.W., & Berson, D.M. (2006).Central projections of melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cells in the mouse.*J Comp Neurol*, 497(3), 326-349.
- Hattar, S., Liao, H.W., Takao, M., Berson, D.M., & Yau, K.W. (2002). Melanopsincontaining retinal ganglion cells: architecture, projections, and intrinsic photosensitivity. *Science*, 295(5557), 1065-1070.
- Heinricher, M.M., Barbaro, N.M., & Fields, H.L. (1989). Putative nociceptive modulating neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla of the rat: firing of on- and off-cells is related to nociceptive responsiveness. *Somatosens Mot Res*, 6, 427-439.
- Heinricher, M.M., & Fields, H.L. (2013). Central nervous system mechanisms of pain modulation. In McMahon, S., Koltzenburg, M., Tracey, I., & Turk, D. C. (Eds.), *Wall and Melzack's Textbook of Pain, 6th ed* (pp. 129-142). Philadelphia: Elsevier.
- Heinricher, M.M., & Kaplan, H.J. (1991). GABA-mediated inhibition in rostral ventromedial medulla: role in nociceptive modulation in the lightly anesthetized rat. *Pain*, 47, 105-113.
- Heinricher, M.M., Maire, J.J., Lee, D., Nalwalk, J.W., & Hough, L.B. (2010a).
  Physiological basis for inhibition of morphine and improgan antinociception by CC12, a P450 epoxygenase inhibitor. *J Neurophysiol*, 104(6), 3222-3230.

- Heinricher, M.M., Martenson, M.E., Nalwalk, J.W., & Hough, L.B. (2010b). Neural basis for improgan antinociception. *Neuroscience*, 169, 1414-1420.
- Heinricher, M.M., McGaraughty, S., & Farr, D.A. (1999). The role of excitatory amino acid transmission within the rostral ventromedial medulla in the antinociceptive actions of systemically administered morphine. *Pain*, 81, 57-65.
- Heinricher, M.M., Morgan, M.M., & Fields, H.L. (1992). Direct and indirect actions of morphine on medullary neurons that modulate nociception. *Neuroscience*, 48, 533-543.
- Heinricher, M.M., Morgan, M.M., Tortorici, V., & Fields, H.L. (1994). Disinhibition of offcells and antinociception produced by an opioid action within the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Neuroscience*, 63, 279-288.
- Heinricher, M.M., Tavares, I., Leith, J.L., & Lumb, B.M. (2009). Descending control of nociception: specificity, recruitment and plasticity. *Brain Res Rev*, 60, 214-225.
- Hernandez, N., & Vanegas, H. (2001). Encoding of noxious stimulus intensity by putative pain modulating neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla and by simultaneously recorded nociceptive neurons in the spinal dorsal horn of rats. *Pain*, 91(3), 307-315.
- Holroyd, K.A., Drew, J.B., Cottrell, C.K., Romanek, K.M., & Heh, V. (2007). Impaired functioning and quality of life in severe migraine: the role of catastrophizing and associated symptoms. *Cephalalgia*, 27(10), 1156-1165.
- Huisman, A.M., Kuypers, H.G., & Verburgh, C.A. (1981). Quantitative differences in collateralization of the descending spinal pathways from red nucleus and other brain stem cell groups in rat as demonstrated with the multiple fluorescent retrograde tracer technique. *Brain Res*, 209(2), 271-286.

- Hurley, R.W., & Hammond, D.L. (2000). The analgesic effects of supraspinal  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptor agonists are potentiated during persistent inflammation. *J Neurosci,* 20(3), 1249-1259.
- Ip, H.Y., Abrishami, A., Peng, P.W., Wong, J., & Chung, F. (2009). Predictors of postoperative pain and analgesic consumption: a qualitative systematic review. *Anesthesiology*, 111(3), 657-677.
- Isacson, D., & Bingefors, K. (2002). Attitudes towards drugs--a survey in the general population. *Pharm World Sci*, 24(3), 104-110.
- Isong, U., Gansky, S.A., & Plesh, O. (2008). Temporomandibular joint and muscle disorder-type pain in U.S. adults: the National Health Interview Survey. J Orofac Pain, 22(4), 317-322.
- Jensen, I., Nygren, A., Gamberale, F., Goldie, I., & Westerholm, P. (1994). Coping with long-term musculoskeletal pain and its consequences: is gender a factor? *Pain*, 57(2), 167-172.
- Jerath, N.U., Reddy, C., Freeman, W.D., Jerath, A.U., & Brown, R.D. (2011). Gender differences in presenting signs and symptoms of acute ischemic stroke: a population-based study. *Gend Med*, 8(5), 312-319.
- Ji, Y., Murphy, A.Z., & Traub, R.J. (2006). Sex differences in morphine-induced analgesia of visceral pain are supraspinally and peripherally mediated. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 291(2), R307-314.
- Ji, Y., Murphy, A.Z., & Traub, R.J. (2007). Estrogen modulation of morphine analgesia of visceral pain in female rats is supraspinally and peripherally mediated. *J Pain*, 8(6), 494-502.
- Jinks, S.L., Carstens, E.E., & Antognini, J.F. (2007). Glutamate receptor blockade in the rostral ventromedial medulla reduces the force of multisegmental motor responses to supramaximal noxious stimuli. *Neurosci Lett*, 426(3), 175-180.

- Johnson, J., Wu, V., Donovan, M., Majumdar, S., Renteria, R.C., Porco, T., Van Gelder,
  R.N., & Copenhagen, D.R. (2010). Melanopsin-dependent light avoidance in
  neonatal mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(40), 17374-17378.
- Jones, C.J., Rakovski, C., Rutledge, D., & Gutierrez, A. (2015). A comparison of women with fibromyalgia syndrome to criterion fitness standards: a pilot study. *J Aging Phys Act*, 23(1), 103-111.
- Joseph, E.K., & Levine, J.D. (2003a). Sexual dimorphism for protein kinase cε signaling in a rat model of vincristine-induced painful peripheral neuropathy. *Neuroscience*, 119(3), 831-838.
- Joseph, E.K., & Levine, J.D. (2003b). Sexual dimorphism in the contribution of protein kinase C isoforms to nociception in the streptozotocin diabetic rat. *Neuroscience*, 120(4), 907-913.
- Joseph, E.K., Parada, C.A., & Levine, J.D. (2003c). Hyperalgesic priming in the rat demonstrates marked sexual dimorphism. *Pain,* 105(1-2), 143-150.
- Judd, R.A., Digre, K.B., Warner, J.E.A., Schulman, S.F., & Katz, B.J. (2007). Shedding light on blepharospasm: a patient–researcher partnership approach to assessment of photophobia and impact on activities of daily living. *Neuroophthalmology*, 31(3), 49-54.
- Kallai, I., Barke, A., & Voss, U. (2004). The effects of experimenter characteristics on pain reports in women and men. *Pain,* 112(1-2), 142-147.
- Kaplan, H., & Fields, H.L. (1991). Hyperalgesia during acute opioid abstinence: evidence for a nociceptive facilitating function of the rostral ventromedial medulla. J *Neurosci*, 11, 1433-1439.
- Katz, B.J., & Digre, K.B. (2016). Diagnosis, pathophysiology, and treatment of photophobia. Surv Ophthalmol, 61(4), 466-477.

- Kawasaki, A. (2012). Photophobia in neuro-ophthalmological conditions. *Acta Ophthalmol,* 90(s249).
- Keay, K.A., Feil, K., Gordon, B.D., Herbert, H., & Bandler, R. (1997). Spinal afferents to functionally distinct periaqueductal gray columns in the rat: an anterograde and retrograde tracing study. *J Comp Neurol*, 385(2), 207-229.
- Keefe, F.J., Lefebvre, J.C., Egert, J.R., Affleck, G., Sullivan, M.J., & Caldwell, D.S.
  (2000). The relationship of gender to pain, pain behavior, and disability in osteoarthritis patients: the role of catastrophizing. *Pain*, 87(3), 325-334.
- Kellner, M., Wiedemann, K., & Zihl, J. (1997). Illumination perception in photophobic patients suffering from panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 96(1), 72-74.
- Kest, B., Wilson, S.G., & Mogil, J.S. (1999). Sex differences in supraspinal morphine analgesia are dependent on genotype. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 289(3), 1370-1375.
- Kincaid, W., Neubert, M.J., Xu, M., Kim, C.J., & Heinricher, M.M. (2006). Role for medullary pain facilitating neurons in secondary thermal hyperalgesia. J *Neurophysiol*, 95, 33-41.
- Klooster, J., Vrensen, G.F., Muller, L.J., & van der Want, J.J. (1995a). Efferent projections of the olivary pretectal nucleus in the albino rat subserving the pupillary light reflex and related reflexes. A light microscopic tracing study. *Brain Res*, 688(1-2), 34-46.
- Klooster, J., Vrensen, G.F., & van der Want, J.J. (1995b). Efferent synaptic organization of the olivary pretectal nucleus in the albino rat. An ultrastructural tracing study. *Brain Res*, 688(1-2), 47-55.
- Kong, J., Tu, P.C., Zyloney, C., & Su, T.P. (2010). Intrinsic functional connectivity of the periaqueductal gray, a resting fMRI study. *Behav Brain Res*, 211(2), 215-219.

- Kovelowski, C.J., Ossipov, M.H., Sun, H., Lai, J., Malan, T.P., & Porreca, F. (2000).
   Supraspinal cholecystokinin may drive tonic descending facilitation mechanisms to maintain neuropathic pain in the rat. *Pain*, 87(3), 265-273.
- Kowacs, P.A., Piovesan, E.J., Werneck, L.C., Tatsui, C.E., Lange, M.C., Ribas, L.C., & da Silva, H.P. (2001). Influence of intense light stimulation on trigeminal and cervical pain perception thresholds. *Cephalalgia*, 21(3), 184-188.
- Kupila, L., Vuorinen, T., Vainionpaa, R., Hukkanen, V., Marttila, R.J., & Kotilainen, P.
   (2006). Etiology of aseptic meningitis and encephalitis in an adult population.
   *Neurology*, 66(1), 75-80.
- Lacroix-Fralish, M.L., Tawfik, V.L., Nutile-McMenemy, N., & DeLeo, J.A. (2006). Progesterone mediates gonadal hormone differences in tactile and thermal hypersensitivity following L5 nerve root ligation in female rats. *Neuroscience*, 138(2), 601-608.
- Langel, J.L., Smale, L., Esquiva, G., & Hannibal, J. (2015). Central melanopsin projections in the diurnal rodent, *Arvicanthis niloticus*. *Front Neuroanat,* 9, 93.
- Lautenbacher, S., Kunz, M., & Burkhardt, S. (2008). The effects of DNIC-type inhibition on temporal summation compared to single pulse processing: Does sex matter? *PAIN*, 140(3), 429-435.
- Lautenbacher, S., & Rollman, G.B. (1993). Sex differences in responsiveness to painful and non-painful stimuli are dependent upon the stimulation method. *Pain*, 53(3), 255-264.
- Lebensohn, J.E. (1951). Photophobia: mechanism and implications. *Am J Ophthalmol,* 34(9), 1294-1300.
- Lee, S.K. (2018). Sex as an important biological variable in biomedical research. *BMB reports*, 51(4), 167-173.

- LeResche, L. (2000). Epidemiological perspectives on sex differences in pain. In R.B. Fillingim, ed., Sex, Gender, and Pain, Seattle: IASP Press. pp. 223-249.
- Leshner, A.I., & Collier, G. (1973). The effects of gonadectomy on the sex differences in dietary self-selection patterns and carcass compositions of rats. *Physiol Behav*, 11(5), 671-676.
- Leung, C.G., & Mason, P. (1999). Physiological properties of raphe magnus neurons during sleep and waking. *J Neurophysiol*, 81(2), 584-595.
- Levine, F.M., & De Simone, L.L. (1991). The effects of experimenter gender on pain report in male and female subjects. *Pain*, 44(1), 69-72.
- Lewis, G.N., Rice, D.A., & McNair, P.J. (2012). Conditioned pain modulation in populations with chronic pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Pain*, 13(10), 936-944.
- Linnman, C., Beucke, J.C., Jensen, K.B., Gollub, R.L., & Kong, J. (2012). Sex similarities and differences in pain-related periaqueductal gray connectivity. *Pain*, 153(2), 444-454.
- Lipton, R.B., Stewart, W.F., Diamond, S., Diamond, M.L., & Reed, M. (2001a). Prevalence and burden of migraine in the United States: data from the American Migraine Study II. *Headache*, 41(7), 646-657.
- Lipton, R.B., Stewart, W.F., Diamond, S., Diamond, M.L., Reed, M.J.H.T.J.o.H., & Pain,F. (2001b). Prevalence and burden of migraine in the United States: data from the American Migraine Study II. 41(7), 646-657.
- Logan, S.A., & MacMahon, E. (2008). Viral meningitis. BMJ, 336(7634), 36-40.
- Lomas, L.M., Barrett, A.C., Terner, J.M., Lysle, D.T., & Picker, M.J. (2007). Sex differences in the potency of *K* opioids and mixed-action opioids administered systemically and at the site of inflammation against capsaicin-induced hyperalgesia in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 191(2), 273-285.

- Lomas, L.M., & Picker, M.J. (2005). Behavioral assessment of temporal summation in the rat: sensitivity to sex, opioids and modulation by NMDA receptor antagonists. 180(1), 84-94.
- Lovati, C., Giani, L., Castoldi, D., Mariotti D'Alessandro, C., DeAngeli, F., Capiluppi, E., D'Amico, D., & Mariani, C. (2015). Osmophobia in allodynic migraineurs: cause or consequence of central sensitization? *Neurol Sci*, 36 Suppl 1, 145-147.
- Lovati, C., Mariotti, C., Giani, L., D'Amico, D., Sinelli, A., De Angeli, F., Capiluppi, E., Bussone, G., & Mariani, C. (2013). Central sensitization in photophobic and nonphotophobic migraineurs: possible role of retino nuclear way in the central sensitization process. *Neurol Sci*, 34 Suppl 1, S133-135.
- Lovick, T.A., & Robinson, J.P. (1983). Bulbar raphe neurones with projections to the trigeminal nucleus caudalis and the lumbar cord in the rat: a fluorescence double-labelling study. *Exp Brain Res*, 50(2-3), 299-308.
- Loyd, D.R., Morgan, M.M., & Murphy, A.Z. (2007). Morphine preferentially activates the periaqueductal gray-rostral ventromedial medullary pathway in the male rat: A potential mechanism for sex differences in antinociception. *Neuroscience*, 147(2), 456-468.
- Loyd, D.R., & Murphy, A.Z. (2006). Sex differences in the anatomical and functional organization of the periaqueductal gray-rostral ventromedial medullary pathway in the rat: a potential circuit mediating the sexually dimorphic actions of morphine. *J Comp Neurol,* 496(5), 723-738.
- Loyd, D.R., & Murphy, A.Z. (2009). The role of the periaqueductal gray in the modulation of pain in males and females: are the anatomy and physiology really that different? *Neural Plast,* 2009, 462879.

- Loyd, D.R., Wang, X., & Murphy, A.Z. (2008). Sex differences in micro-opioid receptor expression in the rat midbrain periaqueductal gray are essential for eliciting sex differences in morphine analgesia. *J Neurosci,* 28(52), 14007-14017.
- Magone, M.T., Kwon, E., & Shin, S.Y. (2014). Chronic visual dysfunction after blastinduced mild traumatic brain injury. *J Rehabil Res Dev*, 51(1), 71-80.
- Main, A., Dowson, A., & Gross, M. (1997). Photophobia and phonophobia in migraineurs between attacks. *Headache*, 37(8), 492-495.
- Main, A., Vlachonikolis, I., & Dowson, A. (2000). The wavelength of light causing photophobia in migraine and tension-type headache between attacks. *Headache,* 40(3), 194-199.
- Mantyh, P.W. (1982a). The ascending input to the midbrain periaqueductal gray of the primate. *J Comp Neurol*, 211, 50-64.
- Mantyh, P.W. (1982b). Forebrain projections to the periaqueductal gray in the monkey, with observations in the cat and rat. *J Comp Neurol*, 206, 146-158.
- Martenson, M.E., Cetas, J.S., & Heinricher, M.M. (2009). A possible neural basis for stress-induced hyperalgesia. *Pain*, 142(3), 236-244.
- Martenson, M.E., Halawa, O.I., Tonsfeldt, K.J., Maxwell, C.A., Hammack, N., Mist, S.D.,
  Pennesi, M.E., Bennett, R.M., Mauer, K.M., Jones, K.D., & Heinricher, M.M.
  (2016). A possible neural mechanism for photosensitivity in chronic pain. *Pain*, 157, 868-878.
- Mason, P. (1997). Physiological identification of pontomedullary serotonergic neurons in the rat. *J Neurophysiol*, 77, 1087-1098.
- Mattos Feijó, L., Tarman, G.Z., Fontaine, C., Harrison, R., Johnstone, T., & Salomons, T.
  (2018). Sex-specific effects of gender identification on pain study recruitment. *The Journal of Pain*, 19(2), 178-185.

- Matynia, A., Nguyen, E., Sun, X., Blixt, F.W., Parikh, S., Kessler, J., Pérez de Sevilla Müller, L., Habib, S., Kim, P., Wang, Z.Z., Rodriguez, A., Charles, A., Nusinowitz, S., Edvinsson, L., Barnes, S., Brecha, N.C., & Gorin, M.B. (2016). Peripheral sensory neurons expressing melanopsin respond to light. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits,* 10(60).
- Mayer, D.J., Wolfle, T.L., Akil, H., Carder, B., & Liebeskind, J.C. (1971). Analgesia from electrical stimulation in the brainstem of the rat. *Science*, 174(16), 1351-1354.
- Mayer, E.A., Berman, S., Chang, L., & Naliboff, B.D. (2004). Sex-based differences in gastrointestinal pain. *Eur J Pain*, 8(5), 451-463.
- McGaraughty, S., & Heinricher, M.M. (2002). Microinjection of morphine into various amygdaloid nuclei differentially affects nociceptive responsiveness and RVM neuronal activity. *Pain*, 96(1-2), 153-162.
- McGaraughty, S., Reinis, S., & Tsoukatos, J. (1993a). Investigating the role of anaesthetics on the rostral ventromedial medulla: implications for a GABAergic link between ON and OFF cells. *Neurosci Lett*, 149, 119-122.
- McGaraughty, S., Reinis, S., & Tsoukatos, J. (1993b). Two distinct unit activity responses to morphine in the rostral ventromedial medulla of awake rats. *Brain Res*, 604, 331-333.
- McMullan, S., Simpson, D.A.A., & Lumb, B.M. (2004). A reliable method for the preferential activation of C- or A-fibre heat nociceptors. *J Neurosci Methods*, 138(1-2), 133-139.
- Meints, S.M., Stout, M., Abplanalp, S., & Hirsh, A.T. (2017). Pain-related rumination, but not magnification or helplessness, mediates race and sex differences in experimental pain. *J Pain*, 18(3), 332-339.

- Merkel, G., & Eger, E.I. (1963). A comparative study of halothane and halopropane anesthesia including method for determining equipotency. *Anesthesiology*, 24(3), 346-357.
- Meulders, A., Vansteenwegen, D., & Vlaeyen, J.W. (2012). Women, but not men, report increasingly more pain during repeated (un)predictable painful electrocutaneous stimulation: Evidence for mediation by fear of pain. *Pain*, 153(5), 1030-1041.
- Miki, K., Zhou, Q.Q., Guo, W., Guan, Y., Terayama, R., Dubner, R., & Ren, K. (2002).
  Changes in gene expression and neuronal phenotype in brain stem pain modulatory circuitry after inflammation. *J Neurophysiol*, 87(2), 750-760.
- Miller, P.L., & Ernst, A.A. (2004). Sex differences in analgesia: a randomized trial of mu versus kappa opioid agonists. *South Med J*, 97(1), 35-41.
- Mogil, J.S. (2012). Sex differences in pain and pain inhibition: multiple explanations of a controversial phenomenon. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 13(12), 859-866.
- Mogil, J.S. (2016). Perspective: Equality need not be painful. Nature, 535, S7.
- Mogil, J.S. (2017). Laboratory environmental factors and pain behavior: the relevance of unknown unknowns to reproducibility and translation. *Lab Anim (NY)*, 46(4), 136-141.
- Mogil, J.S. (2018). Sex-based divergence of mechanisms underlying pain and pain inhibition. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 23, 113-117.
- Mogil, J.S., & Bailey, A.L. (2010). Sex and gender differences in pain and analgesia. *Prog Brain Res*, 186, 141-157.
- Mogil, J.S., & Chanda, M.L. (2005). The case for the inclusion of female subjects in basic science studies of pain. *Pain*, 117(1-2), 1-5.
- Mogil, J.S., Chesler, E.J., Wilson, S.G., Juraska, J.M., & Sternberg, W.F. (2000). Sex differences in thermal nociception and morphine antinociception in rodents depend on genotype. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 24(3), 375-389.

- Montagne-Clavel, J., & Oliveras, J.L. (1994). Are ventromedial medulla neuronal properties modified by chronic peripheral inflammation? A single-unit study in the awake, freely moving polyarthritic rat. *Brain Res*, 657, 92-104.
- Morgan, M.M., & Heinricher, M.M. (1992). Activity of neurons in the rostral medulla of the halothane-anesthetized rat during withdrawal from noxious heat. *Brain Res*, 582, 154-158.
- Morimoto, Y., Matsumoto, A., Koizumi, Y., Ishida, K., Tamura, T., & Sakabe, T. (2003). Effect of body fat percentage on estimated propofol concentrations at awakening from anesthesia using target controlled infusion. *Masui*, 52(9), 967-971.
- Morin, L.P., Blanchard, J.H., & Provencio, I. (2003). Retinal ganglion cell projections to the hamster suprachiasmatic nucleus, intergeniculate leaflet, and visual midbrain: bifurcation and melanopsin immunoreactivity. *J Comp Neurol*, 465(3), 401-416.
- Nahman-Averbuch, H., Dayan, L., Sprecher, E., Hochberg, U., Brill, S., Yarnitsky, D., & Jacob, G. (2016). Sex differences in the relationships between parasympathetic activity and pain modulation. *Physiol Behav*, 154, 40-48.
- Nath, U., Ben-Shlomo, Y., Thomson, R.G., Lees, A.J., & Burn, D.J. (2003). Clinical features and natural history of progressive supranuclear palsy: a clinical cohort study. *Neurol*, 60(6), 910-916.
- Neubert, M.J., Kincaid, W., & Heinricher, M.M. (2004). Nociceptive facilitating neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Pain*, 110, 158-165.
- Nie, H., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Andersen, H., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2005). Temporal summation of pain evoked by mechanical stimulation in deep and superficial tissue. J Pain, 6(6), 348-355.
- Noseda, R., Bernstein, C.A., Nir, R.R., Lee, A.J., Fulton, A.B., Bertisch, S.M., Hovaguimian, A., Cestari, D.M., Saavedra-Walker, R., Borsook, D., Doran, B.L.,

Buettner, C., & Burstein, R. (2016). Migraine photophobia originating in conedriven retinal pathways. *Brain*, 139(Pt 7), 1971-1986.

- Noseda, R., & Burstein, R. (2011). Advances in understanding the mechanisms of migraine-type photophobia. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 24(3), 197-202.
- Noseda, R., Copenhagen, D., & Burstein, R. (2018). Current understanding of photophobia, visual networks and headaches. *Cephalalgia*, 333102418784750.
- Noseda, R., Kainz, V., Jakubowski, M., Gooley, J.J., Saper, C.B., Digre, K., & Burstein, R. (2010). A neural mechanism for exacerbation of headache by light. *Nat Neurosci,* 13(2), 239-245.
- Noseda, R., Lee, A.J., Nir, R.R., Bernstein, C.A., Kainz, V.M., Bertisch, S.M., Buettner,
  C., Borsook, D., & Burstein, R. (2017). Neural mechanism for hypothalamicmediated autonomic responses to light during migraine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 114(28), E5683-E5692.
- Ohrbach, R., Bair, E., Fillingim, R.B., Gonzalez, Y., Gordon, S.M., Lim, P.F., Ribeiro-Dasilva, M., Diatchenko, L., Dubner, R., Greenspan, J.D., Knott, C., Maixner, W., Smith, S.B., & Slade, G.D. (2013). Clinical orofacial characteristics associated with risk of first-onset TMD: the OPPERA prospective cohort study. *J Pain*, 14(12 Suppl), T33-50.
- Ohrbach, R., Fillingim, R.B., Mulkey, F., Gonzalez, Y., Gordon, S., Gremillion, H., Lim,
  P.F., Ribeiro-Dasilva, M., Greenspan, J.D., Knott, C., Maixner, W., & Slade, G.
  (2011). Clinical findings and pain symptoms as potential risk factors for chronic
  TMD: descriptive data and empirically identified domains from the OPPERA
  case-control study. *J Pain*, 12(11 Suppl), T27-45.
- Okamoto, K., Tashiro, A., Chang, Z., & Bereiter, D.A. (2010). Bright light activates a trigeminal nociceptive pathway. *Pain*, 149(2), 235-242.

- Okamoto, K., Thompson, R., Tashiro, A., Chang, Z., & Bereiter, D.A. (2009). Bright light produces Fos-positive neurons in caudal trigeminal brainstem. *Neuroscience*, 160(4), 858-864.
- Okeson, J.P., & de Leeuw, R. (2011). Differential diagnosis of temporomandibular disorders and other orofacial pain disorders. *Dent Clin North Am*, 55(1), 105-120.
- Okun, A., DeFelice, M., Eyde, N., Ren, J., Mercado, R., King, T., & Porreca, F. (2011). Transient inflammation-induced ongoing pain is driven by TRPV1 sensitive afferents. *Mol Pain*, 7, 4.
- Ostrom, C., Bair, E., Maixner, W., Dubner, R., Fillingim, R.B., Ohrbach, R., Slade, G.D., & Greenspan, J.D. (2017). Demographic predictors of pain sensitivity: results from the OPPERA study. *J Pain*, 18(3), 295-307.
- Pajot, J., Ressot, C., Ngom, I., & Woda, A. (2003). Gonadectomy induces site-specific differences in nociception in rats. *Pain,* 104(1-2), 367-373.
- Paxinos, G., & Watson, C. (2009). *The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates, Compact* 6th Ed. Amsterdam: Academic Press.
- Pinto-Ribeiro, F., Ansah, O.B., Almeida, A., & Pertovaara, A. (2008). Influence of arthritis on descending modulation of nociception from the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Brain Res*, 1197, 63-75.
- Pinto, M., Lima, D., & Tavares, I. (2007). Neuronal activation at the spinal cord and medullary pain control centers after joint stimulation: a *c-fos* study in acute and chronic articular inflammation. *Neuroscience*, 147(4), 1076-1089.
- Popescu, A., LeResche, L., Truelove, E.L., & Drangsholt, M.T. (2010). Gender differences in pain modulation by diffuse noxious inhibitory controls: a systematic review. *Pain*, 150(2), 309-318.
- Porreca, F., Burgess, S.E., Gardell, L.R., Vanderah, T.W., Malan, T.P., Jr., Ossipov, M.H., Lappi, D.A., & Lai, J. (2001). Inhibition of neuropathic pain by selective

ablation of brainstem medullary cells expressing the  $\mu$ -opioid receptor. *J Neurosci*, 21(14), 5281-5288.

- Porreca, F., Ossipov, M.H., & Gebhart, G.F. (2002). Chronic pain and medullary descending facilitation. *Trends Neurosci,* 25(6), 319-325.
- Potrebic, S.B., Fields, H.L., & Mason, P. (1994). Serotonin immunoreactivity is contained in one physiological cell class in the rat rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurosci*, 14, 1655-1665.
- Potvin, S., & Marchand, S. (2016). Pain facilitation and pain inhibition during conditioned pain modulation in fibromyalgia and in healthy controls. *Pain,* 157(8), 1704-1710.
- Prendergast, B.J., Onishi, K.G., & Zucker, I. (2014). Female mice liberated for inclusion in neuroscience and biomedical research. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 40, 1-5.
- Price, D.D., Hu, J.W., Dubner, R., & Gracely, R.H. (1977). Peripheral suppression of first pain and central summation of second pain evoked by noxious heat pulses. *Pain,* 3, 57-68.
- Prokofyeva, E., Troeger, E., Wilke, R., & Zrenner, E. (2011). Early visual symptom patterns in inherited retinal dystrophies. *Ophthalmologica*, 226(3), 151-156.
- Racine, M., Tousignant-Laflamme, Y., Kloda, L.A., Dion, D., Dupuis, G., & Choiniere, M. (2012a). A systematic literature review of 10 years of research on sex/gender and experimental pain perception part 1: are there really differences between women and men? *Pain*, 153(3), 602-618.
- Racine, M., Tousignant-Laflamme, Y., Kloda, L.A., Dion, D., Dupuis, G., & Choiniere, M. (2012b). A systematic literature review of 10 years of research on sex/gender and pain perception part 2: do biopsychosocial factors alter pain sensitivity differently in women and men? *Pain*, 153(3), 619-635.
- Ramirez, F., & Vanegas, H. (1989). Tooth pulp stimulation advances both medullary offcell pause and tail flick. *Neurosci Lett*, 100, 153-156.

- Ren, K. (1999). An improved method for assessing mechanical allodynia in the rat. *Physiol Behav*, 67(5), 711-716.
- Ren, K., & Dubner, R. (1996). Enhanced descending modulation of nociception in rats with persistent hindpaw inflammation. *J Neurophysiol*, 76(5), 3025-3037.
- Ren, K., & Dubner, R. (1999). Inflammatory models of pain and hyperalgesia. *Ilar J*, 40(3), 111-118.
- Ren, K., & Dubner, R. (2002). Descending modulation in persistent pain: an update. *Pain,* 100(1-2), 1-6.
- Ren, K., Hylden, J.L., Williams, G.M., Ruda, M.A., & Dubner, R. (1992). The effects of a non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist, MK-801, on behavioral hyperalgesia and dorsal horn neuronal activity in rats with unilateral inflammation. *Pain*, 50(3), 331-344.
- Riley, J.L., 3rd, Robinson, M.E., Wise, E.A., Myers, C.D., & Fillingim, R.B. (1998). Sex differences in the perception of noxious experimental stimuli: a meta-analysis. *Pain*, 74(2-3), 181-187.
- Rizvi, T.A., Ennis, M., Behbehani, M.M., & Shipley, M.T. (1991). Connections between the central nucleus of the amygdala and the midbrain periaqueductal gray: topography and reciprocity. *J Comp Neurol*, 303, 121-131.
- Robinson, M.E., Gagnon, C.M., Dannecker, E.A., Brown, J.L., Jump, R.L., & Price, D.D.
  (2003). Sex differences in common pain events: expectations and anchors. J *Pain*, 4(1), 40-45.
- Robinson, M.E., Riley, J.L., 3rd, Myers, C.D., Papas, R.K., Wise, E.A., Waxenberg, L.B.,
  & Fillingim, R.B. (2001). Gender role expectations of pain: relationship to sex
  differences in pain. *J Pain*, 2(5), 251-257.

- Robinson, M.E., Wise, E.A., Gagnon, C., Fillingim, R.B., & Price, D.D. (2004). Influences of gender role and anxiety on sex differences in temporal summation of pain. J Pain, 5(2), 77-82.
- Roeder, Z., Chen, Q., Davis, S., Carlson, J.D., Tupone, D., & Heinricher, M.M. (2016). The parabrachial complex links pain transmission to descending pain modulation. *Pain*, 157, 2697-2708.
- Rojas-Piloni, G., Duran, I., & Cueva-Rolon, R. (1998). The activity of ON and OFF cells at the rostroventromedial medulla is modulated by vagino-cervical stimulation. *Pain*, 74(1), 29-34.
- Ruda, M.A., Allen, B., & Gobel, S. (1981). Ultrastructural analysis of medial brain stem afferents to the superficial dorsal horn. *Brain Res*, 205(1), 175-180.
- Sandkühler, J., & Gebhart, G.F. (1984). Relative contributions of the nucleus raphe magnus and adjacent medullary reticular formation to the inhibition by stimulation in the periaqueductal gray of a spinal nociceptive reflex in the pentobarbitalanesthetized rat. *Brain Res*, 305, 77-87.
- Sarlani, E., Grace, E.G., Reynolds, M.A., & Greenspan, J.D. (2004). Sex differences in temporal summation of pain and aftersensations following repetitive noxious mechanical stimulation. *Pain*, 109(1-2), 115-123.
- Sarlani, E., & Greenspan, J.D. (2002). Gender differences in temporal summation of mechanically evoked pain. *Pain*, 97(1-2), 163-169.

Sarlani, E., & Greenspan, J.D. (2005). Why look in the brain for answers to temporomandibular disorder pain? *Cells Tissues Organs,* 180(1), 69-75.

Schepers, R.J., Mahoney, J.L., & Shippenberg, T.S. (2008). Inflammation-induced changes in rostral ventromedial medulla mu and kappa opioid receptor mediated antinociception. *Pain*, 136(3), 320-330.
- Seidel, S., Beisteiner, R., Manecke, M., Aslan, T.S., & Wober, C. (2017). Psychiatric comorbidities and photophobia in patients with migraine. *J Headache Pain*, 18(1), 18.
- Semo, M., Gias, C., Ahmado, A., Sugano, E., Allen, A.E., Lawrence, J.M., Tomita, H., Coffey, P.J., & Vugler, A.A. (2010). Dissecting a role for melanopsin in behavioural light aversion reveals a response independent of conventional photoreception. *PLoS ONE*, 5(11), e15009.
- Severeijns, R., Vlaeyen, J.W., van den Hout, M.A., & Weber, W.E. (2001). Pain catastrophizing predicts pain intensity, disability, and psychological distress independent of the level of physical impairment. *Clin J Pain*, 17(2), 165-172.
- Shafer, S.L., & Stanski, D.R. (2008). Defining Depth of Anesthesia. In Schüttler, J. &
  Schwilden, H. eds., *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, vol 182(pp. 409-423). Berlin: Springer.
- Shimizu, K., Guo, W., Wang, H., Zou, S., LaGraize, S.C., Iwata, K., Wei, F., Dubner, R.,
  & Ren, K. (2009). Differential involvement of trigeminal transition zone and
  laminated subnucleus caudalis in orofacial deep and cutaneous hyperalgesia: the
  effects of interleukin-10 and glial inhibitors. *Mol Pain*, 5, 75.
- Simunovic, M.P., & Moore, A.T. (1998). The cone dystrophies. *Eye (Lond),* 12 ( Pt 3b), 553-565.
- Skagerberg, G., & Björklund, A. (1985). Topographic principles in the spinal projections of serotonergic and non-serotonergic brainstem neurons in the rat. *Neuroscience*, 15, 445-480.
- Slade, G.D., Bair, E., By, K., Mulkey, F., Baraian, C., Rothwell, R., Reynolds, M., Miller,
  V., Gonzalez, Y., Gordon, S., Ribeiro-Dasilva, M., Lim, P.F., Greenspan, J.D.,
  Dubner, R., Fillingim, R.B., Diatchenko, L., Maixner, W., Dampier, D., Knott, C., &
  Ohrbach, R. (2011). Study methods, recruitment, sociodemographic findings, and

demographic representativeness in the OPPERA study. *J Pain*, 12(11 Suppl), T12-26.

- Slade, G.D., Fillingim, R.B., Sanders, A.E., Bair, E., Greenspan, J.D., Ohrbach, R.,
  Dubner, R., Diatchenko, L., Smith, S.B., Knott, C., & Maixner, W. (2013a).
  Summary of findings from the OPPERA prospective cohort study of incidence of first-onset temporomandibular disorder: implications and future directions. *J Pain*, 14(12 Suppl), T116-124.
- Slade, G.D., Sanders, A.E., Bair, E., Brownstein, N., Dampier, D., Knott, C., Fillingim, R.,
  Maixner, W.O., Smith, S., Greenspan, J., Dubner, R., & Ohrbach, R. (2013b).
  Preclinical episodes of orofacial pain symptoms and their association with health
  care behaviors in the OPPERA prospective cohort study. *Pain*, 154(5), 750-760.
- Smith, D.J., Hawranko, A.A., Monroe, P.J., Gully, D., Urban, M.O., Craig, C.R., Smith, J.P., & Smith, D.L. (1997). Dose-dependent pain-facilitatory and -inhibitory actions of neurotensin are revealed by SR 48692, a nonpeptide neurotensin antagonist: influence on the antinociceptive effect of morphine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 282(2), 899-908.
- Staud, R., Robinson, M.E., Vierck, C.J., Jr., & Price, D.D. (2003). Diffuse noxious inhibitory controls (DNIC) attenuate temporal summation of second pain in normal males but not in normal females or fibromyalgia patients. *Pain*, 101(1-2), 167-174.
- Stein, C., Millan, M.J., & Herz, A. (1988). Unilateral inflammation of the hindpaw in rats as a model of prolonged noxious stimulation: alterations in behavior and nociceptive thresholds. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 31(2), 445-451.
- Stoffel, E.C., Ulibarri, C.M., & Craft, R.M. (2003). Gonadal steroid hormone modulation of nociception, morphine antinociception and reproductive indices in male and female rats. *Pain*, 103(3), 285-302.

- Sugiyo, S., Takemura, M., Dubner, R., & Ren, K. (2005). Trigeminal transition zone/rostral ventromedial medulla connections and facilitation of orofacial hyperalgesia after masseter inflammation in rats. *J Comp Neurol*, 493(4), 510-523.
- Sullivan, M.J.L., Tripp, D.A., Santor, D. (2000). Gender Differences in Pain and Pain Behavior: The Role of Catastrophizing. *Cognative Therapy and Behavior*, 24(1), 121-134.
- Tall, J.M., & Crisp, T. (2004). Effects of gender and gonadal hormones on nociceptive responses to intraplantar carrageenan in the rat. *Neurosci Lett*, 354(3), 239-241.
- Tall, J.M., Stuesse, S.L., Cruce, W.L., & Crisp, T. (2001). Gender and the behavioral manifestations of neuropathic pain. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 68(1), 99-104.
- Terayama, R., Guan, Y., Dubner, R., & Ren, K. (2000). Activity-induced plasticity in brain stem pain modulatory circuitry after inflammation. *Neuroreport,* 11(9), 1915-1919.
- Terner, J.M., Lomas, L.M., & Picker, M.J. (2005). Influence of estrous cycle and gonadal hormone depletion on nociception and opioid antinociception in female rats of four strains. *J Pain*, 6(6), 372-383.
- Tershner, S.A., Mitchell, J.M., & Fields, H.L. (2000). Brainstem pain modulating circuitry is sexually dimorphic with respect to mu and kappa opioid receptor function. *Pain*, 85(1-2), 153-159.
- Tonsfeldt, K.J., Suchland, K.L., Beeson, K.A., Lowe, J.D., Li, M.H., & Ingram, S.L. (2016). Sex differences in GABA<sub>A</sub> signaling in the periaqueductal gray induced by persistent inflammation. *J Neurosci*, 36(5), 1669-1681.
- Traub, R.J., & Ji, Y. (2013). Sex differences and hormonal modulation of deep tissue pain. *Front Neuroendocrinol,* 34(4), 350-366.

- Truong, J.Q., Ciuffreda, K.J., Han, M.H., & Suchoff, I.B. (2014). Photosensitivity in mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI): a retrospective analysis. *Brain Inj*, 28(10), 1283-1287.
- Unruh, A.M.J.P. (1996). Gender variations in clinical pain experience. 65(2-3), 123-167.
- Vanagaite, J., Pareja, J.A., Storen, O., White, L.R., Sand, T., & Stovner, L.J. (1997). Light-induced discomfort and pain in migraine. *Cephalalgia*, 17(7), 733-741.
- Vincent, A.J., Spierings, E.L., & Messinger, H.B. (1989). A controlled study of visual symptoms and eye strain factors in chronic headache. *Headache*, 29(8), 523-527.
- Vingen, J.V., Pareja, J.A., & Stovner, L.J. (1998). Quantitative evaluation of photophobia and phonophobia in cluster headache. *Cephalalgia*, 18(5), 250-256.
- von Dincklage, F., Hackbarth, M., Mager, R., Rehberg, B., & Baars, J.H. (2010). Monitoring of the responsiveness to noxious stimuli during anaesthesia with propofol and remifentanil by using RIII reflex threshold and bispectral index. *BJA: British Journal of Anaesthesia,* 104(2), 201-208.
- Wagner, K.M., Roeder, Z., Desrochers, K., Buhler, A.V., Heinricher, M.M., & Cleary,
  D.R. (2013). The dorsomedial hypothalamus mediates stress-induced
  hyperalgesia and is the source of the pronociceptive peptide cholecystokinin in
  the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Neuroscience*, 238, 29-38.
- Wang, C.C., Willis, W.D., & Westlund, K.N. (1999). Ascending projections from the area around the spinal cord central canal: A Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin study in rats. *J Comp Neurol*, 415(3), 341-367.
- Wang, X., Traub, R.J., & Murphy, A.Z. (2006). Persistent pain model reveals sex
   difference in morphine potency. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 291(2),
   R300-306.

- Waters, A.J., & Lumb, B.M. (1997). Inhibitory effects evoked from both the lateral and ventrolateral periaqueductal grey are selective for the nociceptive responses of rat dorsal horn neurones. *Brain Res*, 752(1-2), 239-249.
- Wei, F., Dubner, R., & Ren, K. (1999). Nucleus reticularis gigantocellularis and nucleus raphe magnus in the brain stem exert opposite effects on behavioral hyperalgesia and spinal Fos protein expression after peripheral inflammation. *Pain*, 80(1-2), 127-141.
- Weissman-Fogel, I., Sprecher, E., & Pud, D. (2008). Effects of catastrophizing on pain perception and pain modulation. *Exp Brain Res*, 186(1), 79-85.
- Wilbarger, J.L., & Cook, D.B. (2011). Multisensory hypersensitivity in women with fibromyalgia: Implications for well being and intervention. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 92(4), 653-656.
- Wilder, R.L., Calandra, G.B., Garvin, A.J., Wright, K.D., & Hansen, C.T. (1982). Strain and sex variation in the susceptibility to streptococcal cell wall-induced polyarthritis in the rat. *Arthritis Rheum*, 25(9), 1064-1072.
- Will, T.R., Proano, S.B., Thomas, A.M., Kunz, L.M., Thompson, K.C., Ginnari, L.A., Jones, C.H., Lucas, S.C., Reavis, E.M., Dorris, D.M., & Meitzen, J. (2017).
  Problems and progress regarding sex bias and omission in neuroscience research. *eNeuro*, 4(6).
- Winkler, C.W., Hermes, S.M., Chavkin, C.I., Drake, C.T., Morrison, S.F., & Aicher, S.A.
  (2006). Kappa opioid receptor (KOR) and GAD67 immunoreactivity are found in
  OFF and NEUTRAL cells in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurophysiol*, 96(6), 3465-3473.
- Wise, E.A., Price, D.D., Myers, C.D., Heft, M.W., & Robinson, M.E. (2002). Gender role expectations of pain: relationship to experimental pain perception. *Pain*, 96(3), 335-342.

- Woodhouse, A., & Drummond, P.D. (1993). Mechanisms of increased sensitivity to noise and light in migraine headache. *Cephalalgia*, 13(6), 417-421.
- Wu, Y., & Hallett, M. (2017). Photophobia in neurologic disorders. *Transl Neurodegener*, 6, 26.
- Xu, M., Kim, C.J., Neubert, M.J., & Heinricher, M.M. (2007). NMDA receptor-mediated activation of medullary pro-nociceptive neurons is required for secondary thermal hyperalgesia. *Pain*, 127(3), 253-262.
- Yeomans, D.C., Pirec, V., & Proudfit, H.K. (1996). Nociceptive responses to high and low rates of noxious cutaneous heating are mediated by different nociceptors in the rat: behavioral evidence. *Pain*, 68(1), 133-140.
- You, H.J., Cao, D.Y., Yuan, B., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2006). Sex differences in the responses of spinal wide-dynamic range neurons to subcutaneous formalin and in the effects of different frequencies of conditioning electrical stimulation. *Neuroscience*, 138(4), 1299-1307.
- Zanchin, G., Dainese, F., Trucco, M., Mainardi, F., Mampreso, E., & Maggioni, F. (2007). Osmophobia in migraine and tension-type headache and its clinical features in patients with migraine. *Cephalalgia*, 27(9), 1061-1068.
- Zervas, J.P., & Smith, J.L. (1987). Neuro-ophthalmic presentation of cone dysfunction syndromes in the adult. *J Clin Neuroophthalmol,* 7(4), 202-218.
- Zhuo, M., & Gebhart, G.F. (1992). Characterization of descending facilitation and inhibition of spinal nociceptive transmission from the nuclei reticularis gigantocellularis and gigantocellularis pars alpha in the rat. *J Neurophysiol*, 67, 1599-1614.
- Zorman, G., Hentall, I.D., Adams, J.E., & Fields, H.L. (1981). Naloxone-reversible analgesia produced by microstimulation in the rat medulla. *Brain Res*, 219, 137-148.

## **APPENDIX A**

SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES



Figure 19 ON-cell activity across different phases of the estrous cycle

There is no significant difference in ON-cell activity between diestrus, estrus, and proestrus based on ongoing activity (A) (Kruskal-Wallis test, H=0.96, p=0.62), heat-related activity (B) (as defined by the total number of action potentials in the heat-evoked "burst", Kruskal-Wallis test, H=2.43, p=0.30), or light-related activity (C) (as defined by the total number of action potentials in the light-evoked "burst", Kruskal-Wallis test, H=0.46, p=0.79). Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=7-22 cells/group.



Figure 20 OFF-cell activity across different phases of the estrous cycle

There is no significant difference in OFF-cell activity between diestrus, estrus, and proestrus based on ongoing activity (A) (Kruskal-Wallis test, H=0.31, p=0.86), heat-evoked suppression (B) (as defined by percent firing rate during paw withdrawal relative to the firing rate prior to heat onset, Kruskal-Wallis test, H=1.40, p=0.50), or light-evoked suppression (C) (as defined by percent firing rate during light exposure relative to the firing rate prior to light onset, Kruskal-Wallis test, H=0.53, p=0.77). Data are displayed as geometric mean +/- 95% CI, n=8-21 cells/group.